
Agenda 
Aurora City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, December 12, 2023 at 7pm. 
City of Aurora Council Chambers 

21420 Main Street NE, Aurora, OR 97002 

To participate via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86149345450?pwd=cWlaTkpqMHNqY280cnU3L2hIeVFRdz09 
Meeting ID: 861 4934 5450 
Passcode: 479660 

1. CALL TO ORDER OF THE AURORA CITY COUNCIL MEETING

2. ROLL CALL
Mayor Brian Asher Councilor John Berard 
Councilor Mercedes Rhoden-Feely Councilor Charles Roper 
Councilor Wendy Veliz

3. AFFIRMATIONS [2 min.]

4. CONSENT AGENDA [1-2 min.]
a) City Council Minutes—November 14, 2023
b) Planning Commission Minutes—November 7, 2023
c) Parks Committee Minutes—No minutes for last month
d) Historic Review Board Minutes—October 24, 2023

5. VISITOR
Anyone wishing to address the Aurora City Council concerning items not already on the
meeting agenda may do so in this section. No decision or action will be made, but the
Aurora City Council could look into the matter and provide some response in the future.

6. CORRESPONDENCE [5-10 min.]
a) Land Conservation and Development Commission Initiates Rulemaking for Areas of

Cultural Significance: Seeks Volunteers to Serve on Rules Advisory Committee
b) Hubbard Staff Memo to Council on Metro MPA Boundary Expansion
c) Recreational Immunity Documents
d) 2023 PSU Population Estimate

7. NEW BUSINESS [10-15 min.]
a) Public Safety Report
b) Airport Land Use Update

8. OLD BUSINESS [5-10 min.]
a) Aurora Traffic and Traffic Speed
b) Aurora 2023 Communcations Survey Report
c) Economic Opportunities Analysis: Buildable Lands Inventory Information
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9. HEARING-NA

10. ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS, AND PROCLAMATIONS [3-5 min.]
a) Resolution 848, A Resolution for the Expected Expenditure/Purchase of a New Hurco

VAC300D Trailer - Diesel
b) Resolution 849, A Resolution for the Recognition of the North Marion High School

Girl’s Soccer Team as 2023 Championship Winners
c) Resolution 850, A Resolution Accepting Updated 2023 Wastewater Facilities

Planning Study (WWFPS)

11. EXECUTIVE SESSION
ORS 192.660(2)(e): To conduct deliberations with persons you have designated to
negotiate real property transactions; and ORS 192.660(2)(f) To consider information or
records that are exempt by law from public inspection

ORS 192.660(2)(h): To consult with counsel concerning the legal rights and duties of a
public body with regard to current litigation or litigation likely to be filed

12. REPORTS [10 – 15 min.]
a) Finance Officer
b) Public Works
c) City Attorney
d) City Recorder
e) Traffic Safety Liaison
f) Airport
g) Planning
h) Community Outreach
i) Community Preparedness
j) Parks Committee
k) Mayors Report

13. ADJOURN
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Consent  
Agenda 
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Minutes 
Aurora City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, November 14, 2023, 7pm 
City Council Chambers, Aurora City Hall 
21420 Main Street NE, Aurora, OR 97002 

STAFF PRESENT: Mark Gunter, Public Works Superintendent; Deputy Pete Walker; David 
James Robinson, City Attorney; Stuart A. Rodgers, City Recorder 
STAFF ABSENT: Mary Lambert, Finance Officer 
VISITORS PRESENT: Bill Graupp, Jan Peel, Joseph Schaefer, Julie Sixkiller, Richard 
Goddard, Aurora; Lani Radtke, Marion County Engineer; Bill Rhoades, Superintendent North 
Marion School District 

1. CALL TO ORDER OF THE AURORA CITY COUNCIL MEETING
Mayor Brian Asher called the meeting to order at 7:03pm.

2. ROLL CALL
Mayor Brian Asher-Present
Councilor Mercedes Rhoden-Feely-Present
Councilor John Berard-Present
Councilor Charles Roper-Present
Councilor Wendy Veliz-Present (Zoom)

3. AFFIRMATIONS
Mayor Asher noted that the Halloween decorating contest went well with some nice
entries for the contest. Asher said no one got hurt, and no problems this year’s holiday.

4. CONSENT AGENDA
a) City Council Minutes—October 10, 2023
b) Planning Commission Minutes—October 3, 2023
c) Parks Committee Minutes—No minutes for last month
d) Historic Review Board Minutes—September 26, 2023

Mayor Wendy Veliz moved to pass the Consent agenda. The motion was seconded by 
Councilor Charles Roper and carried. 

5. VISITORS-No visitor comment.

6. CORRESPONDENCE
a) Bleicherode, Germany Sister City Update
It was noted that the city received a video introduction from city leaders in Bleicherode as
well as a translation of the introduction.
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b) Notice Re Starz Networks via Astound TV Services 
It was noted that Ronan Feely managed to contact Astound via Facebook Messenger and 
secured improved internet speed due to replacement of a router, which required 
scheduling a technician to identify the issue. It was also noted there is a $75 fee for 
technician services unless this service is built into the contract.  

 
c) Thursday 11/16 ODOT Open House I-5 Boone Bridge & Bike Pedestrian Facility 

Replacement Project in Wilsonville 
It was noted there is some preliminary money to do a study for a new bridge.  
 
d) Follow-up to Oct. 25 Willamette Valley Commuter Rail Convening 
Councilor Charles Roper attended this meeting and noted the need for project funding. 
Mayor Asher will contact the Woodburn Mayor to get on the list of interested parties. 
  
e) Proposed Metro Metropolitan Area (MPA) Boundary Expansion 
See below line item for Council and Marion County conversation. 
 
f) DEQ 1200-C Termination Notice to TLM Oct 2023 - No comment.  
 
g) State Aviation Board Mtg October 5, 2023 – Agenda, Wilsonville Commentary - No 

comment. 
 

h) Aurora Master Plan Project Survey #1 Summary - No comment. 
 
i) Overflight Database - Additional Information - No comment. 
 
j) Marion County Housing Rehabilitation Loan Information  
Mayor Asher said if there is anyone low income, there are low interest, forgivable terms 
with this type of loan. 

 
7. NEW BUSINESS 

a) Public Safety Report 
Deputy Walker noted the deployment of a radar reader board, November 2 through 
November 8 and November 8 through November 14 with data included in the packet for 
the first set of dates and the latter set with materials printed for this meeting. Nearly 
20,000 vehicles registered speeds on the first set of readings. A lot of the low reads were 
taken from vehicles turning left from Airport Rd onto Ehlen Rd at low speed. The high 
speed was 74 mph. The latter dates were speed readings north on the 99e with nearly 
19,000 vehicles, with the low speed reads from vehicles entering the highway from 
Orchard facing Hubbard direction. The radar was picking up speeds from the 55-mph 
zone. The high speed there was 87 mph. Walker’s best guess was that the high speeds 
were from vehicles late at night or early in the morning. The program is archaic from the 
early 2000s. Very rarely does Walker pull over the same motorist twice, due more than 
likely to the sheer volume of traffic on the roads, and he rarely pulls over Aurora 
residents. While the program is very archaic, Walker notes it does break out weekday 
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from weekend speeds. The trailer will be charged this evening, and Walker will place it 
facing northbound traffic to catch the 25-mph zone. Any speed over 50 mph will not 
display. Walker is open to suggestions for location to place the radar trailer. The next 
location for placement will be Liberty Street pointing toward Hwy 99e from the city park 
between Bobs and 4th.  

 
b) Aurora Traffic and Traffic Speed 
Nothing additional to the conversation above. 
 
c) School District Report Card Results Including Graduation Rates and Strategic 
Initiatives – Dr. Bill Rhoades 
North Marion School District Board Member Richard Goddard introduced 
Superintendent Bill Rhoades who narrated a set of slides for Council and community 
members. Copies of a strategic plan and an integrated plan were shared with Council and 
included as additional packet materials. Rhoades walks around campus a couple of times 
a day to see how these plans are being implemented.  
 
Zillow uses GreatSchools.org numbers for North Marion School District as a rating 
system for house sales. It was noted that this school district lacks the resources for after-
school programs of surrounding area districts to accommodate full-time working parents. 
North Marion is so rural that walkability also is a challenge. 
 
Rhoades is willing to take up a conversation focused on how the City of Aurora and the 
school district can work together to get the word out as to the good work of local schools. 
It was noted that there will be new homes built in Aurora in the future with the question 
of the district being able to manage the volume of new students. Additional students from 
Aurora would increase the funds the district receives. 
 
It was suggested that the city bring a proclamation forward for the North Marion girls’ 
soccer team as an agenda item – Hubbard and Donald should do the same to start to tell 
the story of the school district. Rhoades invited Council members to stop by for a tour of 
the school district, and he suggested a look at the programs offered in Salem at the Career 
Technical Education Center (CTEC).  
   
d) Proposed Metro Metropolitan Area (MPA) Boundary Expansion 
Mayor Asher gave an overview of a meeting he attended last week. Based on impervious 
surfaces, the US Census has expanded the Metro boundary to include Aurora and 
Hubbard, changing our town’s designation from rural to urban. Lani Radtke, Marion 
County Engineer, noted she is new to the process of MPA boundary expansion and that 
this conversation is about funding for transportation planning. Radtke met with Carl 
Lund, Marion County Traffic Engineer and the county’s traffic planner and federal 
census representatives to learn about the process and see if it could be stopped. The 
conclusion is the process cannot be stopped. Radtke shared an ODOT Federal Aid Urban 
Boundary and Functional Classification map. Based on federal rules, the Metropolitan 
Planning Areas (MPAs) are set to grow along with each decennial census. Within each 
MPA there can be multiple Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) – Portland has 
two MPOs. The methodology for MPA growth is one-half mile from the last census 
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MPA, which was triggered by the impervious surfaces at the Aurora State Airport to 
include Aurora as an urban area as well as Hubbard to the south with a set of “hop” and 
“jump” factors – both cities now part of the Portland Metropolitan Planning Area. Radtke 
and her team are trying to figure out what this means for both cities, but it was clarified 
that there would be no taxes as a result of this new urban designation within an MPA and 
likely little financial benefit given how small Aurora’s population is. At the last meeting 
Mayor Asher attended, Radtke noted there would be no taxes at this point, given how far 
Aurora is away from Metro in the Portland area. Mayor Asher’s understanding is that 
through Metro’s charter, the line stops at the tri-county area for tax purposes and control. 
Wilsonville and Canby do not pay because they have their own district for transportation. 
Mayor Asher noted that this initiative was sitting on the Governor’s desk for years 
without any action and that this fact could give Aurora a break from being included in an 
MPA in the next census, seven years from now. Radtke noted the City of Jefferson was 
initially included, but due to a change of federal rules that city was able to opt out though 
it chose not to do so. Radtke will follow up on Jefferson’s experience. Metro has 
indicated that even it does not want to take Aurora into its region. Radtke said that even 
if Aurora were to belong to Metro’s MPA, it could still apply for funding independently. 
There has been talk of forming a separate MPO with Woodburn and other north Marion 
cities. Radkte noted that a question for Aurora is: how does the city want to be at the 
table or even if it wants to be at the table? The city does not have to be involved, but then 
the city would not know what is coming down the pike in the next decade. Aurora’s 
Small City Allotment grant eligibility would not be affected by the MPA boundary, and 
neither would HUD loans. Radtke will also follow up about Aurora’s ability to go for 
rural funds based on a question Veliz asked. On a discussion of DEQ stormwater 
standards applied under a new urban designation and accompanying impact, Joseph 
Schaefer noted that the airport’s 300 acres is not currently subject to an MS4 permit 
given the lack of population density. Radtke noted that Marion County attends a Metro 
Technical Advisory Committee and Policy Committee once a month, suggesting that 
Aurora and Hubbard attend these to be looped into the ongoing conversation, and Mayor 
Asher suggested that Councilor Wendy Veliz get together with Hubbard City 
Administrator Shawn Waite to take up this issue. Veliz would like to explore an 
agreement to help protect the City of Aurora. Radtke said she asked US Census and 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) about what benefits there are from joining an 
MPO, and no one could offer any benefit. Even the people who work for MPOs cannot 
come up with a benefit. There are not a lot of negatives either, though MPO staff indicate 
they have a lot of reporting requirements. Mayor will reach out to the Metro Council for 
a conversation. Radtke will reach out to some small cities, including outside of Oregon if 
needed, to see what their MPA-related impacts are. 
 
e) Airport Land Use Update 
Nothing additional than discussion of the EOA contract below. 

 
f) Approval of the Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023 
 
Councilor Mercedes Rhoden-Feely motioned to approve the Annual Financial Report 
which motion was seconded by Councilor Roper and carried. 
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g) Curbside EV Charging Pilot Agreement 
City Councilors were unanimous in support of moving forward with this agreement. 
 

8. OLD BUSINESS 
a) Council Communication w Community: Aurora Bucks Survey Update 
Councilor Charles Roper provided a brief update, and surveys will wrap this week. 
 
b) Economic Opportunities Analysis Contract Approval, Process Flow Chart 
  
Councilor Rhoden-Feely moved to execute the Economic Opportunities Analysis 
contract, seconded by Councilor John Berard, and the motion carried.  

 
9. ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS, AND PROCLAMATIONS [20-25 min] - NA 

 
10. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Though referenced in the agenda, there were no executive sessions at this meeting. 

 
11.  REPORTS 

a) Finance Officer 
Finance Officer Mary Lambert was not in attendance, but her report is in the packet. 
 
b) Public Works 
Public Works Superintendent Mark Gunter noted nothing additional to add to his report. 

 
c) City Attorney 
City Attorney David James Robinson discussed the issue of recreational immunity, 
summarizing packet materials. CIS provided a document cities can use as a template to 
self-audit their own assets so that Aurora has a defense in case it gets sued by someone. 
Robinson will get look for a form support letter to forward on to state legislators toward 
fixing the statute based on a court of appeals decision in the short session. 

 
d) City Recorder - Nothing additional other than report in packet. 

  
e) Traffic Safety Liaison - Nothing to add beyond conversation with Deputy Walker. 
 
f) Airport 
Nothing additional beyond what was already covered about the airport earlier in meeting. 
 
g) Planning 
Schaefer referenced code amendments and that the HRB is welcome to add anything 
needed as these amendments move forward. The main item is the extension of marijuana 
business hours from 8pm to 10pm, but there is also an interest in extending the morning 
hours from 10am to 9am to be more in line with the Pub’s breakfast hours. 
 
Relative to the Economic Opportunities Analysis, there will be a technical advisory 
committee for public agency officials from Woodburn and Canby. Some of Aurora’s own 
commission members will be invited to join this committee. Public outreach to other 
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governments will include the French Prairie Forum, City of Wilsonville, Oregon Aviation 
Board, Positive Aurora Airport Management (PAAM), Marion County, and Friends of 
French Prairie. Schaefer will email out an invite list with dates. 

h) Community Outreach
Mayor Asher referenced the community food bank with hours tomorrow from 3:30 – 5pm.
He heard that the City of Salem opened its food bank today at noon and the line was 2-3
blocks long, demonstrating a significant need.

i) Community Preparedness – Nothing to add.

j) Parks Committee – No report this month.

k) Mayors Report
Mayor Asher noted a meeting with a Marion County Commissioner and movement of a
water line to a different location. In general, the county is for the city taking over the
airport, but they are not going to force the issue. Just today, the League of Oregon Cities
got the legislature to commit infrastructure money for increasing low-income housing –
and this grant money has to be spent within two years and assumes that engineering is
done and cities are ready to go to bid for construction. Discussion followed that Aurora
could use these funds to design and build water and sewer lines along Hwy 99e to be
ahead of the curve relative to the separate mechanical wastewater treatment plant project.
Mayor Asher and the City Recorder will work on an application to submit for funding.

12. ADJOURN
Mayor Asher adjourned the meeting at 9:58pm.

_________________________________________
  Brian Asher, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

Stuart A. Rodgers, City Recorder 
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From: Joseph Schaefer
To: Recorder; mayor
Subject: Land Conservation and Development Commission Initiates Rulemaking for Areas of Cultural Significance
Date: Thursday, November 30, 2023 4:23:26 PM

Please provide this to HRB members asap, and put in the City Council packet too. 
Applications to serve on the RAC will be accepted until midnight on December 22, 2023

 

Having trouble viewing this email? View it as a Web page.

oregon department of land conservation and development banner - river

November 29, 2023

Land Conservation and Development
Commission Initiates Rulemaking for Areas of

Cultural Significance

Seeks Volunteers to Serve on Rules Advisory Committee
On November 2, 2023, the Land Conservation and Development
Commission (LCDC) directed Department of Land Conservation and
Development (DLCD) staff to begin rulemaking for Goal 5 cultural areas.
While statewide land use planning Goal 5 lists cultural areas as important
resources in Oregon, Oregon Administrative Rules currently do not provide
specific direction of how to consider these types of areas in Oregon
communities.

“This is long overdue” said LCDC Commissioner Gerard Sandoval at the
November 2 hearing where commissioners voted to initiate the rulemaking.

The commission’s charge directed staff to work with Rules Advisory
Committee (RAC) members to develop a definition for this resource
category, and to develop recommendations to identify, avoid, preserve or
mitigate impacts from development to significant resource sites. A new
division 23 rule will work in tandem with existing state laws protecting
archaeological objects and sites.

DLCD is currently recruiting members for a RAC to advise agency staff in
drafting recommended rules. Staff expect the RAC to meet four to five times
in three-hour meetings during 2024.

DLCD also plans to convene a Technical Advisory Committee (TAC). The
TAC will advise DLCD staff on laws and rules governing the treatment of
archaeological sites and systems for preserving the confidentiality of known
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This email was sent to chris.damgen@jordanramis.com using GovDelivery Communications Cloud on behalf
of: Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development · 635 Capitol St. NE, Suite 150 · Salem, OR
97301-2540

sites.

DLCD is currently accepting applications from interested Oregonians to
serve on the Goal 5 Cultural Areas RAC or TAC. Applications will be
accepted through midnight on December 22, 2023.

Apply to Serve on the Goal 5 Cultural Areas RAC or TAC

For more information on the charge to the RAC, please see information on
DLCD’s website here. RAC and TAC meeting summaries will be posted on
the project webpage.

Stay Informed
LCDC will hold a public hearing when the RAC presents a recommended
draft for consideration.

For substantive questions about the rulemaking, or if you are interested in
being interviewed as a stakeholder, please contact Natural Resources
Specialist Amanda Punton at amanda.punton@dlcd.oregon.gov or phone
at 971-718-3245.

Sign up for GovDelivery notifications on this topic.

Stay Connected with Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development:

SUBSCRIBER SERVICES:
Manage Subscriptions  |  Unsubscribe All  |  Help

Links contained in this email have been replaced. If you click on a link in the email above, the
link will be analyzed for known threats. If a known threat is found, you will not be able to
proceed to the destination. If suspicious content is detected, you will see a warning.
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City 

City Council Memo 

To: City Council 

From:    Shawn Waite, City Administrator 

Date:  December 4, 2023 

RE:  Update on the Metropolitan Planning Area Expansion 

 

Issue before Council: 

To provide an update on the expansion of the of metropolitan planning area and joining the METRO Tri-
County planning area. 

Executive Summary: 

City staff attended several meetings with METRO, ODOT, and Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 
Governments (MWVCOG) staff to discuss the purposed changes to the Federal Aid Urban Boundary area 
(FAUB).  

Staff has had multiple meetings and discussions with Marion County, Woodburn, the city attorney, City 
of Aurora, and MWVCOG and there is no clear direction as to how this will impact the cities of Aurora 
and Hubbard. The metropolitan planning organization has three years to develop an agreement with 
Aurora and Hubbard to determine how this relationship will work into the future.   

Background: 

The following is a combination of definitions and a discussion as to the activities that have occurred.  

The Federal-Aid Urban Boundary (FAUB) is used mainly for funding and design purposes for 
highway projects. The FAUB was authorized by the Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1944 to provide 
special aid for highways/roadways lying within urban areas. Roadways inside the FAUB have 
urban classifications while those outside the FAUB have rural classifications. The FAUB is 
determined by information gathered by the Census Bureau and the amount of impervious 
surface between an existing metropolitan planning area and closely located cities. Growth of a 
FAUB is limited in area and is revisited when Census Bureau data is available (approximately 
every 10 years). The FHWA refers to the expansion as “hops” and “skips” from an already 
established metropolitan planning area. For example, the 2020 Census identified impervious 
surface area that met the criteria of population to include Aurora and Hubbard. Further 
expansion south was not allowable during this round of expansion, but it is anticipated that the 
next census in 2030 will incorporate Woodburn into the metropolitan planning area that just 
expanded to include Aurora and Hubbard.  
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https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=56ef8e0e2f56f4a1JmltdHM9MTcwMDg3MDQwMCZpZ3VpZD0zMmNjZWFhNS1lNmNhLTY5ZDctMDlhYS1mYmI1ZTc2MjY4M2UmaW5zaWQ9NTYxMw&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=32cceaa5-e6ca-69d7-09aa-fbb5e762683e&psq=definition+of+federal+aid+urban+boundry&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly9pYXJjaGl2ZXMubnlzZWQuZ292L3h0Zi92aWV3P2RvY0lkPWVhZC9maW5kaW5nYWlkcy8xNDE1NS54bWw7cXVlcnk9&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=f6d810f021dab692JmltdHM9MTcwMDg3MDQwMCZpZ3VpZD0zMmNjZWFhNS1lNmNhLTY5ZDctMDlhYS1mYmI1ZTc2MjY4M2UmaW5zaWQ9NTYxNQ&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=32cceaa5-e6ca-69d7-09aa-fbb5e762683e&psq=definition+of+federal+aid+urban+boundry&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cub3JlZ29uLmdvdi9PRE9UL0RhdGEvRG9jdW1lbnRzL0ZDX0ZBUV9SZXZpZXcucGRm&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=f6d810f021dab692JmltdHM9MTcwMDg3MDQwMCZpZ3VpZD0zMmNjZWFhNS1lNmNhLTY5ZDctMDlhYS1mYmI1ZTc2MjY4M2UmaW5zaWQ9NTYxNQ&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=32cceaa5-e6ca-69d7-09aa-fbb5e762683e&psq=definition+of+federal+aid+urban+boundry&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cub3JlZ29uLmdvdi9PRE9UL0RhdGEvRG9jdW1lbnRzL0ZDX0ZBUV9SZXZpZXcucGRm&ntb=1


Metropolitan planning area (MPA) means and refers to the planning area determined by 
agreement between the Transportation Planning Organization (TPO) which, in this case, is the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization and the Governor, for the urbanized area containing at 
least a population of 50,000. The agreement is made based on information provided by the 
2020 census, the FHWA, and ODOT relating to the FAUB and recommendations on “smoothing 
out” the boundaries of the FAUB. The “smoothing out process” of the MPA normally includes 
the existing urbanized area identified in the FAUB and the contiguous area expected to become 
urbanized within a 20-year forecast period. 

Concluding two meetings held November with ODOT, METRO, and the MWVCOG, and city staff 
the expansion of the MPA to include the entire UGB was approved, as the new subdivision area 
was not included in the FAUB, but we do anticipate development within 20-years. This will also 
provide the city with the ability to provide consistency throughout the transportation systems 
planning (TSP) process. Below is the map identifying the MPA boundaries that will be going to 
the Governor’s Office for consideration. 
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https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/metropolitan-planning-area


A Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) is the policy board of an organization created 
and designated to carry out the metropolitan transportation planning process. Based on the 
Census Bureau data and FHWA direction, MPOs are required to represent localities in all 
urbanized areas (UZAs) with populations over 50,000 nationwide. MPOs are designated by 
agreement between the governor and local governments that, together, represent at least 75 
percent of the affected population (including the largest incorporated cities, based on 
population) or in accordance with procedures established by applicable state or local law. There 
are currently eight MPOs within Oregon, a list of those MPOs have been identified below. 

 

 

 

In one MPA there may be multiple MPOs, depending on population. In order for an MPO to be 
established the population within the purposed MPO must be 50,000.  

The city will be working with the METRO MPO to develop an agreement on how the oversight 
process will work for Hubbard. We have approximately three years to develop this agreement. 
City staff received a call from the Governor’s Office in November and explained the process in 
how Hubbard was notified of the expansion, the partnerships that are occurring now, and the 
negotiation that will need to occur with METRO regarding the operations of the MPO. 
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A Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) describes a transportation system and outlines projects, 
programs, and policies to meet transportation needs now and in the future based on 
community aspirations. A TSP typically serves as the transportation component of the local 
comprehensive plan. A TSP provides a comprehensive, multimodal picture of how the existing 
and future transportation system meets the needs of its users. While the Transportation 
Planning Rule requires most Oregon jurisdictions to adopt a TSP, there are many other good 
reasons to employ this critical long-range planning tool including climate impacts, managing 
traffic congestion, and addressing community needs. It is important to note that design 
standards for Hubbard’s TSP will be considered on a case-by-case basis and will not have to 
meet the same design standards of the tri-county area. Hubbard’s TSP will be incorporated into 
the Regional Transportation Plans (RTP) developed by the MPOs.  

Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) is the staged multi-year program of transportation 
improvement projects developed by a Metropolitan Planning Organization consistent with the 
Long-Range Transportation Plan. Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) is the biennial 
program developed in cooperation with ODOT and public transportation providers, that 
identifies the planning priorities and activities to be carried out within a metropolitan planning 
area to be undertaken during a 2-year period. 

METRO Taxing District is a distinct and separate entity and process from the MPO/MPA. The 
Oregon Department of Revenue administers tax programs for the Tri-County Metropolitan 
Transportation District (TriMet) and the Lane County Mass Transit District (LTD). Nearly every 
employer who pays wages for services performed in these districts must pay transit payroll tax. 
The transit tax is imposed directly on the employer. The tax is figured only on the amount of 
gross payroll for services performed within the TriMet or Lane Transit Districts.  

Expansion of the MPA does not mean that the taxing district will expand into Hubbard.  

ODOT anticipated submitting the proposed boundary expansion to the Governor’s Office in late 
November. It may take a few months for the Governor to review and consider the boundary 
expansion. If approved, city staff will move forward with negotiations of the MPO operations 
with METRO, MWVCOG, Aurora, ODOT, and Marion County. 

Options: 

N/A 

Recommendation: 

N/A 

Attachments: 

None 
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From: Tim Gustafson
To: Recorder; Finance
Cc: Melissa Lennon
Subject: RE: Recreational Immunity
Date: Wednesday, November 22, 2023 10:13:21 AM
Attachments: image002.png
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SDAO Weekly Update Special Districts Digest.msg
RTR Nov 2023 (1).pdf
Recreational Audit (1).docx

Stuart and Mary,
 
I have participated in a meeting with CIS legal counsel on this matter and have been preparing
an email to outline the best practices recommended.
 
Attachment #1 is the memo from SDIS with their recommended steps that I had sent you
previously.
 
In summary from the meeting with CIS, the issue at hand specifically deals with owned or
managed improved trails that lead to a recreational area (areas such as bodies of water like
rivers, lakes or streams) and unimproved recreational trails.  The reason that recreational
immunity may not apply in a litigation is because the injured party can claim they were not
using the trails to recreate, thus dodging recreational immunity.  This is what happened in
Newport, Oregon and is detailed in the second attachment.  Page #5 of the second
attachment has the recommendations from CIS.  In the meeting, CIS recommended a self-
audit be performed and recommended the member inquire with their legal counsel regarding
this matter as the first steps if there was exposure to this issue.
 
With regards to finding a remedy for this situation, CIS is actively working at the State level to
push back against this.
 
Actions you should take in evaluating this:  Each member will have a different set of
circumstances to assess and make decisions on. The self-audit can help with this. It was
intentionally kept as a Word doc so members could adjust it as needed. If this audit is done, it
will help for both decision making as far as if the member wants to close some but not all of
their paths/trails and is documentation that would help with Discretionary Immunity.   The
self-audit is attachment #3 in this email. 

I will be sure to update you if I hear any more on this and please let me know if you have any
questions. 
 
 
Hope you have a Happy Thanksgiving.
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On July 6, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion in the case of Fields v. City of Newport effectively ending recreational immunity for improved trails. Public and private landowners of improved trails are no longer protected from lawsuits.  



In this case, the Oregon Court of Appeals decided that there is a factual dispute between Plaintiff Fields and the City as to whether her use of the trail was recreational, or whether her primary purpose was instead for “accessing the beach”. In other words, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court needed to hold a jury trial to determine whether the plaintiff’s principal purpose on the trail was accessing the beach, or to recreate while using the trail with a friend and their dogs while they “socialized.” 



Either way, recreational immunity no longer stops a case at the beginning (an “immunity” from suit), because any plaintiff can claim their “principal purpose” was not to recreate. 



This case was taken to the Oregon Supreme Court who, on October 5, declined to review the Court of Appeals’ decision. This action, called “review denied” functions as a de facto endorsement by the Oregon Supreme Court of the Oregon Court of Appeals’ decision. The protection from lawsuits that landowners relied on in deciding to open their land to the public is now likely gone for all trails. In fact, it may be gone for any property that someone can claim they were “just passing through”. 



 



RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SPECIAL DISTRICTS 



1.	Improved trails that are used to access a recreational area should be inspected on a regular basis and closed if any trip and fall hazards can’t be immediately mitigated. This especially includes trails, walkways and stairs used to access bodies of water, such as the ocean, lakes, rivers, streams and reservoirs.  



2.	Consider closing unimproved trails that can’t be maintained on a regular basis, because the subjective intent of the user can now nullify recreational immunity, which means if someone is injured on an unimproved trail, the district may find itself facing a costly jury trial to determine the injured person’s intent in using the trail. 



3.	Speak with your attorney about how Fields v. Newport could negatively affect your other recreational offerings to the public. For instance, someone who trips in a park can now say their primary purpose in using the park was not recreation, but rather they were simply passing through the park to access some other area in your jurisdiction. 



4.	Audit property you decide to leave open because it is not conducive to a claim from someone “just passing through”, to ensure your facility is protected as much as possible from liability claims. Our risk management team can assist you with this assessment.   



5.	Consider requiring people to sign a form affirming they are using the property only for recreational purposes if your organization can afford to post someone at that location (at a skate park, for example). 



6.	Contact your legislator and express your desire to keep property free and open to everyone in Oregon for recreational activities. 



In 2024, League of Oregon Cities and the Association of Oregon Counties will attempt to introduce a bill to restore recreational immunity. SDAO is planning to support this bill; however, we also need the support of our members. You are highly encouraged to contact your local legislator to express your desire to restore recreational immunity and minimize the impact of unnecessary lawsuits against Oregon’s local governments. To find your legislators, you can enter your address into the State of Oregon’s Legislator Lookup Tool.  



For assistance in assessing your property and mitigating this new heightened risk, please reach out to SDAO Risk Management at riskmanagement@sdao.com



 

 	

Tuesday, November 14th, 2023 



Application Open for PSU’s Professional Certificate in Building Cyber Resilience 
Understanding cybersecurity risk is an essential first step in protecting data and ensuring organizational resiliency in the event of a cyber-attack or natural disaster. The Mark O. Hatfield Cybersecurity and Cyber Defense Policy Center is offering a 12-week non-credit Professional Certificate in Building Cyber Resilience at no cost for up to 20 participants in public sector organizations. This program is highly collaborative and uses a cohort-based case study approach to learn about common cyber risks; how to identify, assess, and communicate cyber risk; and how to conduct the first step in mitigating threats through a risk assessment. A technical background isn’t required. Apply by November 17, 2023. Learn more on our website. (https://www.pdx.edu/hatfield-school/professional-certificate-building-cyber-resilience)



 	



New Finance Alliance



Why are financial professionals so cool, calm, and collected? They have strong internal controls. Join our new networking group, the SDAO Finance Alliance, for opportunities to connect with other special district finance professionals and hear more fun jokes like this one.  https://www.sdao.com/finance-alliance



 	



2023 SDAO Legislative Session Report  
The 2023 SDAO Legislative Session Report is now ready and available for download. Get a full recap of the 2023 Legislative Session including information about bills that passed and failed, initiative petitions, legislative referrals, and a look forward to the 2024 Legislative Session. Download now! 



Each member district will also receive a printed copy of this report in the mail. 



 	



State and Local Cybersecurity Grant Program – Deadline to Register is Next Week  
The registration and grant application process for the State and Local Cybersecurity Grant Program (SLCGP) will close TOMORROW, November 15th! We highly encourage all districts with eligible cybersecurity projects to apply. 



  The goal of SLCGP is to assist state and local governments with any of the following: 



*	Advanced Endpoint Protection (AEP) 



*	Data Backup, and Recovery Testing 



*	Multifactor Authentication Capability (MFA) 



*	Migrating your website domain and email to the .gov extension 



*	Consulting and Planning Services to implement any of the above 



Applicants for SLCGP funds must submit a completed application, which describes the nature of your project, your current cybersecurity posture and capabilities, and how your project aligns with Oregon’s Cybersecurity Plan.  
 



APPLICATION PROCESS 



1.	The important first step in the process is to complete the grant registration by November 15, 2023. This will allow OEM to ensure that your project is eligible for funding prior to going through the application process. 



As part of the registration process you will be asked for your Unique Entity ID (UEI).  This is a new federal and state requirement for receiving grant funds. 



If you do not have a Unique Entity ID yet, you will need to apply for a number at SAM.gov.  



2.	Once your registration is approved, the next step is to complete the project application by January 10, 2024.



Detailed application instructions are available online.  



LEARN MORE  
Hear more about the program from our recent webinar with Cinnamon Albin, Interim Deputy Chief Information Security Officer with the State of Oregon. Watch webinar now. Please note, the audio quality is low due to connectivity issues during the webinar.   



CONTACT INFORMATION 



SLCGP Technical Assistance  
Enterprise Information Services  
Cyber Security Services (CSS)  
slcgp_info@das.oregon.gov  
  
SLCGP Grant Program  
Kevin Jeffries  
Grants Coordinator  
Oregon Department of Emergency Management  
Cell (971) 719-0740  
Kevin.jeffries@oem.oregon.gov 



 	



Federal Legislative Update - Week of November 13th



Congress is back in session this week, with the House and the Senate returning today. The federal government will shut down on Saturday, November 18 at 12:01 am, absent congressional passage of another short-term spending bill. While prospects of a government shutdown are low, the House and Senate must work quickly to ensure the government remains funded.



On Saturday, the House Republican majority, led by Speaker Mike Johnson (R-La.), introduced their version of a stopgap spending measure. Speaker Johnson will likely place the legislation on the House floor for a vote on Tuesday. The Furthering Continuing Appropriations and Other Extensions Act, 2024 (H.R. 6363) features a two-step “laddered CR,” which includes two separate funding deadlines, Friday, January 19, 2024 and Friday, February 2, 2024. The laddered CR would extend funding through Jan. 19 for federal agencies covered by the following four appropriations bills: Agriculture-FDA, Energy and Water, Military Construction-VA, and Transportation-HUD. The other eight spending bills would receive an extension of funding through Feb. 2. The spending measure would also extend expiring 2018 Farm Bill programs for one year, through September 30, 2024, while the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) would be extended through Feb. 2 and other expiring health programs would be extended through Jan. 19 and/or Feb. 2. The package does not include the Biden Administration’s emergency supplemental funding requests from October, including $106 billion for Israel, Ukraine, and the U.S.-Mexico border. Speaker Johnson has told members of the House Republican Conference that if the “laddered CR” fails, the chamber would move to pass a 1-year CR.




Read More...



 	



News About Municipal Audits in Oregon  
The Audits Division, Municipal Audit Program hereby provides notice of a permanent administrative order for OAR 162-040. Prior to the effective date of the administrative rule, the Municipal Audit Program held a public hearing and accepted public comments. The public comments and agency response is online. The effective date of these rule changes is January 1, 2024, and impacts municipalities for fiscal years ending on or after that date. 



The adoption of these rules aligns with recent Legislative changes to Municipal Audit Law (ORS 297.405 to 297.990) which amended reviews to agreed-upon procedures (AUP) engagements. These amendments are necessary to provide municipal corporations and licensed municipal auditors with the minimum standards for AUP reports to remain in compliance with the law. These standards were developed in cooperation with the Oregon Board of Accountancy and consultation with the Oregon Society of Certified Public Accountants and other members of the municipal and audit community. 



The Notice of Permanent Administrative Order is at:  https://sos.oregon.gov/audits/Pages/rulemaking.aspx 



 	

Calendar

SDAO/SDIS Trainings and Events

  _____  




Risk Managment Regional Training Series



*	Dec 12 – Newport

*	Dec 13 – Salem 



Register Now...

 

Dates, times and locations subject to change. All changes will be communicated in advance to registrants and members via email and our website. 

Other Trainings and Events 

  _____  




BOLI

Visit the BOLI website for information about upcoming trainings.  

 

Click here for BOLI seminar information

 

Click here for BOLI seminar registration information.

 

Have an event coming up? Share it with SDAO members. Email event information to SDAO Member Services.

Member Classifieds

Job Openings:

Clackamas Water Environment Services - Senior Management Analyst

 

River Road Park and Recreation District - Superintendent

 

Clackamas SWCD - Weedwise Specialist for Mt. Hood National Forest

 

Otter Rock Water District - Part Time Bookkeeper/Office Clerk 
 

Umatilla Morrow Radio & Data District - Radio System Communications Technician Level I or II

 

Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue - Capital Projects Coordinator

 

Colton Fire District - Firefighter/EMT

 

River Road Park and Recreation District - Superintendent 
 

Clackamas SWCD - Weedwise Specialist and CEMA Coordinator

 

Clackamas River Water - Senior Water Works Mechanic

 

Columbia River PUD - Journeyman Tree Trimmer



Columbia River PUD - Tree Trimming Foreman



Chehalem Park & Recreation District - Registration Clerk

 

Mollala Aquatic District - Superintendent



Southwest Lincoln County Water PUD - District Manager

 

Have a classified you'd like to post? Email your posting to SDAO Member Services. It is free for SDAO members and will be advertised on our website and weekly email update.

NSDC Grant Update

Department of Agriculture. FY 2024 Thriving Communities Technical Assistance. 

Department of the Interior. FY 2024 Candidate Species Conservation Program.

 

Department of the Interior. FY 2024 Recovery Implementation Program.

 

Department of the Interior. FY 2024 Recovery Challenge Fund.

 

Department of Transportation. FY 2023-2026 Accelerated Innovation Deployment (AID) Demonstration Program. 

National Endowment for the Humanities. FY 2024 Landmarks of American History and Culture.

 	

November 8th - November 14th



At-Large 
New executive director hopes to rebuild trust in transit district 
Daily Astorian | 11/09/2023 

Ride LTD: Save money, stress by 'vanpooling' to work with help of LTD 
KMTR 16 NBC Eugene | 11/09/2023 

Fire Districts 
Gaston voters approve fire district levy 
McMinville News Register | 11.10.2023



Fire levies bring relief 
Keizer Times | 11.09.2023 

Ports 
Log export company to bring cargo operations back to Port of Astoria 
Bend Bulletin | 11.10.2023 

Port invests in modernizing commercial marina 
Newport News Times | 11.09.2023 

Parks and Recreation

PARKS AND REC: District manager offers updates 
Central Oregonian | 11.10.2023

 

Irrigation 

Arnold Canal Piping Moves Along After Dismissal of Lawsuit
Bend Source Weekly | 11.08.2023




Sanitary 
What’s next for Devils Lake? 
No News. 

Water 
No News.



Special DIstricts Association of Oregon 
PO Box 12613, Salem, OR 97309 | www.sdao.com | 800.285.5461 
Facebook, YouTube, Twitter, Instagram 
Click here to unsubscribe.
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TIMELY NEWS AND TIPS TO HELP REDUCE RISK
November 2023


On July 6, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion effectively ending 
recreational immunity for improved trails. Public and private landowners of 
improved trails are no longer protected from lawsuits. (Fields v. City of Newport).


Nicole Fields Falls While Walking With a Friend and their Dogs
In Fields v. Newport a woman was walking with her friend and their dogs on the 
beach.  She walked away from the beach on an improved trail which was owned 
and maintained by the city of Newport. The woman came to a wooden footbridge 
that was wet.  She slipped and fell, then filed a lawsuit against the City. 


Ms. Fields’ suit alleged the City was negligent in maintaining the bridge and not 
putting up warning signs. Newport responded that it was immune from suit 
because Fields was using the Ocean to Bay Trail for a recreational purpose, walking 
with a friend and their dogs while they talked and socialized.


Oregon’s recreational 


immunity provided liability 


protection to landowners 


who open their property 


for recreational activities, 


shielding them from certain 


lawsuits and claims related 


to injuries or accidents that 


occur on their land.


Real-Time Risk


OREGON’S HIGHER COURTS END RECREATIONAL 
IMMUNITY FOR IMPROVED TRAILS
By Kirk Mylander, CIS General Counsel



https://cdm17027.contentdm.oclc.org/digital/search/collection/p17027coll3!p17027coll5!p17027coll6/searchterm/A177242/field/all/mode/all/conn/all/order/date/ad/desc





Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page


The Trial Court Applied Recreational Immunity, 
Protecting Newport
The trial court agreed with the City, ruling that recreational immunity 
protects landowners from a lawsuit when they open their property to the 
public for recreational purposes without a fee. Because of recreational 
immunity the trial court granted summary judgment, which ended the 
case early in favor of Newport . 


The trial court determined “there are no genuine issues of material fact 
in dispute” and that under state law, the plaintiff was “using the trail for 
recreational purposes” by “walking her dog on a trail to the beach with a 
friend,” and thus the City was entitled to recreational immunity from any 
liability. 


Plaintiff Fields appealed the trial court’s ruling, arguing that the trial court 
could not conclude that her “principal purpose” (as required under state 
law) in walking on the trail was recreational as long as she claimed that the 
subjective intent in her mind was something else.


The Oregon Court of Appeals Strikes Down Recreational 
Immunity
The Oregon Court of Appeals decided that there is a factual dispute 
between Plaintiff Fields and the City as to whether her use of the trail was 
recreational, or whether her primary purpose was instead for “accessing 
the beach.”  In other words, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court 
needed to hold a jury trial to determine whether the plaintiff’s principal 
purpose on the trail was accessing the beach, or to recreate while using 
the trial with a friend and their dogs while they “socialized.”  


Either way, recreational immunity no longer stops a case at the beginning 
(an “immunity” from suit), because any plaintiff can claim their “principal 
purpose” was not to recreate.


Continued on next page







Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page


Local Governments Requested that the Oregon Supreme 
Court Restore Recreational Immunity — But the Court 
Refused to Hear the Case
The City of Newport asked the Oregon Supreme Court to overrule the 
Court of Appeals and restore recreational immunity. Other members of the 
local government community in Oregon also asked the Oregon Supreme 
Court to review the Fields case and reverse the Court of Appeals. The 
City of Medford, the League of Oregon Cities, the Association of Oregon 
Counties, the Special Districts Association of Oregon, and the Oregon 
Recreation and Park Association all joined Newport in asking the Oregon 
Supreme Court to reverse the Court of Appeals:


“A decision from the Oregon Supreme Court is necessary here. The Court of 
Appeals created an exception that swallows the rule by finding a question of 
fact exists on whether socializing with a friend, walking dogs, and enjoying 
a scenic trail to access the beach is recreational or not.”


The City asked the Supreme Court to reverse the Court of Appeals 
because of the damage the Court of Appeals opinion will have on the 
public’s access to recreational land. If the Court of Appeals opinion were 
to stand, the City argued, then “Landowners must decide if making their 
land available for recreational purposes is worth the risk of effectively 
losing access to the immunity by having to litigate through trial whatever 
subjective beliefs an injured plaintiff asserts their principal purpose was.”


Unfortunately, that is where things stand today. On Oct. 5, 2023, the 
Oregon Supreme Court officially declined to review the Court of Appeals’ 
decision in Fields. This action, called “review denied” functions as a de 
facto endorsement by the Oregon Supreme Court of the Oregon Court of 
Appeals’ decision striking down recreational immunity.


At the heart of the dispute is whether a trial court can decide at the 
beginning of a case whether or not a plaintiff’s “primary purpose” when 
entering land was recreational or not recreational. 


Subjective Intent is Too Subjective for Recreational 
Immunity to Function as the Legislature Intended
The Court of Appeals did not base its decision on what Fields was actually 
doing on the City of Newport’s trail. Instead, the Court of Appeals turned 
to a dictionary for assistance with the word “walking.” 


The Court of Appeals found that walking with a dog could sometimes be a 
recreational activity, but was not necessarily always a recreational activity.  
The Court of Appeals said that even when walking and socializing, Fields’ 
“principal purpose” could have been “to go to and from the beach” which 
the Court did not consider to be recreational.


Continued on next page


The Oregon Supreme Court Building, 
Gary Halvorson/Oregon State Archives







Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page


If, the Court reasoned, Fields was thinking that her “principal purpose” was 
to “access” the beach where she would begin to “recreate” with her dog 
and her friend, then recreational immunity does not protect the City (or 
any landowner). The key, according to the Oregon Court of Appeals, is the 
plaintiff’s subjective intent not her objective activities at the time. 


Unless the Legislature steps in, from now on when a person using the city’s 
path claims that their subjective intent was not primarily to recreate, then 
recreational immunity does not apply at the beginning of a suit. Instead, 
the municipality (or private landowner) will have to defend the lawsuit all 
the way through a jury trial, so the jury can decide what the plaintiff was 
thinking about their “primary intent.”


Legally, this transforms recreational “immunity” from a legal rule that stops 
a lawsuit at the outset, and turns it into a defense that a city, county, 
school district, or private landowner can only try to use at trial. Recreational 
immunity is no longer a true immunity.


Is Anything Left of Recreational Immunity?
The protection from lawsuits that landowners relied on in deciding to 
open their land to the public is now likely gone for all trails. It may be gone 
for any property that someone can claim they “were just passing through”.


The Oregon Court of Appeals and Oregon Supreme Court have repeatedly 
issued rulings that have the effect of striking down some, or all, of the 
Legislature’s recreational immunity statute. The good news, though, is 
that the Oregon Legislature has repeatedly stood behind Oregon’s policy 
of encouraging private and public landowners to open their property to 
the public for recreational activities like hiking, mountain biking, kayaking, 
hunting, fishing, rock climbing, and accessing the beautiful coastline.


Once again, the League of Oregon Cities and the Association of 
Oregon Counties are ready to bring a bill to the Legislature in 2024 to 
restore recreational immunity.  But the support of individuals and local 
governments is needed.  The people of Oregon who enjoy recreational 
access to a wide range of properties, especially including trails to access 
climbing areas, the coast, rivers, streams and lakes, need to contact their 
local legislator and their local city or county officials to express their desire 
to restore recreational immunity.


Your CIS risk management consultant is available to assist you as you plan, 
evaluate, and mitigate the heightened risk as a result of the Fields v. City of 
Newport ruling. 


Continued on next page


Visit CIS’ Recreational Immunity FAQ 
at cisoregon. org/RecImmunity for 
more information.



www.cisoregon.org/RecImmunity





Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page


RECOMMENDATONS FOR CITIES AND COUNTIES


1.	 Improved trails that are used to access a recreational area 
should be closed. This especially includes trails, walkways and 
stairs used to access bodies of water, such as the ocean, lakes, 
rivers, streams and reservoirs. 


2.	 Consider closing unimproved trails, because the subjective intent 
of the user can now nullify recreational immunity, which means if 
someone is injured on an unimproved trail, the city or county may 
find itself facing a costly jury trial to determine the injured person’s 
intent in using the trail.


3.	 Speak with your City Attorney or County Counsel about how 
Fields v. Newport could negatively affect your other recreational 
offerings to the public. For instance, someone who trips in a park 
can now say their primary purpose in using the park was not 
recreation, but rather they were simply passing through the park 
to access some other area in your jurisdiction.


4.	 Download and utilize this audit for property you decide to leave 
open because it is not conducive to a claim from someone “just 
passing through”, to ensure your facility is protected as much as 
possible from liability claims.


a.	 Consider requiring people to sign a form affirming they are 
using the property only for recreational purposes if your 
organization can afford to post someone at that location (at a 
skate park, for example).


5.	 Contact your legislator and any of the following organizations 
you are affiliated with: the League of Oregon Cities, the Association 
of Oregon Counties, the Special Districts Association of Oregon, 
or the Oregon Recreation and Park Association; express your 
desire to keep property free and open to everyone in Oregon for 
recreational activities.


Main Office   |   503-763-3800  800-922-2684   |  15875 Boones Ferry Rd. #1469, Lake Oswego, OR 97035


If you have any questions, 
please contact your Risk 
Management Consultant:
 
Northwest Oregon Coast and 
Columbia River Gorge


Margaret Ryan
mryan@cisoregon.org


Willamette Valley and Central 
Coast


Katie Durfee
kdurfee@cisoregon.org


Southern and Central Oregon


Laurie Olson
lolson@cisoregon.org


Eastern Oregon


Lisa Masters
lmasters@cisoregon.org



https://www.cisoregon.org/dl/x0tk2W4V
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Discretionary Maintenance Plan 

1) Inventory 

Create an inventory of all entity-owned parks, trails, and all recreation spaces. This might be a Parks Master Plan or similar documentation of recreational spaces. Annually audit all entity-owned parks, trails, and recreation spaces. 

2) Annual Recreation Area Audit

The recreational inventory is audited, and a visual inspection of each recreation area is completed. The audit is conducted to record the condition of each area so maintenance and repairs can be prioritized. 

The Annual Recreation Area Audit is a visual observation to assign a Maintenance Prioritization Category to each area on the inventory. This is not a record of complaints, repairs, or corrections that are typically noted during maintenance or complaint-driven and handled by creating a work order. 

If a hazard or maintenance item is noted as needing immediate attention during the audit, a work order should be created. The Annual Recreation Area Audit is done for planning purposes, it’s not intended to replace work orders or other documents created to address immediate matters. 

3) Discretionary Maintenance Items Prioritized

Entity’s Manager or whoever has been delegated the authority to evaluate options and determine funding priorities for maintenance to the Parks Department, reviews the Audits and weighs competing maintenance needs, decides the prioritization of resources. 

4) Prioritization Plan Activated

Create a list of maintenance items by order of priority and start work on the items listed.  

5) Periodic audit review

Periodic visual inspection of all recreational spaces to note any immediate hazards.  






How to Complete the Annual Recreation Area Audit 

Location

List the specific location or park being inspected. For ease of record keeping, If possible, break large areas into segments. Examples:

· Cook Park, North of SW 92nd Ave., Tigard 

· Paths and walkways adjacent to Painted Rock Beach, off Ocean Vista Drive between Evergreen Drive and Avenue U, Seaside, OR.  

· Cook Park Map

Each area inspected will be assigned a Priority Category number.  

		1 = Poor, many hazards noted

		Urgent maintenance schedule 



		2 = Fair, some hazards noted

		Essential maintenance schedule 



		3 = Average, few hazards noted

		Routine maintenance schedule 



		4 = Good, no noted hazards

		Routine maintenance schedule



		5 = Excellent, no hazards noted

		Routine maintenance schedule







Immediate Hazards Addressed and Priority Category

List the number of work orders or similar documentation completed for items determined to be immediate hazards or requiring urgent maintenance. 

_____Number of immediate hazards identified, and work orders created at the time of inspection.

Assign an overall Priority Category to each park or recreation area observed. 

_____Overall Location Priority (assign a 1-5 number) 

Priority Explanation 

Include a description of the inspection to explain and support the Priority Category assigned to the area. Examples: 

Parking lots are all worn and estimated at 1-2. The water level at the shoreline at the time of the inspection was high, unable to access or view areas used during low tide. Newer playground equipment in very good condition, estimated 5. Sidewalks near the roadway are showing signs of upheaval from tree roots, estimated 3 and that repair will be needed within 18 months. 

Dates of Periodic Audit Review

List dates the Annual Recreation Area Audit is reviewed. If the recreation area being observed is small and someone is in attendance each week, the audit can be reviewed with each visit. For larger or more complex areas, reviews should be scheduled. 

After an Audit review, create work orders or similar documentation for items determined to be immediate hazards or requiring urgent maintenance. 

Annual Recreation Area Audit

		Entity

		Date



		Location Description 



		



		



		Circle all inspection methods that apply



		Walk

		Bike

		Motorized Vehicle

		Watercraft

		Drone

		Other



		Assets Inspected

		Yes

		No

		N/A

		Category 1-5



		Walkways

		Non-entity created paths and trails

		

		

		

		



		

		Paved paths and trails 

		

		

		

		



		

		Sidewalks

		

		

		

		



		

		Stairs

		

		

		

		



		

		Unpaved paths and trails

		

		

		

		



		Recreation

		Ball Fields 

		

		

		

		



		

		Bike or BMX track or trail

		

		

		

		



		

		Boat Ramps

		

		

		

		



		

		Game Areas 

		

		

		

		



		

		Parking Lots

		

		

		

		



		

		Playgrounds 

		

		

		

		



		

		Sport Courts

		

		

		

		



		Gathering Spaces

		Gazebos 

		

		

		

		



		

		Seating

		

		

		

		



		

		Shelters

		

		

		

		



		

		Tables

		

		

		

		



		Miscellaneous



		Bathrooms

		

		

		

		



		

		Drinking Fountains

		

		

		

		



		

		Gardens

		

		

		

		



		

		Shoreline

		

		

		

		





[bookmark: _Hlk147664305]

		Reasons for Areas Not Inspected



		A) Unable to access safely

		C)



		B) Water level too high

		D)







		Number of immediate hazards identified, and work orders created at the time of inspection.



		



		Location Priority Category (assign a 1-5 number)

		





Priority Explanation 

		



		



		





Dates of Periodic Audit Review

		

		

		

		





Report Completed By

		Name 
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Thank You,
 

Tim Gustafson CIC, ATP, CFII

| GUSTAFSON INSURANCE AGENCY |

Phone: 503.266.2216 Fax: 503.266.7510

Address: 541 NW 2nd Ave Canby, OR 97013 ~ Po Box 927
 

       Family and Friends deserve great service too! Tell them about us!
 
Important: This electronic mail message and any attached files contain information intended for the
exclusive use of the individual or entity to who it is addressed and may contain information that is
proprietary, privileged, confidential and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the
intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any viewing, copying, disclosure or distribution of this
information may be subject to legal restriction or sanction. Please notify the sender, by electronic mail or
telephone, of any unintended recipients and delete the original message without making any copies.
 
 

From: Tim Gustafson 
Sent: Wednesday, November 8, 2023 11:39 AM
To: Recorder <Recorder@ci.aurora.or.us>; Finance <Finance@ci.aurora.or.us>
Subject: Recreational Immunity
 
Hi Stuart and Mary,
 
I wanted to let you know that I am participating in the CIS meeting tomorrow covering the
recreational immunity issue.  I will be putting an email together to provide information
learned from CIS at this meeting along with any best practices that they recommend to reduce
liability exposure.  In the meantime, below is some information on the matter from Special
Districts Insurance of Oregon:
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On July 6, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion in the case of Fields v. City of
Newport effectively ending recreational immunity for improved trails. Public and private
landowners of improved trails are no longer protected from lawsuits.  

In this case, the Oregon Court of Appeals decided that there is a factual dispute between
Plaintiff Fields and the City as to whether her use of the trail was recreational, or whether
her primary purpose was instead for “accessing the beach”. In other words, the Court of
Appeals held that the trial court needed to hold a jury trial to determine whether the
plaintiff’s principal purpose on the trail was accessing the beach, or to recreate while using
the trail with a friend and their dogs while they “socialized.” 

Either way, recreational immunity no longer stops a case at the beginning (an “immunity”
from suit), because any plaintiff can claim their “principal purpose” was not to recreate. 

This case was taken to the Oregon Supreme Court who, on October 5, declined to review
the Court of Appeals’ decision. This action, called “review denied” functions as a de facto
endorsement by the Oregon Supreme Court of the Oregon Court of Appeals’ decision. The
protection from lawsuits that landowners relied on in deciding to open their land to the
public is now likely gone for all trails. In fact, it may be gone for any property that
someone can claim they were “just passing through”. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SPECIAL DISTRICTS 

1. Improved trails that are used to access a recreational area should be inspected on a
regular basis and closed if any trip and fall hazards can’t be immediately mitigated.
This especially includes trails, walkways and stairs used to access bodies of water,
such as the ocean, lakes, rivers, streams and reservoirs.  

2. Consider closing unimproved trails that can’t be maintained on a regular basis,
because the subjective intent of the user can now nullify recreational immunity,
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which means if someone is injured on an unimproved trail, the district may find itself
facing a costly jury trial to determine the injured person’s intent in using the trail. 

3. Speak with your attorney about how Fields v. Newport could negatively affect your
other recreational offerings to the public. For instance, someone who trips in a park
can now say their primary purpose in using the park was not recreation, but rather
they were simply passing through the park to access some other area in your
jurisdiction. 

4. Audit property you decide to leave open because it is not conducive to a claim from
someone “just passing through”, to ensure your facility is protected as much as
possible from liability claims. Our risk management team can assist you with this
assessment.   

5. Consider requiring people to sign a form affirming they are using the property only
for recreational purposes if your organization can afford to post someone at that
location (at a skate park, for example). 

6. Contact your legislator and express your desire to keep property free and open to
everyone in Oregon for recreational activities. 

In 2024, League of Oregon Cities and the Association of Oregon Counties will attempt to
introduce a bill to restore recreational immunity. SDAO is planning to support this bill;
however, we also need the support of our members. You are highly encouraged to contact
your local legislator to express your desire to restore recreational immunity and minimize
the impact of unnecessary lawsuits against Oregon’s local governments. To find your
legislators, you can enter your address into the State of Oregon’s Legislator Lookup Tool.   

 
Thank You,

Tim Gustafson CIC, ATP, CFII

Phone: 503.266.2216 Fax: 503.266.7510

Address: 541 NW 2nd Ave Canby, OR 97013 ~ Po Box 927

       Family and Friends deserve great service too! Tell them about us!
 
Important: This electronic mail message and any attached files contain information intended for the
exclusive use of the individual or entity to who it is addressed and may contain information that is
proprietary, privileged, confidential and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the
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intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any viewing, copying, disclosure or distribution of this
information may be subject to legal restriction or sanction. Please notify the sender, by electronic mail or
telephone, of any unintended recipients and delete the original message without making any copies.
 

Links contained in this email have been replaced. If you click on a link in the email above, the
link will be analyzed for known threats. If a known threat is found, you will not be able to
proceed to the destination. If suspicious content is detected, you will see a warning.
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From: SDAO News
To: Tim Gustafson
Subject: SDAO Weekly Update: Special Districts Digest
Date: Tuesday, November 14, 2023 4:30:24 PM

If this e-mail does not display properly or if you have difficulty opening any links, click here to open the online version.

logo.png Newsletter_title_2495732.png

Golf-Turnament-Email-Banner_2509546.jpg

On July 6, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion in the case of Fields v. City of Newport
effectively ending recreational immunity for improved trails. Public and private landowners of
improved trails are no longer protected from lawsuits.  

In this case, the Oregon Court of Appeals decided that there is a factual dispute between Plaintiff
Fields and the City as to whether her use of the trail was recreational, or whether her primary
purpose was instead for “accessing the beach”. In other words, the Court of Appeals held that the
trial court needed to hold a jury trial to determine whether the plaintiff’s principal purpose on the
trail was accessing the beach, or to recreate while using the trail with a friend and their dogs
while they “socialized.” 

Either way, recreational immunity no longer stops a case at the beginning (an “immunity” from
suit), because any plaintiff can claim their “principal purpose” was not to recreate. 

This case was taken to the Oregon Supreme Court who, on October 5, declined to review the
Court of Appeals’ decision. This action, called “review denied” functions as a de facto
endorsement by the Oregon Supreme Court of the Oregon Court of Appeals’ decision. The
protection from lawsuits that landowners relied on in deciding to open their land to the public is
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now likely gone for all trails. In fact, it may be gone for any property that someone can claim they
were “just passing through”. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SPECIAL DISTRICTS 

1. Improved trails that are used to access a recreational area should be inspected on a regular
basis and closed if any trip and fall hazards can’t be immediately mitigated. This especially
includes trails, walkways and stairs used to access bodies of water, such as the ocean, lakes,
rivers, streams and reservoirs.  

2. Consider closing unimproved trails that can’t be maintained on a regular basis, because the
subjective intent of the user can now nullify recreational immunity, which means if
someone is injured on an unimproved trail, the district may find itself facing a costly jury
trial to determine the injured person’s intent in using the trail. 

3. Speak with your attorney about how Fields v. Newport could negatively affect your other
recreational offerings to the public. For instance, someone who trips in a park can now say
their primary purpose in using the park was not recreation, but rather they were simply
passing through the park to access some other area in your jurisdiction. 

4. Audit property you decide to leave open because it is not conducive to a claim from
someone “just passing through”, to ensure your facility is protected as much as possible
from liability claims. Our risk management team can assist you with this assessment.   

5. Consider requiring people to sign a form affirming they are using the property only for
recreational purposes if your organization can afford to post someone at that location (at a
skate park, for example). 

6. Contact your legislator and express your desire to keep property free and open to everyone
in Oregon for recreational activities. 

In 2024, League of Oregon Cities and the Association of Oregon Counties will attempt to
introduce a bill to restore recreational immunity. SDAO is planning to support this bill; however,
we also need the support of our members. You are highly encouraged to contact your local
legislator to express your desire to restore recreational immunity and minimize the impact of
unnecessary lawsuits against Oregon’s local governments. To find your legislators, you can enter
your address into the State of Oregon’s Legislator Lookup Tool.  

For assistance in assessing your property and mitigating this new heightened risk, please reach
out to SDAO Risk Management at riskmanagement@sdao.com
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Continued on next page

TIMELY NEWS AND TIPS TO HELP REDUCE RISK
November 2023

On July 6, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion effectively ending 
recreational immunity for improved trails. Public and private landowners of 
improved trails are no longer protected from lawsuits. (Fields v. City of Newport).

Nicole Fields Falls While Walking With a Friend and their Dogs
In Fields v. Newport a woman was walking with her friend and their dogs on the 
beach.  She walked away from the beach on an improved trail which was owned 
and maintained by the city of Newport. The woman came to a wooden footbridge 
that was wet.  She slipped and fell, then filed a lawsuit against the City. 

Ms. Fields’ suit alleged the City was negligent in maintaining the bridge and not 
putting up warning signs. Newport responded that it was immune from suit 
because Fields was using the Ocean to Bay Trail for a recreational purpose, walking 
with a friend and their dogs while they talked and socialized.

Oregon’s recreational 

immunity provided liability 

protection to landowners 

who open their property 

for recreational activities, 

shielding them from certain 

lawsuits and claims related 

to injuries or accidents that 

occur on their land.

Real-Time Risk

OREGON’S HIGHER COURTS END RECREATIONAL 
IMMUNITY FOR IMPROVED TRAILS
By Kirk Mylander, CIS General Counsel
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Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

The Trial Court Applied Recreational Immunity, 
Protecting Newport
The trial court agreed with the City, ruling that recreational immunity 
protects landowners from a lawsuit when they open their property to the 
public for recreational purposes without a fee. Because of recreational 
immunity the trial court granted summary judgment, which ended the 
case early in favor of Newport . 

The trial court determined “there are no genuine issues of material fact 
in dispute” and that under state law, the plaintiff was “using the trail for 
recreational purposes” by “walking her dog on a trail to the beach with a 
friend,” and thus the City was entitled to recreational immunity from any 
liability. 

Plaintiff Fields appealed the trial court’s ruling, arguing that the trial court 
could not conclude that her “principal purpose” (as required under state 
law) in walking on the trail was recreational as long as she claimed that the 
subjective intent in her mind was something else.

The Oregon Court of Appeals Strikes Down Recreational 
Immunity
The Oregon Court of Appeals decided that there is a factual dispute 
between Plaintiff Fields and the City as to whether her use of the trail was 
recreational, or whether her primary purpose was instead for “accessing 
the beach.”  In other words, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court 
needed to hold a jury trial to determine whether the plaintiff’s principal 
purpose on the trail was accessing the beach, or to recreate while using 
the trial with a friend and their dogs while they “socialized.”  

Either way, recreational immunity no longer stops a case at the beginning 
(an “immunity” from suit), because any plaintiff can claim their “principal 
purpose” was not to recreate.

Continued on next page
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Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

Local Governments Requested that the Oregon Supreme 
Court Restore Recreational Immunity — But the Court 
Refused to Hear the Case
The City of Newport asked the Oregon Supreme Court to overrule the 
Court of Appeals and restore recreational immunity. Other members of the 
local government community in Oregon also asked the Oregon Supreme 
Court to review the Fields case and reverse the Court of Appeals. The 
City of Medford, the League of Oregon Cities, the Association of Oregon 
Counties, the Special Districts Association of Oregon, and the Oregon 
Recreation and Park Association all joined Newport in asking the Oregon 
Supreme Court to reverse the Court of Appeals:

“A decision from the Oregon Supreme Court is necessary here. The Court of 
Appeals created an exception that swallows the rule by finding a question of 
fact exists on whether socializing with a friend, walking dogs, and enjoying 
a scenic trail to access the beach is recreational or not.”

The City asked the Supreme Court to reverse the Court of Appeals 
because of the damage the Court of Appeals opinion will have on the 
public’s access to recreational land. If the Court of Appeals opinion were 
to stand, the City argued, then “Landowners must decide if making their 
land available for recreational purposes is worth the risk of effectively 
losing access to the immunity by having to litigate through trial whatever 
subjective beliefs an injured plaintiff asserts their principal purpose was.”

Unfortunately, that is where things stand today. On Oct. 5, 2023, the 
Oregon Supreme Court officially declined to review the Court of Appeals’ 
decision in Fields. This action, called “review denied” functions as a de 
facto endorsement by the Oregon Supreme Court of the Oregon Court of 
Appeals’ decision striking down recreational immunity.

At the heart of the dispute is whether a trial court can decide at the 
beginning of a case whether or not a plaintiff’s “primary purpose” when 
entering land was recreational or not recreational. 

Subjective Intent is Too Subjective for Recreational 
Immunity to Function as the Legislature Intended
The Court of Appeals did not base its decision on what Fields was actually 
doing on the City of Newport’s trail. Instead, the Court of Appeals turned 
to a dictionary for assistance with the word “walking.” 

The Court of Appeals found that walking with a dog could sometimes be a 
recreational activity, but was not necessarily always a recreational activity.  
The Court of Appeals said that even when walking and socializing, Fields’ 
“principal purpose” could have been “to go to and from the beach” which 
the Court did not consider to be recreational.

Continued on next page

The Oregon Supreme Court Building, 
Gary Halvorson/Oregon State Archives
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Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

If, the Court reasoned, Fields was thinking that her “principal purpose” was 
to “access” the beach where she would begin to “recreate” with her dog 
and her friend, then recreational immunity does not protect the City (or 
any landowner). The key, according to the Oregon Court of Appeals, is the 
plaintiff’s subjective intent not her objective activities at the time. 

Unless the Legislature steps in, from now on when a person using the city’s 
path claims that their subjective intent was not primarily to recreate, then 
recreational immunity does not apply at the beginning of a suit. Instead, 
the municipality (or private landowner) will have to defend the lawsuit all 
the way through a jury trial, so the jury can decide what the plaintiff was 
thinking about their “primary intent.”

Legally, this transforms recreational “immunity” from a legal rule that stops 
a lawsuit at the outset, and turns it into a defense that a city, county, 
school district, or private landowner can only try to use at trial. Recreational 
immunity is no longer a true immunity.

Is Anything Left of Recreational Immunity?
The protection from lawsuits that landowners relied on in deciding to 
open their land to the public is now likely gone for all trails. It may be gone 
for any property that someone can claim they “were just passing through”.

The Oregon Court of Appeals and Oregon Supreme Court have repeatedly 
issued rulings that have the effect of striking down some, or all, of the 
Legislature’s recreational immunity statute. The good news, though, is 
that the Oregon Legislature has repeatedly stood behind Oregon’s policy 
of encouraging private and public landowners to open their property to 
the public for recreational activities like hiking, mountain biking, kayaking, 
hunting, fishing, rock climbing, and accessing the beautiful coastline.

Once again, the League of Oregon Cities and the Association of 
Oregon Counties are ready to bring a bill to the Legislature in 2024 to 
restore recreational immunity.  But the support of individuals and local 
governments is needed.  The people of Oregon who enjoy recreational 
access to a wide range of properties, especially including trails to access 
climbing areas, the coast, rivers, streams and lakes, need to contact their 
local legislator and their local city or county officials to express their desire 
to restore recreational immunity.

Your CIS risk management consultant is available to assist you as you plan, 
evaluate, and mitigate the heightened risk as a result of the Fields v. City of 
Newport ruling. 

Continued on next page

For more information, visit CIS’ 
Recreational Immunity FAQ at 
cisoregon. org/RecImmunity.
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Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

RECOMMENDATONS FOR CITIES AND COUNTIES

1.	 Improved trails that are used to access a recreational area 
should be closed. This especially includes trails, walkways and 
stairs used to access bodies of water, such as the ocean, lakes, 
rivers, streams and reservoirs. 

2.	 Consider closing unimproved trails, because the subjective intent 
of the user can now nullify recreational immunity, which means if 
someone is injured on an unimproved trail, the city or county may 
find itself facing a costly jury trial to determine the injured person’s 
intent in using the trail.

3.	 Speak with your City Attorney or County Counsel about how 
Fields v. Newport could negatively affect your other recreational 
offerings to the public. For instance, someone who trips in a park 
can now say their primary purpose in using the park was not 
recreation, but rather they were simply passing through the park 
to access some other area in your jurisdiction.

4.	 Download and utilize this audit for property you decide to leave 
open because it is not conducive to a claim from someone “just 
passing through”, to ensure your facility is protected as much as 
possible from liability claims.

a.	 Consider requiring people to sign a form affirming they are 
using the property only for recreational purposes if your 
organization can afford to post someone at that location (at a 
skate park, for example).

5.	 Contact your legislator and any of the following organizations 
you are affiliated with: the League of Oregon Cities, the Association 
of Oregon Counties, the Special Districts Association of Oregon, 
or the Oregon Recreation and Park Association; express your 
desire to keep property free and open to everyone in Oregon for 
recreational activities.

Main Office   |   503-763-3800  800-922-2684   |  15875 Boones Ferry Rd. #1469, Lake Oswego, OR 97035

If you have any questions, 
please contact your Risk 
Management Consultant:
 
Northwest Oregon Coast and 
Columbia River Gorge

Margaret Ryan
mryan@cisoregon.org

Willamette Valley and Central 
Coast

Katie Durfee
kdurfee@cisoregon.org

Southern and Central Oregon

Laurie Olson
lolson@cisoregon.org

Eastern Oregon

Lisa Masters
lmasters@cisoregon.org
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Discretionary Maintenance Plan  

1) Inventory  
Create an inventory of all entity-owned parks, trails, and all recreation spaces. 
This might be a Parks Master Plan or similar documentation of recreational 
spaces. Annually audit all entity-owned parks, trails, and recreation spaces.  

2) Annual Recreation Area Audit 
The recreational inventory is audited, and a visual inspection of each recreation 
area is completed. The audit is conducted to record the condition of each area 
so maintenance and repairs can be prioritized.  

The Annual Recreation Area Audit is a visual observation to assign a 
Maintenance Prioritization Category to each area on the inventory. This is not a 
record of complaints, repairs, or corrections that are typically noted during 
maintenance or complaint-driven and handled by creating a work order.  

If a hazard or maintenance item is noted as needing immediate attention during 
the audit, a work order should be created. The Annual Recreation Area Audit is 
done for planning purposes, it’s not intended to replace work orders or other 
documents created to address immediate matters.  

3) Discretionary Maintenance Items Prioritized 
Entity’s Manager or whoever has been delegated the authority to evaluate 
options and determine funding priorities for maintenance to the Parks 
Department, reviews the Audits and weighs competing maintenance needs, 
decides the prioritization of resources.  

4) Prioritization Plan Activated 
Create a list of maintenance items by order of priority and start work on the items 
listed.   

5) Periodic audit review 
Periodic visual inspection of all recreational spaces to note any immediate 
hazards.   
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How to Complete the Annual Recreation Area Audit  

Location 

List the specific location or park being inspected. For ease of record keeping, If 
possible, break large areas into segments. Examples: 

• Cook Park, North of SW 92nd Ave., Tigard  
• Paths and walkways adjacent to Painted Rock Beach, off Ocean Vista Drive 

between Evergreen Drive and Avenue U, Seaside, OR.   
• Cook Park Map 

Each area inspected will be assigned a Priority Category number.   

1 = Poor, many hazards noted Urgent maintenance schedule  
2 = Fair, some hazards noted Essential maintenance schedule  
3 = Average, few hazards noted Routine maintenance schedule  
4 = Good, no noted hazards Routine maintenance schedule 
5 = Excellent, no hazards noted Routine maintenance schedule 

 

Immediate Hazards Addressed and Priority Category 

List the number of work orders or similar documentation completed for items 
determined to be immediate hazards or requiring urgent maintenance.  

_____Number of immediate hazards identified, and work orders created at the time of 
inspection. 

Assign an overall Priority Category to each park or recreation area observed.  

_____Overall Location Priority (assign a 1-5 number)  

Priority Explanation  

Include a description of the inspection to explain and support the Priority Category 
assigned to the area. Examples:  

Parking lots are all worn and estimated at 1-2. The water level at the shoreline at the 
time of the inspection was high, unable to access or view areas used during low tide. 
Newer playground equipment in very good condition, estimated 5. Sidewalks near the 
roadway are showing signs of upheaval from tree roots, estimated 3 and that repair will 
be needed within 18 months.  

Dates of Periodic Audit Review 

List dates the Annual Recreation Area Audit is reviewed. If the recreation area being 
observed is small and someone is in attendance each week, the audit can be 
reviewed with each visit. For larger or more complex areas, reviews should be 
scheduled.  

After an Audit review, create work orders or similar documentation for items determined 
to be immediate hazards or requiring urgent maintenance.  
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Annual Recreation Area Audit 
Entity Date 
Location Description  
 
 

Circle all inspection methods that apply 
Walk Bike Motorized Vehicle Watercraft Drone Other 

Assets Inspected Yes No N/A Category 1-5 
Walkways Non-entity created paths and trails     
 Paved paths and trails      
 Sidewalks     
 Stairs     
 Unpaved paths and trails     
Recreation Ball Fields      
 Bike or BMX track or trail     
 Boat Ramps     
 Game Areas      
 Parking Lots     
 Playgrounds      
 Sport Courts     
Gathering Spaces Gazebos      
 Seating     
 Shelters     
 Tables     
Miscellaneous 
 

Bathrooms     
 Drinking Fountains     
 Gardens     
 Shoreline     

 
Reasons for Areas Not Inspected 

A) Unable to access safely C) 
B) Water level too high D) 

 
Number of immediate hazards identified, and work orders 

      
 

 
Location Priority Category (assign a 1-5 number)  

Priority Explanation  
 
 
 

Dates of Periodic Audit Review 
    

Report Completed By 
Name   
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City of Aurora
November 2023

Marion County Sheriff's Office Print Date/Time: 12/1/23 9:47

28 total calls for 
service

*June 2023 is the first full month for which data is available after the implementation of the new 
computer aided dispatch (CAD) system. 
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City of Aurora
November 2023

Marion County Sheriff's Office 12/1/23 9:47Print Date/Time:
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City of Aurora
November 2023

Incident Type Sum of Nov-22 Sum of Nov-23 Raw Difference % Change
Assist Other Agency- Oregon State Police 1 0 -1 -100%
Attempt To Locate Person/ Vehicle 1 2 1 100%
Audible Alarm - Police 1 0 -1 -100%
Check Welfare 1 0 -1 -100%
Citizen Contact / Assist 2 0 -2 -100%
Crash 2 0 -2 -100%
Disturbance 1 0 -1 -100%
Domestic Disturbance 1 0 -1 -100%
Driving Complaint 0 1 1 -
Fight 1 0 -1 -100%
Found Property 1 1 0 0%
Fraudulent Document 0 1 1 -
Graffiti 2 0 -2 -100%
Illegal Parking 1 0 -1 -100%
Open Door / Window 1 0 -1 -100%
Overdose 1 0 -1 -100%
Suspicious Activity 0 1 1 -
Suspicious Person 3 0 -3 -100%
Suspicious Vehicle 2 0 -2 -100%
Theft 0 2 2 -
Traffic Stop / Violation 28 20 -8 -29%
Trespass 2 0 -2 -100%
Grand Total 52 28 -24 -46%

Marion County Sheriff's Office 12/1/23 9:47Print Date/Time:

Page 3

42 of 329



City of Aurora
November 2023

Time of Day Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Grand Total
1:00 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
2:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 3
10:00 AM 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2
11:00 AM 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 3
12:00 PM 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2
1:00 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2
2:00 PM 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 3
3:00 PM 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 3
4:00 PM 0 0 1 1 5 0 0 7
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 PM 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 2
8:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Grand Total 2 1 4 7 11 3 0 28

Marion County Sheriff's Office

Calls for Service by Time of Day and Day of Week - November 2023

12/1/23 9:47Print Date/Time:
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City of Aurora
November 2023

Marion County Sheriff's Office Print Date/Time: 12/1/23 9:47
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City of Aurora
November 2023

Marion County Sheriff's Office Print Date/Time: 12/1/23 9:47
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Patrol Zone: SMS-AURORA
Month: November 2023
Total Calls for Service: 28
Print Date/Time: 12/1/23 9:47
*Note: One call for service can generate multiple incident numbers

Incident # Incident Date Incident Type Call Source Reactivated Dispatch to Enroute Enroute to Arrival Dispatch to Arrival Start to Close Primary Unit Deputy Type
2023-00032514 11/1/23 13:38 Theft Community Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:08:27 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00032534 11/1/23 15:08 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:06:29 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00032687 11/2/23 10:43 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:04:44 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00032894 11/3/23 8:19 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:38:48 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00032913 11/3/23 8:16 Theft Community Initiated No 0:00:15 0:00:00 0:00:00 3:14:42 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00033610 11/8/23 8:24 Found Property Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 1:18:58 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00034049 11/10/23 18:19 Attempt To Locate Person/ Vehicle Community Initiated No 0:31:12 0:00:00 0:31:12 2:30:17 A184 Non-contract deputy
2023-00034208 11/12/23 0:21 Driving Complaint Community Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:19:28 A034 Non-contract deputy
2023-00034812 11/15/23 14:53 Suspicious Activity Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:21:45 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00035584 11/19/23 18:15 Attempt To Locate Person/ Vehicle Community Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:14:09 A034 Non-contract deputy
2023-00035720 11/20/23 13:47 Fraudulent Document Community Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 1:52:32 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00035831 11/21/23 9:50 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:08:04 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00035845 11/21/23 10:45 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:09:07 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00036241 11/23/23 15:09 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:04:09 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00036912 11/28/23 14:27 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:11:45 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00036932 11/28/23 15:49 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:06:41 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037034 11/29/23 9:13 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:13:32 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037055 11/29/23 10:12 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:03:48 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037079 11/29/23 11:18 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:07:05 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037321 11/30/23 11:52 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:04:22 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037336 11/30/23 12:32 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:09:50 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037343 11/30/23 12:57 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:04:24 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037348 11/30/23 13:15 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:02:08 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037372 11/30/23 14:47 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:05:55 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00037378 11/30/23 15:00 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:06:27 A197 Non-contract deputy
2023-00037382 11/30/23 15:19 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:17:45 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037386 11/30/23 15:30 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:03:53 A137 Aurora contract deputy
2023-00037390 11/30/23 15:53 Traffic Stop / Violation Deputy Initiated No 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:00:00 0:04:05 A137 Aurora contract deputy
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report
Prepared by Charles Roper for the Aurora City Council on 12/11/2023

Executive Summary

In October and November of 2023, the City of Aurora conducted a survey to evaluate residents' satisfaction
with current communication methods and to understand their preferences for future communication strategies.
Engaging 184 respondents, the survey revealed significant insights into the community's needs and
preferences related to city communications.

Key Findings:

● Satisfaction Levels:While 87% of respondents indicated neutral to moderately positive satisfaction
with current communications, only 11% reported being fully satisfied, suggesting an overall desire for
improvements.

● Communication Preferences: There is a pronounced preference for electronic communications,
especially email updates, with a desire for these updates to occur 1-4 times per month. Community
events and project updates emerged as the most sought-after content.

● Demographic Insights: The majority of respondents are established long-term residents,
predominantly over 55 years of age with an Aurora residency duration of over 10 years, which may
influence communication preferences.

Preliminary Recommendations:

1. Hybrid Communication Strategy: Prioritize regular email communications while maintaining
traditional methods to cater to the diverse preferences of Aurora's residents.

2. Diversification and Personalization: Segment email communications according to different interests
and demographic groups to increase engagement.

3. Continuous Feedback: Implement a feedback mechanism to continually adapt and refine
communication strategies in line with residents' evolving preferences.

The City of Aurora is committed to enhancing its communication efforts in alignment with these findings,
ensuring that all residents stay informed and engaged with the local community.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 1 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Detailed Summary and Interpretation

Introduction
This detailed summary delves into the findings of the Aurora communications survey, conducted between
October 26 and November 15, 2023. Engaging a broad cross-section of Aurora residents, the survey aimed to
gather in-depth feedback from at least 100 residents on current communication channels, satisfaction levels,
and preferences for future communication mediums and strategies.

Survey Results
The survey garnered an impressive response, with 184 participants providing diverse insights. This response
indicates a high level of engagement and interest among residents in how the city communicates with them,
especially regarding the evolving trend towards digital communication methods.

Satisfaction with Current Communications

Overall Satisfaction: The response data suggests a neutral-to-moderately-positive view of current
communication efforts. While a significant proportion (87%) of respondents rated their satisfaction as neutral or
higher, it's noteworthy that only 11% indicated that they are fully satisfied with current communications. This
reveals that a substantial majority of respondents (as many as 89%) expressed a preference for some degree
of changes in city communications, including a distinct subset (13%) calling for significant changes.

Areas for Improvement: The dissatisfaction expressed by some residents could be attributed to a lack of
frequency or diversity in communication methods currently employed. As one dissatisfied respondent stated:

“A good communication & outreach strategy should recognize, and respect, how much people
have going on in their lives, and make it as easy as possible for folks to stay informed about
and participate in local government. Use everyday language, get to the point, and work to
reach people in a variety of ways. Gathering info from residents directly thru this survey is an
awesome first step!”

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 2 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Current Channels for City News Engagement

Diverse Channels for Staying Informed: The survey asked residents how they usually keep up with what's
happening within the City of Aurora, allowing multiple responses to capture the variety of news sources
utilized. The results demonstrate a diverse mix of traditional and modern methods:

Popular Channels: The City Newsletter (31.8%) and Social Media (30.7%) are the most frequently utilized
channels, showcasing a blend of official and informal sources for city updates.

Role of Community Interaction:Word of Mouth/Neighbors is a significant information source (19%),
underscoring the value of community-based communication.

Online Presence: The City's Official Website serves as a source for 26 respondents, suggesting room for
increasing its visibility and usage.

Traditional Methods: Traditional avenues like Bulletin Boards, City Hall Meetings, and the Local Newspaper,
though less utilized (around 4% each), continue to hold relevance.

Email Engagement Gap: Notably, while email emerged as the most-preferred method for future
communications in the survey (page 5), it's currently one of the least used channels, with only 5 out of 184
respondents (around 1%) indicating they receive city updates via email. This significant gap points to an unmet
need in the community. Despite the preference for email communications, the city's current strategy may not
be effectively capitalizing on this channel, or residents might not be aware of the availability of email updates.

This data suggests a potential area for immediate improvement in the city’s communication strategy. By
bolstering the email communication channel, aligning it with residents' expressed preferences, and raising
awareness about its availability, the City of Aurora can bridge this gap and enhance resident engagement.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 3 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Preferred Communication Methods for City Updates

Shifting Towards Digital Preferences: In understanding residents' preferences for receiving future updates
from the City of Aurora, the survey highlighted a strong inclination towards digital mediums. Out of 163
responses:

Dominance of Electronic Communications: Electronic Communications, encompassing email, social media,
and digital newsletters, emerged as the most preferred method, chosen by 107 respondents. This accounts for
approximately 66% of the total responses, clearly indicating a community leaning towards digital and online
modes of communication.

Traditional Methods Still Valued: Despite the digital trend, a significant number of residents (40 responses,
about 25%) still prefer Direct Mail and Community Boards. This suggests the importance of maintaining a
hybrid communication strategy that includes both digital and traditional elements.

Lesser Utilized Methods: Phone Communications and In-person Communications were less favored, with 10
and 5 responses respectively (constituting about 6% and 3% of the total responses). Traditional Media, like
newspapers, was the least preferred, with only 1 response.

Implications for Communication Strategy: The data indicates a clear need for the City of Aurora to prioritize
and strengthen its electronic communication channels, while also ensuring that traditional methods remain
active to cater to diverse resident preferences. This multifaceted approach is essential for inclusive and
effective community engagement.

Aligning with Current Trends: The overwhelming preference for electronic communications mirrors broader
societal trends towards digital media. The city's efforts to enhance and promote these channels will likely align
well with the community's evolving communication habits and expectations.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 4 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

In-Depth Look at Electronic Communications Preferences

Overview of Electronic Method Preferences
Some additional follow-up questions explored the specific electronic methods preferred by residents who
indicated a preference towards 'Electronic Communications' earlier in the survey:

Dominance of Email: The data shows a strong preference for Email updates, with 63 out of 107 respondents
(approximately 59%) choosing this method. This suggests that residents value the directness and accessibility
of email communications.

Social Media as a Key Channel: Social media emerged as the second most preferred electronic method,
chosen by 27 respondents (about 25%). This reflects the growing importance of social media as a tool for civic
engagement and information dissemination.

Text Messaging and Official Website: Text Messaging (10 responses) and the City's Official Website (7
responses) also feature as preferred methods, though to a lesser extent. These methods might appeal to
residents who seek instant updates or detailed information, respectively.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 5 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Detailed Analysis of Social Media Preferences
For residents who indicated a preference towards social media earlier in the survey, a further breakdown of
platform preferences was explored:

Facebook's Prominence: Facebook overwhelmingly dominates social media preferences, with 23 out of 26
respondents (about 88%) favoring it for city updates. This suggests that Facebook's wide reach and user base
make it a relevant platform for the city's communications.

Other Platforms: Instagram and Twitter were minimally preferred, with 2 and 1 responses respectively. While
their impact is currently limited, they could be valuable in reaching specific demographic groups or for specific
types of content.

Implications for City's Digital Strategy

Leveraging Email Effectively:With the strong preference for email, the city should ensure that email
communications are regular, clear, and informative. There's also an opportunity to explore how email content
can be tailored to different resident interests.

Strategic Social Media Use: Given the preference for Facebook, the city should prioritize this platform while
also maintaining a presence on other platforms like Instagram and Twitter to engage diverse audiences.

Incorporating Text and Website: Although less preferred, text messaging and the city's official website can
play specialized roles in the communication mix, like urgent alerts or detailed information hosting.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 6 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

In-Depth Look at Direct Mail and Community Board Preferences

Overview of Direct Mail and Community Board Preferences
An additional follow-up question examined the preferences of residents who selected 'Direct Mail and
Community Boards' as their favored communication method earlier in the survey:

Preference for City Newsletter: The City Newsletter stands out as the preferred medium, with 31 out of 40
respondents (approximately 78%) selecting it. This strong preference indicates that the newsletter is valued for
its comprehensive and structured format in delivering city updates.

Other Preferred Methods: Flyers received 6 responses, suggesting a moderate interest in more brief and
targeted communications. Bulletin Boards and Newspaper, with 2 and 1 responses respectively, indicate a
more niche appeal but are still relevant for certain segments of the community.

Implications for City's Communication Strategy

Emphasizing the City Newsletter: Given its popularity, the City Newsletter should be a focal point in the
direct mail strategy. Ensuring it is informative, accessible, and regularly distributed will align with the
community's preferences.

Utilizing Flyers and Bulletin Boards Effectively: Flyers can be used for more immediate or targeted
communications, while bulletin boards can serve as a constant source of information in communal spaces.

Role of Newspaper: Although less preferred, the newspaper can still play a role in reaching residents who rely
on traditional news sources.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 7 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Analysis of In-Person Communication Preferences

Limited but Valuable Interpersonal Interactions
Although only a small number of respondents (5 in total) preferred in-person communications, their
preferences offer valuable insights:

Neighbors and Word of Mouth:
The most common in-person
method, chosen by 3
respondents, was through
neighbors or word of mouth. This
highlights the role of community
networks and personal
interactions in disseminating
information.
Town Meetings: Two
respondents preferred town
meetings, indicating an interest in
formal, community-based
discussions for receiving
updates.
Implications:While not widely
preferred, in-person methods like
neighborhood interactions and
town meetings have a unique

place in fostering community engagement and direct dialogue. These methods could be particularly effective
for certain types of community outreach and for residents who value personal connection.

Analysis of Phone Communication Preferences

Uniform Preference for Text Messaging
Among those who preferred phone
communications, there was a
unanimous preference for Text
Messaging (SMS), with all 10
respondents choosing this method.

Implications: This clear
preference for text messaging
suggests that, for phone
communication, residents favor
quick, direct, and concise
information. Text messages could
be particularly useful for urgent
updates or reminders. The city
might consider incorporating SMS
into its communication toolkit for
specific purposes, keeping the
messages brief and to the point.
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Preferences for Communication Frequency

Overview of Frequency Preferences
The survey asked residents how often they would like to receive updates and news about Aurora, offering
several frequency options. The responses indicate varied preferences:

Monthly Updates Preferred: The most favored frequency is monthly, chosen by 82 out of 162 respondents
(approximately 51%). This preference suggests that residents desire regular but not overly frequent updates.

Weekly and Bimonthly Updates:Weekly updates were preferred by 46 respondents (about 28%), and
bimonthly updates by 19 respondents (about 12%), indicating a segment of the community who appreciates
more frequent news.

Urgent and Less Frequent Communications: A smaller group preferred updates only for urgent matters (8
responses), quarterly (4 responses), or yearly (3 responses), reflecting diverse needs and interests in the
frequency of communication.

Implications for City's Communication Plan

Balancing Frequency: The city should consider a tiered approach to communication frequency, with the bulk
of updates being monthly, supplemented by more frequent updates for those who prefer them.

Special Alerts: Ensuring mechanisms for urgent communications is crucial for those who prefer only to be
contacted for critical matters.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 9 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Topics of Interest in City Communications

Diverse Interests in City Information
Residents were asked to select topics of interest from the city, reflecting a range of priorities:

Top Interests: Community Events (152 selections) and Project Updates (143 selections) emerged as the most
important topics, showing strong community interest in local events and developments.

Other Key Topics: Emergency Alerts (130 selections), Road Closures (127 selections), and Utility
Notifications (123 selections) were also highly ranked, indicating a need for timely and practical information
that directly affects daily life.

Interest in City Government: City Government information was also of significant interest (96 selections),
suggesting an engaged citizenry keen on governance and civic processes.

Implications for Content Strategy
Prioritizing Content: The city should prioritize content related to community events and project updates in
their communications, given their high interest.

Diverse Content Mix: Including a mix of emergency alerts, utility notifications, and road closure information
will cater to the practical needs of residents.

Engagement in Governance: Information about city government should be made accessible and engaging to
foster civic engagement and transparency.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 10 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Preferred Methods for Sharing Feedback with the City

Overview of Feedback Preferences
The survey asked residents how they would prefer to communicate their thoughts or feedback to the City of
Aurora. The responses reveal a clear preference for digital communication, especially email:

Email as the Leading Channel: A substantial majority, 104 out of 184 respondents (approximately 57%),
prefer using Email. This emphasizes the importance of email as a convenient, accessible, and preferred
method for residents to share their feedback with the city.
Other Digital and Traditional Methods: The City's Official Website was the second most preferred method
(29 responses, about 16%), followed by the Suggestion Box / Night Drop Box at City Hall (27 responses,
around 15%). These methods provide alternative avenues for residents who may prefer anonymous or less
direct forms of feedback.
In-Person and Written Feedback: Fewer residents prefer more traditional or direct forms of feedback, such
as In-Person at City Hall (13 responses, 7%), Mailed Letters (6 responses, 3%), and Phone Calls (4
responses, 2%). These methods, while less popular, are crucial for a segment of the community who values
personal interaction or formal written communication.

Implications for Feedback Channels
Strengthening Email Communication: The city should ensure that the email channel for feedback is
user-friendly, prominently advertised, and efficiently managed, reflecting its status as the most preferred
feedback method.
Diverse Feedback Options: Maintaining a variety of feedback channels, including digital platforms and
traditional methods, is important to cater to different preferences within the community. Each channel should be
equally accessible and promoted as a viable option for sharing feedback.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 11 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Demographic Insights from Aurora Residents

Residency Duration in Aurora: Understanding how long residents have lived in Aurora can offer insights into
their connection with the community and
potentially their communication preferences:
Long-Term Residents: A significant portion
of the respondents, 103 out of 184 (about
56%), have lived in Aurora for more than 10
years, indicating a well-established resident
base.
Newer Residents: Those who have lived in
Aurora for 1-5 years and 6-10 years constitute
40 (approximately 22%) and 33 (around 18%)
of the responses, respectively. This shows a
considerable number of residents are
relatively newer to the community.
Recent Arrivals: A small group, 8
respondents (about 4%), have lived in Aurora
for less than a year, representing the freshest perspectives in the community.

Age Range of Respondents: The age range of survey participants helps in understanding the generational
diversity in Aurora and how it may affect
communication preferences.
Senior Residents: The largest age group
among respondents is 65+, with 53
responses, followed by the 55-64 age group
with 44 responses. Together, these groups
represent a significant portion (approximately
56%) of the survey participants, indicating a
mature resident demographic.
Middle-Aged and Young Adults: The 35-44
and 45-54 age groups make up 30 and 25
responses, respectively, while the 25-34 age
group has 15 responses. These groups
provide a middle-aged to young adult
perspective.
Younger Residents: The 18-24 age range,
with 5 responses, though small, represents the youngest adults in the community.

Implications for City Communication
Tailoring to Different Demographics: The city's communication strategy should consider these demographic
insights, tailoring content and methods to suit both long-term and newer residents, and across different age
groups.

Engaging a Diverse Community: Efforts should be made to engage all age groups, with particular attention
to methods and platforms that are more accessible and preferred by the older majority while also attracting
younger residents.

Cultural and Generational Sensitivity: Understanding the tenure of residents in Aurora can aid in culturally
and generationally sensitive communications, which can be particularly important for a city with a significant
proportion of long-term residents.

Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report 12 of 13
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Aurora 2023 Communications Survey Report - December 11, 2023

Resident Comments and Insights

The survey concluded with a final (optional) question, asking residents to share any open-ended feedback they
had related to the City of Aurora’s communications. A small subset of those comments are shared below, and
they reflect a range of perspectives, providing valuable insights into the community's views on city
communication. They offer a mix of praise, constructive criticism, and suggestions, illustrating the diverse
experiences and expectations of our residents:

“I really appreciate the Aurora Colony Times. I put it on my fridge as a reminder of upcoming events. I know paper
mailings are costly but for the low income & seniors in our community who may not have access to a computer or
the internet, mailings are a vital form of staying connected. Monthly or bi-monthly emails about community events,
meetings, alerts, etc., would also be an appreciated reminders of future events & meetings and a great way to get
the word out about happenings in Aurora. I love our little town and am grateful for all you do to make it the
wonderful place it is!”

“I am not on Facebook so e-mail is nice for alerts.”

“I realize that the City does not control newspaper print information, and television, and radio, which announce and
promote local events and activities. However, there may be an inexpensive way to communicate what is happening
in the City.”

“The water bill newsletter is excellent, except for its (in)frequency. More info more often, please!”

“This is just a thought….the Aurora FB group seems to have some “hot topics” that stir up debate. As these issues
come to the attention of the Aurora City Hall I think it would be helpful to post some accurate info for residents.
Example would be, people complain about the city water (usually when it’s yellow/brownish)…when this theme is
trending I think it would help everyone settle down/understand the situation of the City’s Maintenance weighed in to
explain why it’s off color (normal process at end of summer when well dry Etc) and offer their number to discuss
concerns further. I feel like getting ahead of these things save a lot of arguing/giving in accurate info to our town
page. Just a thought.”

“Would be open to receiving emails from City of Aurora.”

“I think it would be helpful to have more proactive communication about things that may happen that people can
expect and not be alarmed by, such as the railroad closure (it was posted on social media so that that good, but not
everyone has Facebook), or when the water is expected to maybe be discolored temporarily, etc. This could be
communicated in multiple ways so people are more likely to see it (social media, email, website, text message,
etc).”

“The most meaningful information is that which corrects mis-information.”

“Not everyone uses Facebook, so it's a poor communication mode.”

“More news about local businesses, construction projects, social events (e.g. Bingo) in newsletter.”

“For reaching Aurorans via traditional media, consider working with the Canby Herald/Woodburn Independent with a
weekly column. I'm guessing they may make that part of their paper free to view and not place it behind a paywall.
That way, we know where & when to find it. Twitter is also very helpful for immediacy, especially with emergencies or
urgent matters, like traffic issues.”

“Thanks for improving communication. I love living in Aurora!”

The City of Aurora values each of these comments, as they contribute to our understanding of how residents
engage with our communications and what they expect from us. We are committed to considering this
feedback as we continuously strive to improve our communication strategies and ensure that they meet the
needs of all Aurora residents.
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2024 Aurora Buildable Lands Inventory - Industrial

Tax Map Tax Lot Ind Acres Zone Use

Vacant 
Buildable 

Ind/Com Acres Redevelopment Potential Abuts RR Slope

National 
Wetland 
Inventory

Other 
Wetland Flood Plain

Primary 
Road 

Access
Drive Time to 

I-5 North
Drive Time to 

I-5 South

41W 13B 1100 2.17 Ind Application Submitted 0 Yes None None Hwy 99E

1200 1.99 Ind Application Submitted 1.6
±1.6 acres left undeveloped under 

submitted plan Yes None None Hwy 99E
1300 0.65 Ind Auto Mechanic 0 No None None Hwy 99E

1400 2.36 Ind & Com Application Submitted 1.5

±1.5 acres of the Com. portion 
undeveloped under current 

proposal No None None Hwy 99E
1600 0.66 Ind Manufacturing 0 No None None Hwy 99E
1700 1.66 Ind Manufacturing 0 No None None Hwy 99E
1702 2.48 Ind Manufacturing 0 Yes None None Hwy 99E

1800 1.45 Ind
Nonconforming SFR and 
accessory buildings 1.45 Yes None None Hwy 99E

41W 13C 100 5.71 Ind Warehouse 0 Yes None None Hwy 99E
200 5.59 Ind & Com Vacant 5.59 Yes None None Hwy 99E
300 7.54 Ind & Com Ag Buildings 0 Yes None None Hwy 99E

Total 10.14

Comp Plan

41W 13C 1900 0.1 Ind Vacant 0.1
No street access. Functionally part 

of TL 300 Yes None None Hwy 99E
41W 14D 1000 11.03 Ind & Com Ag Building 4 Yes None None Hwy 99E

900 2.85 Ind & Com

Potentially non 
conformating residential 
structures valued at 
$489,930. 1.85

1.85 acres disqualified from farm 
use per assessor info. Yes None None Hwy 99E

800 2.41 Ind SFR and Ag 2.41

Potentially the entire site if 
existing farm uses are converted 
to permitted uses under future I 

zoning Yes None None Hwy 99E

Subtotal 8.36

Commercial
Comp Plan

041W13B001400 2.36 Com Vacant 2.36

A portion is planned for a SW 
facility as part of an application in 
completeness review

041W13B002600 0.52 Com Vacant 0.52 Pre app held for Capital Market
041W13C000200 5.59 Com Vacant 5.59 Farm use no structures

Subtotal 8.47

Outside City Limits and Within UGB

Within City Limits
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041W13C000104 2.34 Ind/Com

Split zoned. No RMV for 
existing structures. 
Commercial portion 
unimproved. 2.34 2.34 acres

041W13C000600 1.05 Com
Nonconforming residence 
valued at $1,160 1.05 1.05 acres

Subtotal 3.39

Total 30.36
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CITY OF AURORA 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 848 

 
 

RESOLUTION FOR THE EXPECTED EXPENDITURE/PURCHASE  
OF A NEW HURCO VAC300D TRAILER - DIESEL 

 
WHEREAS, on June 13, 2023, The Aurora City Council Adopted the Fiscal Year 2023-
2024 Budget which included the expected purchase of a new vactor trailer for the Public 
Works Department and;  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter X, Section 5 of the City Charter requires that contractual 
obligations or expenditures of approved budgeted funds for a single purchase in excess of 
$15,000.00 shall be authorized by resolution and; 
 
WHEREAS, the quoted price for the purchase of a new Hurco Vac300D Vacuum Trailer 
- Diesel for the Public Works Department exceeds the $15,000.00 single purchase limit 
and was the lowest of three bids solicited for such purchase; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE AURORA CITY COUNCIL RESOLVES that the 
purchase of a new Hurco Vac300D Vacuum Trailer - Diesel with a purchase price not to 
exceed $60,000 is hereby approved. 
 
 
 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of December, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Brian Asher, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Stuart A. Rodgers, City Recorder  
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Thank you for the opportunity to quote on the following items.  Please call on me if I can be of any further 
assistance. 

                                                                                                                                       Total:         $53,085.00 

 

Dan Nelson 
Owen Equipment Company 
13101 NE Whitaker Way 
Portland, OR 97230 
dnelson@owenequipment.com  
(503) 388-0785 

 

  
  
   

 
 

 

Mark Gunter  
City of Aurora 
21420 Main St. 
Aurora, Or 97002 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Qty. Description Unit Price Total 

1 

Hurco Vac300D Vacuum Trailer – Diesel 
 
300 Gallon 37HP Kohler Gas Vacuum. 300 Gallon Debris Tank, 
95 Gallon Fresh Water Tanks, With High CFM Blower 840CFM @ 
14hg $38,590.00 $38,590.00 

1 

Spin Doctor SD400 Boom.  
Vertically aligned boom with up to 400 ft lbs of torque.  
 $7,670.00 $7,670.00 

    
1 Pressure Washer Hose Reel – Auto Recoil $505.00 $505.00 
1 Light Bar with Control Box $330.00 $330.00 

1 
Manual Hose Jib for 300 Gallon Vacuum.  
 $990.00 $990.00 

       Sub Total: $48,085.00 
Terms: Net 30 days, Quote Good for 60 Days 
*****TAX NOT INCLUDED IN PRICE***** Shipping: $5,000.00 
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Ring-O-Matic 350VLX 

 
 

 
 
350VLX - 350 Gallon Spoils Tank & 100 Gallon Water Capacity, 31 HP Gasoline OHV 2-cylinder 
electric start air-cooled engine with 600 CFM Positive Displacement Blower, 3000psi 4.9 gpm water 
pump, lockable engine enclosure, standard silencer package, hydraulic tank hoist, hydraulic full 
opening rear door(spider lock), 25' x 3" suction hose, 50' x 3/8" high pressure hose & reel, wash gun, 
5 gallon winterize kit, 5' rotary pothole lance and 6' vacuum tube with removable lawn sweep Base 
Machine on a Single-Axle 7,500 lb GVWR trailer 
Sourcewell:  $49,272      (MSRP $54,747) 
 
Options:  
 
Power Jack - Electric 8,000 lb - 16 inch stroke 
Sourcewell: $1,544    (MSRP $1,715) 
 
Traffic Director - 8 Function Traffic Director Slimline LED Light Bar 
Sourcewell:  $2,309    (MSRP $2,566)  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Total: $53,125* 
 

 
 
 

*Shipping Not Included, Ring-O-Matic Not Responsible for Duties or Taxes 
 

 

 

City of Aurora 

21420 Main Street 
Aurora, OR 97002 

May 26, 2023 
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Estimate
Date

8/28/2023

Estimate #

9907

Name / Address

City of Aurora

Spokane Valley, WA. 99212

Rep

GCY

Phone #

509-922-1300

Total

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (0.0%)

Item Description Qty Rate Total

Street Equipment Dyna Vac Vacuum only trailer mount unit;

Debris tank
* 350 Gallon Capacity
* 42” Diameter, 3/16” Steel Construction with Flanged and Dished Heads
* 6” Primary Shut-Off with Stainless Steel Float Ball
* Full Power Opening Rear Door with Stainless Steel T-Bolt Latches
* Hydraulic Door Opener
* Hydraulic Dump Tank with Twin Cylinder Hoist for 45deg Dump Angle
* 3” Suction Inlet with Lever Gate Valve
* 4” Discharge with Lever Gate Valve
* (3) 2” Level Site Eyes
* Hose Hooks

Vacuum Pump System
* Roots URAI 56 Vacuum Pump
* 500CFM Vacuum up to 14in-hg 
* High Efficiency Exhaust Silencer w/ Rain Cap
* Cyclonic Inlet Air Filtration System with Pleated Wire Element
* Easy Opening Hatch on Filter Housing, No Tools Required
* Stainless Steel, Liquid Filled Vacuum Gauge

Engine
* 24HP Gas Engine with electric Start

1 59,462.80 59,462.80T
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Estimate
Date

8/28/2023

Estimate #

9907

Name / Address

City of Aurora

Spokane Valley, WA. 99212

Rep

GCY

Phone #

509-922-1300

Total

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (0.0%)

Item Description Qty Rate Total

* Battery with Battery Box
* V-Belt Drive with Tensioner
* Belt Guard

High Pressure Water System (General #TS1711)
* 3GPM, 3000PSI Triplex Water Pump
* Belt Drive w/Clutch
* 3/8”x50ft Spring Rewind Hose Reel 
* High Pressure Trigger Gun
* 60” Lance Extensions
* 100 Gallon Poly Water Tank with 1.5” Drain
* Adjustable Pressure Relief Valve
* Liquid Filled 0-5000psi Gauge
* Air Blow Off Valve

Trailer
* 8,000lb Tandem Axle Trailer 
* 4”x2” Tubular Steel Construction
* Torsion Axles with Electric Brakes
* 16.5” Load Range E Tires with Steel Spoked Wheels
* 5,000lb Drop Leg Tongue Jack
* Adjustable Height 2 5/16” Coupler
* Steel Fenders
* Break Away Safety Switch

Page 2
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Estimate
Date

8/28/2023

Estimate #

9907

Name / Address

City of Aurora

Spokane Valley, WA. 99212

Rep

GCY

Phone #

509-922-1300

Total

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (0.0%)

Item Description Qty Rate Total

* Safety Chains

Hydraulic System
* Electric/Hydraulic Power Unit with 1 Gallon Reservoir and Remote Pendant
Control
* Selector Switch for Dump and Door

Accessories
* Amber Strobe
* Overhead Work Lights
* 3”x60” PVC Suction Tube with Cam lock Fittings
* Tube Storage Rack
* Tongue Mounted Storage Boxes, 13”x14”x36”
* 3”x30ft Vacuum Hose

Control Panel, Curb Side
  * Weather tight Enclosure

* 2 LED Work Lights
* LED Strobe
* Pendant Receptacle
* Tank Dump Up/Down
* Rear Door Open/Close

Finish

Page 3
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Estimate
Date

8/28/2023

Estimate #

9907

Name / Address

City of Aurora

Spokane Valley, WA. 99212

Rep

GCY

Phone #

509-922-1300

Total

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (0.0%)

Item Description Qty Rate Total

* All Fabricated Steel Components Sandblasted
* 2 Coats High Build Epoxy Primer
* 2 Coats Urethane High Gloss Finish, White or Charcoal Gray

Warranty
* 1 Year Standard Warranty on all fabricated parts
* 1 Year Engine Warranty
* 18 Month Vacuum Pump Warranty

Freight Estimate FREIGHT IS NOT INCLUDED -  ACTUAL FREIGHT CHARGES WILL BE
INVOICED

1 0.00 0.00T

Page 4

$59,462.80

$59,462.80

$0.00
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RESOLUTION NO. 849 

CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 

A RESOLUTION FOR THE RECOGNITION OF THE NORTH MARION  
HIGH SCHOOL GIRL’S SOCCER TEAM AS 2023 CHAMPIONSHIP WINNERS 

 
WHEREAS the North Marion High School Huskies Girls Soccer Team was well-roundedly 
prepared for the OSAA 4A girls soccer state championships held on Saturday, November 11, at 
Liberty High School in Hillsboro, Oregon at a matchup against the top-ranked Marist Catholic 
Spartans, with senior goalkeeper Kira Bonser leading the team to victory after multiple shootouts 
by blocking a penalty kick from the opposing team following a double overtime period with the 
final score of 5-4, sealing the 2023 championship for North Marion in a 15-3 (win-loss) season; 
  
Whereas the Varsity team roster included the following team members (with jersey numbers) 
supporting North Marion soccer’s bid for a 2023 state championship: Hannah Jones (2), Vanessa 
Valenzuela (3), Victoria Valenzuela (4), Bethany Dunn (5), Yesenia Delgado (6), Fia Swanson 
(7), Isabel Doubrava (8), Caile Lader (9), Chloe Comerford (10), Callie Cutsforth (11), Melanie 
Kirstein (12), Rylee Wachter (14), Paige Comerford (16), Anahi Medina (17), Addyson Smith 
(18), Abby Hubbard (19), Kira Bonser (20), Eva Coulombe (21), Yaritza Ordonez Ordonez (22), 
Domnikka Lyon (23/13) with Head Coach as Ben Bonser and Assistant Coaches as Alyssa Cha-
Whatcott, Mike Lader, and Rafael Pelaez; 
  
Whereas Caile Lader was honorably mentioned as the 2023 Oregon West Conference co-player 
of the year; 
 
Whereas the North Marion High School Huskies Girls Soccer Team was recognized in the news 
media through the link below and the North Marion School District’s website/social media: 
  
https://www.youroregonnews.com/sports/north-marion-girls-soccer-captures-first-state-title-in-
program-history/article_a337265b-9904-58d5-99b2-d5afe50b7377.html  
  
htps://www.nmarion.k12.or.us/district/page/congratula�ons-north-marion-girls-soccer  
 
Be it resolved that the City of Aurora congratulates the outstanding achievement of the North 
Marion Huskies Girls Soccer Team in taking home the program’s first OSAA state title; 
 
This Resolution adopted by the Aurora City Council and approved by Mayor Brian Asher this 
day of December 12, 2023. 
 
Brian Asher, Mayor: __________________________ 

 

ATTEST: ___________________________________ 

 
Credit: Woodburn Independent Article (above-linked) by Elias Esquivel used to draft resolution 
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RESOLUTION NUMBER 850 
 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING UPDATED  
2023 WASTEWATER FACILITIES PLANNING STUDY (WWFPS) 

 
  
 WHEREAS, the Aurora City Council contracted with City Engineer Keller Associates of Salem, 
Oregon to perform a Wastewater Facilities Planning Study (WWFPS), and the Aurora City Council accepted by 
Resolution 835, dated April 11, 2023, the WWFPS submitted at that time; 
 

WHEREAS, the study submitted to Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) in November 2023 
includes the following updates or changes: 
 

• Section 4.2.3  
A sentence was added stating that an antidegradation study would be required with this alternative.  

• Section 4.2.4 
A statement was added saying that a cover on both the existing and new lagoons was considered, but the 
decrease in volume will not outweigh the cost of the cover. 

• Section 4.2.4 
A statement was added mentioning the exemption in OAR 340-055 for using wastewater treatment plant 
(WWTP) effluent for landscape irrigation or in plant processes so long as the water is oxidized and 
disinfected, the irrigation is contained within the WWTP property where it is generated, spray or drift 
does not occur off the site, and public access is restricted.  

• Section 5, Table 5-2 
A note about the antidegradation study required as part of the Year-Round Discharge alternative was 
added to the table. 

• Section 6.3 
A statement was added saying that a permit modification is anticipated to show the improvements noted 
in the WWFPS.  

• Appendix A 
A boundary around the WWTP was added onto the maps. 

 
NOW THEREFORE THE CITY OF AURORA HEREBY RESOLVES to accept the Wastewater Facilities 
Planning Study of 2023 with the above-referenced updates or changes as submitted by Keller Associates and as 
approved by Oregon DEQ; 
  
APPROVED by the Aurora City Council at its regular scheduled meeting on the 12th day of December 2023. 
   
 
              
          Brian Asher - Mayor      
ATTEST: 
      
Stuart A. Rodgers - City Recorder  
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FIGURE 2-1:  WWTP EFFLUENT BOD5 CONCENTRATIONS (MONTHLY) 

FIGURE 2-2:  WWTP EFFLUENT BOD5 CONCENTRATIONS (WEEKLY) 
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FIGURE 2-3:  WWTP EFFLUENT BOD5 PERCENT REMOVAL (MONTHLY) 

FIGURE 2-4:  WWTP EFFLUENT BOD5 LOADING (AVERAGE MONTHLY) 
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FIGURE 2-5:  WWTP EFFLUENT BOD5 LOADING (AVERAGE WEEKLY) 

FIGURE 2-6:  WWTP EFFLUENT BOD5 LOADING (DAILY MAXIMUM) 
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FIGURE 2-7:  WWTP EFFLUENT TSS CONCENTRATIONS (MONTHLY) 

FIGURE 2-8:  WWTP EFFLUENT TSS CONCENTRATIONS (WEEKLY) 

102 of 329



NOVEMBER 2023 | WWTP FACILITY PLANNING STUDY 

City of Aurora | KA 222041-008                   2 - 13

FIGURE 2-9:  WWTP EFFLUENT TSS PERCENT REMOVAL (MONTHLY) 

FIGURE 2-10:  WWTP EFFLUENT TSS LOADING (AVERAGE MONTHLY) 
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FIGURE 2-11:  WWTP EFFLUENT TSS LOADING (AVERAGE WEEKLY) 

FIGURE 2-12:  WWTP EFFLUENT TSS LOADING (DAILY MAXIMUM) 
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FIGURE 2-13:  WWTP EFFLUENT E. COLI BACTERIA (MONTHLY) 

FIGURE 2-14:  WWTP EFFLUENT E. COLI BACTERIA (DAILY) 
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FIGURE 2-15:  WWTP EFFLUENT PH (DAILY) 

FIGURE 2-16:  WWTP EFFLUENT TOTAL CHLORINE (MONTHLY) 
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FIGURE 2-17:  WWTP EFFLUENT TOTAL CHLORINE (DAILY) 

FIGURE 2-18:  WWTP EFFLUENT TOTAL COLIFORM (DAILY) 
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FIGURE 3-1:  2017-2021 DAILY FLOW AND PRECIPITATION 

TABLE 3-2:  ANNUAL PEAK DAY FLOW/AVERAGE BASE FLOW 
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FIGURE 3-2:  FLOW VS RAINFALL (MMDWF10 AND MMWWF5) 

TABLE 3-4:  FLOW VS RAINFALL (MMDWF10 AND MMWWF5) 
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FIGURE 3-3:  FLOW VS RAINFALL (PDAF5) 
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

FIGURE 3-4:  WWTP INFLUENT BOD5 CONCENTRATIONS 

FIGURE 3-5:  WWTP INFLUENT BOD5 LOADING – MONTHLY AVERAGE 
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TABLE 3-5:  SUMMARY OF INFLUENT BOD5 DATA 



120 of 329



NOVEMBER 2023 | WWTP FACILITY PLANNING STUDY 

CITY OF AURORA | KA 222041-008                   3 - 10

FIGURE 3-6:  WWTP INFLUENT TSS CONCENTRATIONS 

FIGURE 3-7:  WWTP INFLUENT TSS LOADING – MONTHLY AVERAGE 
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TABLE 3-6:  SUMMARY OF INFLUENT TSS DATA 

TABLE 3-7:  INFLUENT LOADING PROJECTIONS 



122 of 329



NOVEMBER 2023 | WWTP FACILITY PLANNING STUDY 

CITY OF AURORA | KA 222041-008                   3 - 12

TABLE 3-8 INFLUENT LOADING ASSUMPTIONS 

TABLE 3-9 PROJECTED INFLUENT LOADS (PPD) 



FIGURE 3-8 WWTP INFLUENT TEMPERATURES 
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TABLE 4-1: 20-YEAR (2043) WWTP PLANNING CRITERIA 
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FIGURE 4-1: SBR CYCLE STEPS 
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FIGURE 4-2: SBR PROCESS SCHEMATIC 
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FIGURE 4-3: MBR PROCESS SCHEMATIC 
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FIGURE 4-4: EXTENDED AERATION ACTIVATED SLUDGE 
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FIGURE 4-5: SLUDGE DEWATERING BAGS 
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FIGURE 4-6: SCREW PRESS 
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CHAPTER 5 - SELECTION OF AN ALTERNATIVE 

TABLE 5-1: EFFLUENT DISPOSAL ALTERNATIVES COST COMPARISON 
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TABLE 5-2: EFFLUENT DISPOSAL ALTERNATIVES EVALUATION  

Alternative Advantages Disadvantages

4.1.2 Summer 
Farmland or 

Storage / Winter 
Discharge (Status 

Quo) 

4.1.2 a 

• Similar to current operator 
involvement with land application. 

• Construction is difficult on the existing 
WWTP site. 

• Requires additional land for new storage 
lagoon.  

• Can be difficult to purchase additional land 
close to the WWTP. 

4.1.2 b 

• Does not require the purchase of 
new land.  

• Less effort for the operator since 
there is no land application. 

• Additional storage would be needed. 
• Construction is difficult on the existing 

WWTP site. 
 

4.1.2 c 

• Does not require additional storage.  • Requires additional land for land 
application.  

• Can be difficult to purchase additional land 
close to the WWTP. 

• Land application increases which requires 
more operator involvement. 

4.1.3 Year-Round 
Discharge 

• Eliminates the need for land 
application and increasing the 
effluent storage.  

• Requires expensive treatment; treatment 
likely needed for ammonia, phosphorus, 
and temperature.  

• Requires an antidegradation study and 
possibly more stringent limits. 

 4.1.4 Summer Farmland 
Application/Winter 
Storage 

• Permit requirements are less 
stringent than requirements for 
discharging to the Pudding River. 

• Requires additional land for farmland 
application and winter storage.   

• Can be difficult to purchase additional land 
close to the WWTP.  
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TABLE 5-3: EFFLUENT DISPOSAL ALTERNATIVES IMPACTS 

Environmental 
Criteria 

Alternative 4.1.2 Alternative 4.1.3 Alternative 4.1.4 
Summer Farmland or Storage/Winter Discharge (Status Quo) Year-Round 

Discharge 
Summer Farmland 
Application/Winter 

Storage 4.1.2. a 4.1.2. b 4.1.2. c 
Climate / 
Physical 
Aspects 

(topography / 
geology / and 

soils) 

No permanent 
adverse impacts 

No permanent 
adverse impacts 

No permanent 
adverse impacts 

No permanent 
adverse impacts 

No permanent 
adverse impacts 

Land Use 
Change in the land 

use for the new 
storage lagoon 

No change in land 
use outside of the 

WWTP 

More land would 
be purchased, but 
farmed so land use 

does not change 

No impact on land 
use outside of 

WWTP 

Change in the land 
use for the new 
storage lagoon 

Floodplain 
Development No known impact No known impact No known impact No known impact No known impact 

Wetlands and 
Water Quality No known impact No known impact No adverse impact  

More stringent 
requirements 

would be in place 
No discharge into 
the Pudding River 

Wild and Scenic 
Rivers No adverse impact No adverse impact No adverse impact No adverse impact No adverse impact 

Cultural 
Resources No known impact No known impact No known impact No known impact No known impact 

Flora & Fauna No adverse impact  No adverse impact  No adverse impact  No adverse impact No adverse impact 
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TABLE 5-4: WASTEWATER TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES COST COMPARISON 
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TABLE 5-5: WASTEWATER TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES EVALUATION  

Alternative Advantages Disadvantages

SBR • No clarifier or RAS pumping required. 
• Lowest overall energy consumption. 
• Operator flexibility to make process changes. 

• More complex control than extended aeration 
activated sludge. 

MBR 
• Highest quality effluent of the alternatives.  
• Smallest footprint. 
• Does not require clarifiers. 

• Highest O&M costs. 
• Requires high level of screening (pretreatment). 
• Requires a large amount of recycle pumping. 

 

 Extended 
Aeration 
Activated 

Sludge 

• Highest number of equipment manufacturers 
– most competitive bid prices. 

• Limited flexibility to adapt to permit changes. 
• Higher capital and O&M cost than SBR.  
• Largest footprint. 

TABLE 5-6: WASTEWATER TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES IMPACTS 

Environmental Criteria 
Alternative 4.2.1 Alternative 4.2.2 Alternative 4.2.3 

Sequencing Batch Reactor Membrane Bioreactor  Activated Sludge 
Climate / Physical 

Aspects (topography / 
geology / and soils) 

No permanent adverse impacts No permanent adverse impacts No permanent adverse impacts 

Land Use Will increase land use 
opportunities 

Will increase land use 
opportunities 

Will increase land use 
opportunities 

Floodplain Development No impact No impact No impact 

Wetlands and Water 
Quality No adverse impact No adverse impact No adverse impact 

Wild and Scenic Rivers No adverse impact No adverse impact No adverse impact 

Cultural Resources 
Impact unlikely because 

construction will be in 
previously disturbed land 

Impact unlikely because 
construction will be in 

previously disturbed land 

Impact unlikely because 
construction will be in 

previously disturbed land 

Flora & Fauna No adverse impact No adverse impact No adverse impact 
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TABLE 5-7: SOLIDS HANDLING ALTERNATIVES COST COMPARISON 
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TABLE 5-8: SOLIDS HANDLING ALTERNATIVES EVALUATION  

Alternative Advantages Disadvantages

4.3.1 Sludge Dewatering 
Bags (Status Quo) 

• Process is already in place. 
• Operator familiarity. 
• Little power consumption. 

• Least effective dewatering – highest 
hauling costs.

• Highest O&M costs.
• Freezing concerns. 
• Potential for odors. 
• Disposal is labor intensive. 

4.3.2 Screw Press 
Dewatering

• Smallest footprint. 
• Not impacted by weather. 
•  

• Requires building.

4.3.3 Sludge Treatment and 
Dewatering

• Not impacted by weather. 
• Low odors. 
• Removal of small solids – best 

dewatering performance. 
• Low speed equipment. 
• Provides flexibility for disposal. 

 

• Highest capital costs – requires 
building.

• Highest polymer consumption. 
 

 TABLE 5-9: SOLIDS HANDLING ALTERNATIVES IMPACTS 

Environmental Criteria 
Alternative 4.3.1 Alternative 4.3.2 Alternative 4.3.3 

Sludge Dewatering Bags 
(Status Quo) Screw Press Dewatering Sludge Treatment and 

Dewatering 
Climate / Physical 

Aspects (topography / 
geology / and soils) 

No permanent adverse 
impacts 

No permanent adverse 
impacts 

No permanent adverse 
impacts 

Land Use No impact Will take up land on treatment 
site. 

Will take up land on 
treatment site. 

Floodplain Development No impact No impact No impact 
Wetlands and Water 

Quality No adverse impact  No adverse impact No adverse impact 

Wild and Scenic Rivers No adverse impact No adverse impact No adverse impact 

Cultural Resources No impact 
Impact unlikely because 

construction will be in 
previously disturbed land 

Impact unlikely because 
construction will be in 

previously disturbed land 

Flora & Fauna No adverse impact  No adverse impact No adverse impact 
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CHAPTER 6 - PROPOSED PROJECTS 
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TABLE 6-1:  6-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
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TABLE 6-2:  20-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
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TABLE 6-3:  USER RATE IMPACT 
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TABLE 6-4:  SHORT-LIVED ASSETS 
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CHAPTER 7 - CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

150 of 329



151 of 329



EH
LE

N

MAIN

HIG
HWAY

 99
E

HUBBARD CUT OFF

OAK

LIBERTY

BOONES FERRY

O
TT

AW
AY

KEIL

KAHLE

PA
R

K

AIRPORT

FILBERT

COLE

W
IS

TE
R

IA

TH
IR

D

YUKONB
O

B
'S

LAUREL

MILL
 R

ACE

KASEL

SAYRE

ERICA

SE
C

O
N

D

CODY

YOSEMITE

WALNUT

FO
U

R
TH

OR
CH

AR
DS
M

IT
H

YAKIMA

UNNAMED

FI
R

ST

LL
O

YD
S

S
E

A
L 

R
O

C
K

MARTIN

CAMELLIA

CEDAR

P
U

B
LI

C

COYOTE

UM
BE

NH
OW

ER

H
EM

LO
C

K

E
S

P
E

R
A

N
TO

P
U

B
LI

C  S
ou

rc
e:

 E
sr

i, 
D

ig
ita

lG
lo

be
, G

eo
E

ye
, E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S

, U
S

D
A

, U
S

G
S

, A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

¯

Land Use and Zoning

Wastewater Facilities Planning Study

Le
ge

nd
U

rb
an

 G
ro

w
th

 B
ou

nd
ar

y

C
ity

 L
im

its

W
W

TP
 B

ou
nd

ar
y

Ta
xl

ot
s

Zo
ni

ng

C
om

m
er

ci
al

Fl
oo

d 
H

az
ar

d

In
du

st
ria

l

Lo
w

 D
en

si
ty

 R
es

id
en

tia
l

M
od

er
at

e 
D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

SP
LI

T

U
rb

an
 T

ra
ns

iti
on

 F
ar

m
0

1,
00

0
2,

00
0

50
0

Fe
et

Figure 1

City of Aurora, OR
May 2019

152 of 329



11
0

120

10
0

90

130

140

150

170

160

18
0

19
0

180

140

90

11
0

18
0

16
0

150

120

150

16
0

100

10
0

160

190

100

15
0

15
0

110

150

11
0

10
0

110

150

100

140

170

10
0

180

19
0

190

160

100

90

10
0

110

17
0

110

18
0

90

10
0

18
0

100

12
0

90

10
0

10
0

10
0

160

150

90

160

18
0

140

11
0

10
0

13
0

100

16
0

16
0

90

16
0160

100

100

16
0 150

10
0

100 100

15
0

100

150

110

100

11
0

100

160

11
0

10
0

140

180

17
0

90

190

10
0

100

15
0

10
0

16
0

100

100
17

0

19
0

160

90

160

100

100

100

10
0

10
0

11
0

160

190

100

160

100

10
0

150

150

100

90

100

120

10
0

100

100

15
0

10
0

10
0

100

10
0

19
0

10
0

100

10
0

15
0

100

11
0

100

100

100

19
0

10
0

100

10010
0

11
0

100

19
0

100

11
0

100

160

100

130

17
0

10
0

100

160

10
0

160

10
0

16
0

100

13
0

100

190

100

100

150

110

150

140

160

100

18
0

18
0

90

150

13
0

90

15
0

90

100

10
0

140

90

12
0

15
0

10
0

10
0

15
0

10
0

130

11
0

90

13
0

15
0

160

100

18
0

10
0

100

100

13
0

170

11
0

10
0

17
0

110

100

150

160

100

15
0

15
0

100

170

100

130

160

90

11
0

10
0

11
0

100

15
0

16
0

160

150

100

170

10
0

18
0

90

100

100

100

18
0

100

10
0

10
0

150

170

10
0

16
0

15
0

11
0

14
0

100

110

140

10
0

10
0

12
0

13
0

130

17
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

150

90

90

100

15
0

150

100

100

16
0

10090

190

10
0

16
0

10
0

16
0

100

100

110

100

150

90

110

100

10
0

14
0

170

14
0

130

10
0

180

160

18
0

100

10
0

100

100

100

10
0

10
0

100

10
0

14
0

140

100

90

15
0

10
0

90

100

14
0

14
0

18
0

EH
LE

N

MAIN

HIG
HWAY

 99
E

HUBBARD CUT OFF

OAK

LIBERTY

BOONES FERRY

O
TT

AW
AY

KEIL

KAHLE

PA
R

K

AIRPORT

FILBERT

COLE

W
IS

TE
R

IA

TH
IR

D

YUKON

B
O

B
'S

LAUREL

MILL RACE

KASEL

SAYRE

ERICA

SE
C

O
N

D

CODY

YOSEMITE

WALNUT

FO
U

R
TH

S
M

IT
H

YAKIMA

UNNAMED

FI
R

ST

LL
O

YD
S

S
E

A
L 

R
O

C
K

MARTIN

P
U

B
LI

C

UM
BE

NH
OW

ER

E
S

P
E

R
A

N
TO

 S
ou

rc
e:

 E
sr

i, 
D

ig
ita

lG
lo

be
, G

eo
E

ye
, E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S

, U
S

D
A

, U
S

G
S

, A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

¯

Le
ge

nd
U

rb
an

 G
ro

w
th

 B
ou

nd
ar

y

C
ity

 L
im

its

W
W

TP
 B

ou
nd

ar
y

10
 ft

 C
on

to
ur

s

50
0 

Ye
ar

 F
lo

od
pl

ai
n

10
0 

Ye
ar

 F
lo

od
pl

ai
n

0
1,

00
0

2,
00

0
50

0
Fe

et

Floodplains and Topography

Wastewater Facilities Planning Study

Figure 2

City of Aurora, OR
May 2019

153 of 329



Flood Insurance Rate Map

Wastewater Facilities Planning Study

Figure 2.A

City of Aurora, OR
May 2019

154 of 329



MillCreek

Pud
din

g Rive
r

Se
ne

ca
lC

re
ek

D
ee

rC
re

ek

EH
LE

N

MAIN

HIG
HWAY

99
E

HUBBARDCUTOFF

OAK

LIBERTY

BOONESFERRY

O
TT

AW
AY

KEIL

KAHLE

PA
R

K

AIRPORT

FILBERT

COLE

W
IS

TE
R

IA

TH
IR

D

YUKONB
O

B
'S

LAUREL

MILL
RACE

KASEL

SAYRE

ERICA

SE
C

O
N

D

CODY

YOSEMITE

WALNUT

FO
U

R
TH

OR
CH

AR
DS
M

IT
H

YAKIMA

UNNAMED

FI
R

ST

LL
O

YD
S

S
E

A
L

R
O

C
K

MARTIN

CAMELLIA

CEDAR

P
U

B
LI

C

COYOTE

UM
BE

NH
OW

ER

H
EM

LO
C

K

E
S

P
E

R
A

N
TO

P
U

B
LI

C S
ou

rc
e:

E
sr

i,
D

ig
ita

lG
lo

be
,G

eo
E

ye
,E

ar
th

st
ar

G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

,C
N

E
S

/A
irb

us
D

S
,U

S
D

A
,U

S
G

S
,A

er
oG

R
ID

,I
G

N
,a

nd
th

e
G

IS
U

se
rC

om
m

un
ity

¯

Le
ge

nd
U

rb
an

G
ro

w
th

B
ou

nd
ar

y

C
ity

Li
m

its

W
W

TP
B

ou
nd

ar
y

R
iv

er
s

W
ET

LA
N

D
_T

Y

Fr
es

hw
at

er
E

m
er

ge
nt

W
et

la
nd

Fr
es

hw
at

er
Fo

re
st

ed
/S

hr
ub

W
et

la
nd

Fr
es

hw
at

er
P

on
d

R
iv

er
in

e
0

1,
00

0
2,

00
0

50
0

Fe
et

WetlandsandRivers

WastewaterFacilitiesPlanningStudy

Figure4

CityofAurora,OR
May2019

3

155 of 329



EH
LE

N

MAIN

HIG
HWAY

 99
E

HUBBARD CUT OFF

OAK

LIBERTY

BOONES FERRY

O
TT

AW
AY

KEIL

KAHLE

PA
R

K

AIRPORT

FILBERT

COLE

W
IS

TE
R

IA

TH
IR

D

YUKONB
O

B
'S

LAUREL

MILL
 R

ACE

KASEL

SAYRE

ERICA

SE
C

O
N

D

CODY

YOSEMITE

WALNUT

FO
U

R
TH

OR
CH

AR
DS
M

IT
H

YAKIMA

UNNAMED

FI
R

ST

LL
O

YD
S

S
E

A
L 

R
O

C
K

MARTIN

CAMELLIA

CEDAR

P
U

B
LI

C

COYOTE

UM
BE

NH
OW

ER

H
EM

LO
C

K

E
S

P
E

R
A

N
TO

P
U

B
LI

C  S
ou

rc
e:

 E
sr

i, 
D

ig
ita

lG
lo

be
, G

eo
E

ye
, E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S

, U
S

D
A

, U
S

G
S

, A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

¯

Le
ge

nd
U

rb
an

 G
ro

w
th

 B
ou

nd
ar

y

C
ity

 L
im

its

W
W

TP
 B

ou
nd

ar
y

So
il 

Ty
pe

Al
oh

a 
si

lt 
lo

am
, 0

 to
 3

 p
er

ce
nt

 s
lo

pe
s

Am
ity

 s
ilt

 lo
am

C
an

de
rly

 s
an

dy
 lo

am
, 3

 to
 8

 p
er

ce
nt

 s
lo

pe
s

C
he

ha
lis

 s
ilt

y 
cl

ay
 lo

am

C
lo

qu
at

o 
si

lt 
lo

am

C
on

co
rd

 s
ilt

 lo
am

D
ay

to
n 

si
lt 

lo
am

H
um

aq
ue

pt
s,

 p
on

de
d

La
to

ur
el

l l
oa

m

M
cB

ee
 v

ar
ia

nt
 lo

am

N
ew

be
rg

 fi
ne

 s
an

dy
 lo

am

N
ew

be
rg

 lo
am

Te
rr

ac
e 

es
ca

rp
m

en
ts

W
ap

at
o 

si
lty

 c
la

y 
lo

am

W
illa

m
et

te
 s

ilt
 lo

am

W
oo

db
ur

n 
si

lt 
lo

am

Xe
ro

ch
re

pt
s 

an
d 

H
ap

lo
xe

ro
lls

, v
er

y 
st

ee
p

0
1,

00
0

2,
00

0
50

0
Fe

et

Soils Classification

Wastewater Facilities Planning Study

Figure 3

City of Aurora, OR
May 2019

4

156 of 329



3 
to

 5
 A

cr
es

 A
va

ila
bl

e
fo

r A
dd

iti
on

al
 L

an
d 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n

3 
A

cr
es

 o
f 

La
nd

 A
pp

lic
at

io
n

W
W

TP
 O

ffi
ce

C
he

m
ic

al
St

or
ag

e 
Sh

ed
s

C
hl

or
in

e 
C

on
ta

ct
 B

as
in

R
iv

er
 P

um
p 

St
at

io
n/

Irr
ig

at
io

n 
Pu

m
p 

St
at

io
n

R
et

ur
n

Pu
m

p
St

at
io

n

Ef
flu

en
t C

om
po

si
te

Sa
m

pl
er

Sl
ud

ge
 T

ra
ns

fe
r

St
at

io
n

Se
ttl

in
g

C
el

ls

B
lo

w
er

B
ui

ld
in

g

A
er

at
io

n 
B

as
in

A
er

at
io

n 
C

el
ls

C
on

tr
ol

 B
ui

ld
in

g
an

d 
In

flu
en

t
C

om
po

si
te

 S
am

pl
er

In
flu

en
t S

cr
ee

n
Ef

flu
en

t
St

or
ag

e
La

go
on

La
nd

A
pp

lic
at

io
n

Si
te

Document Path: J:\215120 Aurora\Task 1 - WWFPS\GIS\Existing WWTP Layout.mxd

Ü
0

15
0

30
0

75
Fe

et

E
xi

st
in

g
 W

W
T

P
 L

a
yo

u
t

W
a

st
e

w
at

e
r 

F
a

c
ili

ti
e

s 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 S

tu
d

y

F
ig

u
re

 5

C
ity

 o
f A

ur
or

a,
 O

R
M

ay
 2

01
9

157 of 329



In
flu

en
t

In
flu

en
t

Fl
ow

 M
et

er In
flu

en
t

C
om

po
si

te
 S

am
pl

erIn
flu

en
t

Sc
re

en
Ae

ra
tio

n
C

el
ls

Se
ttl

in
g

C
el

ls

Ae
ra

tio
n 

Ba
si

n
Ef

flu
en

t S
to

ra
ge

La
go

on
Ef

flu
en

t
Fl

ow
 M

et
er

M

M
od

ul
at

in
g

Fl
ow

 C
on

tro
l

Va
lv

e

Fi
lte

r

By
pa

ss

W
W

TP
 O

ffi
ce

C
hl

or
in

e
C

on
ta

ct
Ba

si
n

Ef
flu

en
t

C
om

po
si

te
 S

am
pl

er

R
iv

er
 P

um
p

St
at

io
n/

 Ir
rig

at
io

n
Pu

m
p 

St
at

io
n

Pu
dd

in
g

R
iv

er
Irr

ig
at

io
n

Bi
od

eg
ra

da
bl

e 
D

ew
at

er
in

g 
Ba

gs
 fo

r S
lu

dg
e 

D
is

po
sa

l

R
et

ur
n

Pu
m

p
St

at
io

n

Document Path: J:\222041 Aurora City Engineer\TO 008 - WWFPS Update\b_PLAN\zGIS\b_MXDs\Fig 6 Process Flow Diagram.mxd

P
ro

c
e

ss
 F

lo
w

 D
ia

g
ra

m

W
a

st
e

w
at

e
r 

F
a

c
ili

ti
e

s 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 S

tu
d

y

F
ig

u
re

 6

C
ity

 o
f A

ur
or

a,
 O

R
O

ct
ob

er
 2

02
2

158 of 329



2.
9

A
er

ob
ic

D
ig

es
te

r

2.
6

Pa
vi

ng
A

cc
es

s
R

oa
d

1.
5

U
pg

ra
de

C
hl

or
in

at
io

n
D

ec
hl

or
in

at
io

n
Sy

st
em

2.
3

Fa
ll

Pr
ot

ec
tio

n

2.
8

H
ea

dw
or

ks
U

pg
ra

de
an

d
G

rit
R

em
ov

al

2.
2

Pa
vi

ng
an

d
St

or
m

D
ra

in
ag

e

2.
5

Pu
m

p
St

at
io

n
VF

D
's

2.
7

La
go

on
O

ve
rf

lo
w

an
d

St
ru

ct
ur

al
In

sp
ec

tio
n

2.
1

D
ew

at
er

in
g

B
ui

ld
in

g

A
er

at
io

n
B

as
in

1.
1

SB
R

B
lo

w
er

B
ui

ld
in

g

2.
4

Fe
nc

in
g

W
W

TP
O

ffi
ceR

iv
er

Pu
m

p
St

at
io

n/
Irr

ig
at

io
n

Pu
m

p
St

at
io

n
R

et
ur

n
Pu

m
p

St
at

io
n

Ef
flu

en
tC

om
po

si
te

Sa
m

pl
er

1.
1

SB
R

1.
3

In
flu

en
tS

cr
ee

n
R

el
oc

at
io

n

Ef
flu

en
t

St
or

ag
e

La
go

on

1.
2

A
dd

iti
on

al
Ef

flu
en

t
St

or
ag

e
La

go
on

DocumentPath:J:\222041AuroraCityEngineer\TO008-WWFPSUpdate\b_PLAN\zGIS\PriorityImprovements2043-withnochangesremoved.mxd

Ü
0

15
0

30
0

75
Fe

et

Le
ge

nd
Ph

as
e Ex

is
tin

g
Sy

st
em

Pr
io

rit
y

1
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

Pr
io

rit
y

2
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

159 of 329



160 of 329



161 of 329



PI
F 5

 G
ra

ph
ic

al
 C

al
cu

la
tio

n

Fl
ow

(M
G

D
)

 A
AD

F 
(0

.0
78

)

M
M

W
W

F 5
(0

.2
14

)

PD
AF

5

(0
.6

37
)

 P
W

kF
 

(0
.5

10
)

PI
F 5

(1
.1

80
)

%
Pr

ob
ab

ilit
y

of
O

cc
ur

re
nc

e

162 of 329



163 of 329



Department of Environmental Quality
Western Region Salem Office

4026 Fairview Industrial Drive SE
Kate Brown, Governor Salem, OR 97302

(503) 378-8240
FAX (503) 373-7944

TTY 711
June 24, 2022

Mark Gunter
City of Aurora
21420 Main Street NE
Aurora, OR 97002

CERTIFIED MAIL # 7021 1970 0001 7506 2406
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

RE: Issuance of NPDES Permit # 101772
File # 100020
EPA # OR0043991
Facility: Aurora STP, HWY 99 E., Aurora
Marion County

Your National Pollutant Disposal Elimination System Permit has been renewed and is enclosed. 
This permit is DEQ’s final action on permit renewal application #950727. DEQ did not receive 
any public comments. However, based on internal review, DEQ did make one correction to the 
renewal permit, which is noted in the Response to Comment memo. Your permit is effective on 
August 1, 2022.

Please read your permit carefully. Compliance with your permit is required at all times.

If you are dissatisfied with the conditions of this permit, you have 20 days to request a hearing 
before the Environmental Quality Commission or its authorized representative. A request for a 
hearing must be made in writing and state the grounds for the request. Any hearing will be 
conducted as a contested case hearing in accordance with ORS 183.413 through 183.470 and 
OAR chapter 340, division 011. If a hearing is requested, the existing permit continues in effect 
until a final order is issued.

Please note that your required operator certification levels are no longer listed on the face page of 
your permit. Pursuant to OAR chapter 340, division 049 your systems are classified as follows:

Collection System: Class I
Treatment System: Class II

If changes are made to your systems or if you have additional questions about operator 
certification requirements, please contact the DEQ Operator Certification program at 
opcert@deq.state.or.us or 503-229-5349. Current classifications for all systems requiring 
certified operators may be found at 
https://www.oregon.gov/deq/wq/wqpermits/Pages/Wastewater-Operator-Certification.aspx.
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City of Aurora
NPDES Permit #101772 
p. 2 of 2 

If you are interested in upgrading your wastewater treatment infrastructure or need assistance 
with treatment system design, DEQ’s Clean Water State Revolving Fund offers below-market 
rate loans for qualified applicants to finance the planning, design and construction of water 
quality improvement projects. DEQ updates interest rates are updated quarterly and rates vary by 
loan term, type of loan and community economic conditions. DEQ works with borrowers to 
ensure access to the best rates available at the time of loan signature. To learn more about 
eligible water quality projects and application process, please visit the Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund website at https://www.oregon.gov/deq/wq/cwsrf/Pages/default.aspx or call 
503-229-LOAN.

If you have any questions about your permit requirements, please contact Steve Nichols at 541-
269-2721 x268 or steve.nichols@deq.oregon.gov. 

Sincerely, 

Ranei Nomura
Water Quality Manager
Western Region 

RN:th 
Enclosure: Permit, Permit Fact Sheet, Response to Comments, and Recycled Water Use Plan 
ec: Regional File, Salem DEQ 
 Steve Nichols, Coos Bay Office 

WQ Data Crew, DEQ w/permit  
EPA, Seattle /permit 
ORMS 

 DEQ Wastewater Operator Certification Program  
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State of Oregon Department of Environmental Quality

Summary of Public Notice Review 
Comments and DEQ Responses
Date: June 23, 2022

Prepared by: Evan R Haas, NPDES Permit Writer

Comment Period: The Public Notice comment period for the City of Aurora’s NPDES renewal 
permit opened on May 12, 2022 and closed at 5 p.m. on June 17, 2022.

Organization of Comments and Responses: This document summarizes specific public comments 
received; DEQ responses are included, in italics, after each comment.

DEQ did not receive any public comments on the proposed NPDES renewal permit for the City of Aurora
(City). However, based on internal review, DEQ did make one correction to the renewal permit.

Iron Monitoring
The renewal permit includes a requirement for the City to collect effluent iron samples. The draft permit 
listed dissolved iron as the parameter to be measured; however, the permit should have used total iron as 
the parameter.

DEQ Response
Because DEQ uses total iron for the iron criterion, DEQ updated the iron parameter to be measured from 
dissolved to total.

Alternative formats 

DEQ can provide documents in an alternate format or in a language other than English upon request. Call 
DEQ at 800-452-4011 or email deqinfo@deq.state.or.us.
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NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM 
WASTE DISCHARGE PERMIT 

Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
Western Region – Salem Office 
4026 Fairview Industrial Dr. SE 

Salem, OR 97302 
Telephone: 503-378-8240 

Issued pursuant to ORS 468B.050 and the federal Clean Water Act 

ISSUED TO: SOURCES COVERED BY THIS PERMIT:
City of Aurora 
21420 Main Street NE 
Aurora, OR 97002 

Type of Waste Outfall Number Outfall Location 
Treated municipal 
wastewater  

001 45.22944/-122.75278 

Recycled Water 
Reuse 002 

Specified in Recycled Water Use 
Plan 

FACILITY LOCATION: RECEIVING STREAM INFORMATION: 
Aurora STP 
21494 Mill Race Road

WRD Basin: Willamette

Aurora, OR 97002 USGS Sub-Basin: Molalla-Pudding 
County: Marion Receiving Stream name: Pudding River 

NHD Reach Code: 17090009000039 (40.52%)
EPA Permit Type: Minor LLID: 1227161452842

Issued in response to Application No. 950727 received November 16, 2020. This permit is issued based on the 
land use findings in the permit record. 

June 24, 2022 August 1, 2022
Ranei Nomura, Water Quality Manager, 
Western Region 

Issuance Date Effective Date 

PERMITTED ACTIVITIES 

Until this permit expires or is modified or revoked, the permittee is authorized to: 1) operate a wastewater 
collection, treatment, control and disposal system; and 2) discharge treated wastewater to waters of the state 
only from the authorized discharge point or points in Schedule A in conformance with the requirements, limits, 
and conditions set forth in this permit.  

Unless specifically authorized by this permit, by another NPDES or Water Pollution Control Facility permit, or 
by Oregon statute or administrative rule, any other direct or indirect discharge of pollutants to waters of the state 
is prohibited.
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SCHEDULE A: WASTE DISCHARGE LIMITS 

1. Outfall 001 – Permit Limits
  During the term of this permit, the permittee must comply with the limits in the following table: 
 

Table A1: Permit Limits

Parameter Units Average 
Monthly

Average 
Weekly

Daily 
Maximum

Effluent Flow
(May 1 to Oct 31) MGD No discharge (Daily max limit = 0 MGD) 

BOD5 (November 1 – April 30)  
mg/L 30 45 -
lb/day 30 60 140
% removal 85 - - 

TSS (November 1 – April 30)  
mg/L 50 80 - 
lb/day 47 90 220
% removal 65 - - 

Chlorine, Total Residual 
(November 1 – April 30) 
(See note a.) 

mg/L
0.03 - 0.08 

pH (November 1 – April 30) SU Instantaneous limit between a daily minimum of 
6.0 and a daily maximum of 9.0 

E. coli (November 1 – April 30)
(See note b.) #/100 mL Must not exceed a monthly geometric mean of 

126, no single sample may exceed 406
Notes: 
a. DEQ has established a Quantitation Limit of 0.05 mg/L for Total Residual Chlorine. Any analysis done 

for Total Residual Chlorine must have a quantitation limit that is either equal to or less than 0.05 mg/L. In 
cases where the average monthly or maximum daily limit for Total Residual Chlorine is lower than the 
Quantitation Limit, DEQ will use the reported Quantitation Limit as the compliance evaluation level. 

b. If a single sample exceeds 406 organisms/100 mL, the permittee may take at least 5 consecutive re-
samples at 4-hour intervals beginning within 28 hours after the original sample was taken. A geometric 
mean of the 5 re-samples that is less than or equal to 126 E. coli organisms/100 mL demonstrates 
compliance with the limit.  

 
2. Regulatory Mixing Zone 

Pursuant to OAR 340-041-0053, the permittee is granted a regulatory mixing zone as described below: 
 

The allowable mixing zone for the Aurora facility is that portion of the Pudding River, 
extending from a point 10 feet upstream of the outfall, to a point 25 feet from the east 
bank of the river, and to a point 108 feet downstream from the outfall. The zone of 
immediate dilution (ZID) is defined as that portion of the allowable mixing zone that is 
within 10 feet of the outfall discharge port. 
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3. Use of Recycled Water 
The permittee is authorized to distribute recycled water if it is: 

a. Treated and used according to the criteria listed in Table A2. 

b. Managed in accordance with its DEQ-approved Recycled Water Use Plan unless exempt as 
provided in Schedule D.  

c. Used in a manner and applied at a rate that does not adversely affect groundwater quality. 

d. Applied at a rate and in accordance with site management practices that ensure continued 
agricultural, horticultural, or silvicultural production and does not reduce the productivity of the 
site. 

e. Irrigated using sound irrigation practices to prevent: 

i. Offsite surface runoff or subsurface drainage through drainage tile; 

ii. Creation of odors, fly and mosquito breeding, or other nuisance conditions; and 

iii. Overloading of land with nutrients, organics, or other pollutants. 

Table A2: Recycled Water Limits 

Class 
Level of Treatment

(after disinfection unless otherwise 
specified)

Beneficial Uses 

C. Class C recycled water must be oxidized 
and disinfected. Total coliform may not 
exceed: 
 A median of 23 total coliform 

organisms per 100 mL, based on 
results of the last 7 days that analyses 
have been completed. 

 240 total coliform organisms per 100 
mL in any two consecutive samples. 

Class C recycled water may be used for:
 Class D and non-disinfected uses. 
 Irrigation of processed food crops; 

irrigation of orchards or vineyards if an 
irrigation method is used to apply 
recycled water directly to the soil. 

 Landscape irrigation of golf courses, 
cemeteries, highway medians, or 
industrial or business campuses. 
Industrial, commercial, or construction 
uses limited to: industrial cooling, rock 
crushing, aggregate washing, mixing 
concrete, dust control, nonstructural 
firefighting using aircraft, street 
sweeping, or sanitary sewer flushing. 

D. Class D recycled water must be oxidized 
and disinfected. E. coli may not exceed:  
 A 30-day geometric mean of 126 

organisms per 100 mL. 
 406 organisms per 100 mL in any 

single sample. 

Class D recycled water may be used for:
 Non-disinfected uses. 
 Irrigation of firewood, ornamental 

nursery stock, Christmas trees, sod, or 
pasture for animals. 
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SCHEDULE B: MINIMUM MONITORING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Reporting Requirements
The permittee must submit to DEQ monitoring results and reports as listed below. 

 
Table B1: Reporting Requirements and Due Dates

Reporting 
Requirement Frequency Due Date

(See note a.)
Report Form  
(See note b.) Submit To:

Tables B2 and B3
Influent Monitoring and 
Effluent Monitoring 

Monthly By the 15th of the 
following month

Specified in 
Schedule B.
Section 2 of this 
permit

Electronic reporting 
as directed by DEQ

Inflow and infiltration 
report (see Schedule D) 

Annually February 15 Electronic copy 
in a DEQ-
approved format

Attached via 
electronic reporting 
as directed by DEQ 

Recycled Water Annual 
Report (see Schedule D) 
 

Annually January 15 Electronic copy 
in the DEQ-
approved format 

Attached via 
electronic reporting 
as directed by DEQ  
 
Electronic copy to 
DEQ Water Reuse 
Program 
Coordinator

Wastewater solids 
annual report  
(see Schedule D)  

Annually By February 19 of 
the following year 

Electronic copy 
in the DEQ-
approved format 

Attached via 
electronic reporting 
as directed by DEQ  
 
Electronic copy to 
DEQ Biosolids 
Program 
Coordinator 

Hauled Waste Annual 
Report (see Schedule D) 

Annually, once 
hauled waste is 
accepted 

January 15 Electronic copy 
in the DEQ-
approved format

Attached via 
electronic reporting 
as directed by DEQ 

Sludge Depth Survey 
Report (See Schedule D 
– Lagoon Solids)

One Time Submit by 
03/15/2024  

Electronic copy 
in a DEQ-
approved format

Attached via 
electronic reporting 
as directed by DEQ 

Industrial User Survey 
(see Schedule D) 

Every 5 years Submit by no later 
than 24 months 
after permit 
effective date  

1 electronic 
copy and 1 hard 
copy in a DEQ-
approved format 

 1 Hard copy to 
DEQ 
Pretreatment 
Coordinator  

 1 Electronic copy 
to Compliance 
Officer
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Reporting 
Requirement Frequency Due Date

(See note a.)
Report Form 
(See note b.) Submit To:

Outfall Inspection 
Report 
(see Schedule D) 

Once per permit 
cycle 

Submit by 
11/15/2025 

Electronic copy 
in a DEQ-
approved format 

Attached via 
electronic reporting 
as directed by DEQ 

Notes:
a. For submittals that are provided to DEQ by mail, the postmarked date must not be later than the due date.
b. All reporting requirements are to be submitted in a DEQ-approved format, unless otherwise specified in

writing.

2. Monitoring and Reporting Protocols

a. Electronic Submissions

The permittee must submit to DEQ the results of monitoring indicated in Schedule B in an
electronic format as specified below.

i. The permittee must submit monitoring results required by this permit via DEQ-
approved web-based Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) forms to DEQ via electronic
reporting. Any data used to calculate summary statistics must be submitted as a separate
attachment approved by DEQ via electronic reporting.

ii. The reporting period is the calendar month.

iii. The permittee must submit monitoring data and other information required by this
permit for all compliance points by the 15th day of the month following the reporting
period unless specified otherwise in this permit or as specified in writing by DEQ.

b. Test Methods

The permittee must conduct monitoring according to test procedures in 40 CFR part 136 and 40
CFR part 503 for biosolids or other approved procedures as per Schedule F.

c. Detection and Quantitation Limits

i. Detection Level (DL) – The DL is defined as the minimum measured concentration of a
substance that can be distinguished from method blank results with 99% confidence.
The DL is derived using the procedure in 40 CFR 136 Appendix B and evaluated for
reasonableness relative to method blank concentrations to ensure results reported above
the DL are not a result of routine background contamination. The DL is also known as
the Method Detection Limit (MDL) or Limit of Detection (LOD).

ii. Quantitation Limits (QLs) – The QL is the minimum level, concentration or quantity of
a target analyte that can be reported with a specified degree of confidence. It is the
lowest level at which the entire analytical system gives a recognizable signal and
acceptable calibration for the analyte. It is normally equivalent to the concentration of
the lowest calibration standard adjusted for sample weights, volumes, preparation and
cleanup procedures employed. The QL as reported by a laboratory is also sometimes
referred to as the Method Reporting Limit (MRL) or Limit of Quantitation (LOQ).
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d. Sufficient Sensitivity of Quantitation Limits 

i. The Laboratory QLs (adjusted for any dilutions) for analyses performed to demonstrate 
compliance with permit limits or as part of effluent characterization, must meet at least 
one of the requirements below:  

(A) The QL is at or below the level of the water quality criterion for the measured 
parameter 

(B) The QL is above the water quality criterion but the amount of the pollutant in a 
facility's discharge is high enough that the method detects and quantifies the 
level of the parameter in the discharge  

(C) The QL has the lowest sensitivity of the analytical methods procedure specified 
in 40 CFR 136 

(D) The QL is at or below those defined in Oregon DEQ list of quantitation limits 
posted online at the DEQ permitting website 

ii. Matrix effects are present that prevent the attainment of QLs and these matrix effects 
are demonstrated according to procedures described in EPA’s “Solutions to Analytical 
Chemistry Problems with Clean Water Act Methods”, March 2007. If using alternative 
methods and taking appropriate steps to eliminate matrix effects does not eliminate the 
matrix problems, DEQ may authorize in writing re-sampling or allow a higher QL to be 
reported. 

e. Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

i. Quality Assurance Plan – The permittee must develop and implement a written Quality 
Assurance Plan that details the facility sampling procedures, equipment calibration and 
maintenance, analytical methods, quality control activities and laboratory data handling 
and reporting. The QA/QC program must conform to the requirements of 40 CFR 
136.7.  

ii. If QA/QC requirements are not met for any analysis, the permittee must re-analyze the 
sample. If the sample cannot be re-analyzed, the permittee must re-sample and analyze 
at the earliest opportunity. If the permittee is unable to collect a sample that meets 
QA/QC requirements, then the permittee must include the result in the discharge 
monitoring report (DMR) along with a notation (data qualifier). In addition, the 
permittee must explain how the sample does not meet QA/QC requirements. The 
permittee may not use the result that failed the QA/QC requirements in any calculation 
required by the permit unless authorized in writing by DEQ. This condition does not 
apply to the minimum DO residual and DO depletion BOD method criteria. If these 
method criteria are not met, the permittee must: 1) report the daily BOD5 values with 
data qualifiers; 2) include these values in the summary statistic calculations (e.g., 
weekly averages, monthly averages, % removal); and 3) report the summary 
statistics with data qualifiers. 

iii. Flow measurement, field measurement, and continuous monitoring devices - The 
permittee must: 

(A) Establish verification and calibration frequency for each device or instrument in 
the quality assurance plan that conforms to the frequencies recommended by 
the manufacturer. 

173 of 329



Expiration Date: May 31, 2027 
EPA Ref. Number: OR0043991
Permit Number: 101772 
File Number: 110020 
Page 8 of 28 Pages 

Revision 7.2021 Version 3.1 

(B) Verify at least once per year that flow-monitoring devices are functioning 
properly according to manufacturer’s recommendation. Calibrate as needed 
according to manufacturer’s recommendations.  

(C) Verify at least weekly that the continuous monitoring instruments are 
functioning properly according to manufacturer’s recommendation unless the 
permittee demonstrates a longer period is sufficient and such longer period is 
approved by DEQ in writing.  

iv. The permittee must develop a receiving water sampling and analysis plan that 
incorporates QA/QC prior to sampling. This plan must be kept at the facility and made 
available to DEQ upon request.  

f. Reporting Sample Results  

i. The permittee must report the same number of significant digits as the permit limit for a 
given parameter.  

ii. The permittee must report the same number of significant digits as the permit limit for a 
given parameter.  

iii. Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) Numbers. CAS numbers (where available) must be 
reported along with monitoring results.  

iv. (For Discharge Monitoring Reports) If a sample result is above the DL but below the 
QL, the permittee must report the result as the DL preceded by DEQ’s data code “e”. 
For example, if the DL is 1.0 μg/l, the QL is 3.0 μg/L and the result is estimated to be 
between the DL and QL, the permittee must report “e1.0 μg/L” on the DMR. This 
requirement does not apply in the case of parameters for which the DL does not have to 
be reported. 

v. (For Discharge Monitoring Reports) If the sample result is below the DL, the permittee 
must report the result as less than the specified DL. For example, if the DL is 1.0 μg/L 
and the result is ND, report “<1.0” on the discharge monitoring report (DMR). This 
requirement does not apply in the case of parameters for which the DL does not have to 
be reported. 

g. Calculating and Reporting Mass Loads 

The permittee must calculate mass loads on each day the parameter is monitored using the 
following equation: 

Flow (in MGD) X Concentration (in mg/L) X 8.34 = Pounds per day 

i. Mass load limits all have two significant figures unless otherwise noted.  
ii. When concentration data are below the DL: To calculate the mass load from this result, 

use the DL. Report the mass load as less than the calculated mass load. For example, if 
flow is 2 MGD and the reported sample result is <1.0 μg/L, report “<0.02 lb/day” for 
mass load on the DMR (1.0 μg/L x 2 MGD x conversion factor = 0.017 lb/day, round 
off to 0.02 lb/day).  
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3. Monitoring and Reporting Requirements
a. The permittee must monitor influent at the headworks, prior to it entering the treatment lagoons, 

and report results in accordance with the table below. 
Table B2: Influent Monitoring Requirements

Item or 
Parameter Units Time 

Period 
Minimum 

Frequency 

Sample Type 
/ Required 

Action  
(See note a.)

Report Statistic
(See note b.) 

Flow
(50050)

MGD Year-round Daily Metered 1. Monthly Average
2. Daily Maximum

BOD5

(00310)
mg/L Year-round 1/month 24-hour 

composite
1. Monthly Average

TSS
(00530) 

mg/L Year-round 1/month 24-hour 
composite 

1. Monthly Average

pH
(00400) 

SU Year-round 3/week Grab 1. Monthly Maximum
2. Monthly Minimum 

Notes:
a. In the event of equipment failure or loss, the permittee must notify DEQ and deploy new equipment to 

minimize interruption of data collection. If new equipment cannot be immediately deployed, the permittee 
must perform grab measurements.  

b. When submitting DMRs electronically, the permittee must submit all data used to determine summary 
statistics in a DEQ-approved format as a spreadsheet via electronic reporting unless otherwise directed by 
DEQ.  
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b. The permittee must monitor effluent flow for Outfall 001, after the storage lagoon outlet and 
prior to the chlorine contact chamber, and report results in accordance with Table B1 and the 
table below. The permittee must monitor all other parameters for Outfall 001, after the chlorine 
contact chamber and prior to the effluent pump station, and report results in accordance with 
Table B1 and the table below.  

Table B3: Effluent Monitoring Requirements

Item or 
Parameter  Units Time Period Minimum 

Frequency

Sample Type/
Required 

Action 
(See note a.)

Report Statistic
(See note b.) 

Flow (50050) MGD Year-round Daily Metered 1. Monthly Average
2. Daily Maximum

BOD5 (00310) mg/L November 1 –
April 30 

1/month 24-hour 
composite 

1. Monthly Average 
2. Maximum 

Weekly Average 
BOD5 (00310) lb/day November 1 –

April 30 
1/month Calculation 1. Daily Maximum  

2. Monthly Average  
3. Maximum 

Weekly Average 
BOD5 percent 
removal 
(See note c.) 
(81010) 

% November 1 –
April 30 

1/month Calculation based 
on monthly 
average BOD5

concentration 
values 

1. Monthly Average 

TSS
(00530) 

mg/L November 1 –
April 30 

1/month 24-hour 
composite 

1. Monthly Average 
2. Maximum 

Weekly Average 
TSS
(00530) 

lb/day November 1 –
April 30 

1/month Calculation 1. Daily Maximum  
2. Monthly Average  
3. Maximum 

Weekly Average
TSS 
percent removal
(81011) 
(See note c.) 

% November 1 –
April 30 

1/month Calculation based 
on monthly 
average TSS 
concentration 
values 

1. Monthly Average 

pH
(00400) 

SU November 1 –
April 30 

3/week Grab 1. Daily Maximum
2. Daily Minimum  

Chlorine, Total 
Residual 
(50060)

mg/L November 1 –
April 30 

Daily Grab 1. Daily Maximum
2. Monthly Average 

E. coli 
(51040) 

#/100 mL November 1 –
April 30 

2/month Grab 1. Daily Maximum
2. Monthly 

Geometric Mean 
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Item or 
Parameter  Units Time Period Minimum 

Frequency

Sample Type/
Required 

Action 
(See note a.)

Report Statistic 
(See note b.) 

Temperature
(00010) 

ºC November 1 –
April 30 

3/week Grab 1. Daily Maximum
2. Monthly Average 
3. 7-day Rolling 

Average of Daily 
Maximum 

Alkalinity as 
CaCO3  
(00410)

mg/L November 1 –
April 30 

Quarterly Grab 1. Monthly 
Maximum 

Chlorine used
(81400) 

lb/day November 1 –
April 30 

Daily Scale reading 1. Monthly Average 

Chlorine, Total 
Residual prior to 
dechlorination

mg/L November 1 –
April 30 

Daily Grab Maintain records on-
site 

Iron, total 
(01045) 
(See note d.)

g/L November 1 –
April 30 

Quarterly 24-hour 
composite 

1. Daily Maximum 

Notes: 
a. In the event of equipment failure or loss, the permittee must notify DEQ and deploy new equipment to 

minimize interruption of data collection. If new equipment cannot be immediately deployed, the 
permittee must perform grab measurements. If the failure or loss is for continuous temperature 
monitoring equipment, the permittee must perform grab measurements daily between 2 PM and 4 PM 
until continuous monitoring equipment is redeployed. 

b. When submitting DMRs electronically, all data used to determine summary statistics must be submitted 
in a DEQ-approved format as a spreadsheet via electronic reporting unless otherwise directed by DEQ.  

c. Percent Removal must be calculated on a monthly basis using the following formula: = [  ] [  ][  ]  × 100
Where:  
Influent Concentration = Corresponding Monthly average influent concentration based on the analytical 
results of the reporting period.  
Effluent Concentration = Corresponding Monthly average effluent concentration based on the analytical 
results of the reporting period. 

d. The permittee must monitor for total iron, quarterly, for a total of eight quarters. After completing the 
required monitoring, the monitoring may be discontinued unless otherwise notified in writing by DEQ. 
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4. Recycled Water Monitoring Requirements: Outfall 002 
The permittee must monitor recycled water for Outfall 002 as listed below. The samples must be 
representative of the recycled water delivered for beneficial reuse at a location identified in the 
Recycled Water Use Plan.  

Table B4: Recycled Water Monitoring 

Item or Parameter Time Period Minimum 
Frequency

Sample 
Type/ 

Required 
Action

Report 

Quantity Irrigated 
(inches/acre) 

May 1 – October 31 Daily Measurement Annual Report

Quantity chlorine used 
(lbs)

May 1 – October 31 Daily Measurement Annual Report

Chlorine, Total 
Residual (mg/L)

May 1 – October 31 Daily Grab Annual Report 

pH May 1 – October 31 2/Week Grab Annual Report 
Total coliform
See note a. 

May 1 – October 31 Weekly (Class C) Grab 1. Weekly median 
2. Annual Report 

E. coli May 1 – October 31 Weekly (Class D) Grab Annual Report 
Nitrogen Loading Rate 
(lbs/acre-year)

May 1 – October 31 Annually Calculation Annual Report 

Nutrients (TKN, 
NO2+NO3-N, Total 
Ammonia (as N), Total 
Phosphorus) (mg/L)

May 1 – October 31 Quarterly Grab Annual Report 

Note:
a. Calculations of the median total coliform levels in Classes A – C are based on the results of the last 

seven days that the analyses have been completed. 
b. All data records along with summary calculations, including quarterly irrigation rates and nutrient 

loading rates must be maintained, and made available to DEQ upon request. 
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SCHEDULE C: COMPLIANCE SCHEDULE 
A compliance schedule is not part of this permit.
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SCHEDULE D: SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

1. Inflow and Infiltration  
The permittee must submit to DEQ an annual inflow and infiltration report on a DEQ-approved form as 
directed in Table B1. The report must include the following: 

a. An assessment of the facility’s I/I issues based on a comparison of summer and winter flows to 
the plant.  

c. Details of activities performed in the previous year to identify and reduce inflow and 
infiltration.  

d. Details of activities planned for the following year to identify and reduce inflow and infiltration. 

e. A summary of sanitary sewer overflows that occurred during the previous year. This should 
include the following: date of the SSO, location, estimated volume, cause, follow-up actions 
and if performed, the results of receiving stream monitoring.  

2. Emergency Response and Public Notification Plan 
The permittee must develop an Emergency Response and Public Notification Plan (“plan”), or ensure 
the facility’s existing plan is current and accurate, per Schedule F, Section B, and Condition 8 within 6 
months of permit effective date. The permittee must update the plan annually to ensure all information 
contained in the plan, including telephone and email contact information for applicable public agencies, 
is current and accurate. An updated copy of the plan must be kept on file at the facility for DEQ review. 
The latest plan revision date must be listed on the plan cover along with the reviewer’s initials or 
signature. 
  

3. Recycled Water Use Plan 
The permittee must maintain a DEQ-approved Recycled Water Use Plan meeting the requirements in 
OAR 340-055-0025. The permittee must submit any significant modifications to DEQ for review and 
approval with sufficient time to clear DEQ review and a public notice period prior to implementing 
changes to the recycled water program. The permittee must keep the plan updated. All plan revisions 
require written authorization from DEQ and are effective upon permittee’s receipt of DEQ written 
approval. No significant modifications can be made to a plan for an administratively extended permit 
(after the permit expiration date). Conditions in the plan are enforceable requirements under this permit. 
DEQ will provide an opportunity for public review and comment on any significant plan modifications 
prior to approving or denying. Public review is not required for minor modifications, changes to 
utilization dates or changes in use within the recycled water class. 

 
a. Recycled Water Annual Report – The permittee must submit a recycled water annual report by 

the date specified in Table B1: Reporting Requirements and Due Dates. The permittee must use 
the DEQ-approved recycled water annual report form. This report must include the monitoring 
data and analytical laboratory reports for the previous year’s monitoring required under 
Schedule B. 
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4. Exempt Wastewater Reuse at the Treatment System
Recycled water used for landscape irrigation within the property boundary or in-plant processes at the 
wastewater treatment system is exempt from the requirements of OAR 340-055 if all of the following 
conditions are met:  

a. The recycled water is an oxidized and disinfected wastewater.  

b. The recycled water is used at the wastewater treatment system site where it is generated or at an 
auxiliary wastewater or sludge treatment facility that is subject to the same NPDES or WPCF 
permit as the wastewater treatment system.  

c. Spray and/or drift from the use does not migrate off the site.  

d. Public access to the site is restricted.  

5. Wastewater Solids Annual Report
The permittee must submit a Wastewater Solids Annual Report by February 19 each year documenting 
removal of wastewater solids from the facility during the previous calendar year. The permittee must 
use the DEQ-approved wastewater solids annual report form. This report must include the volume of 
material removed and the name of the permitted facility that received the solids. 

6. Wastewater Solids Transfers
a. Within state. The permittee may transfer wastewater solids including Class A and Class B 

biosolids, to another facility permitted to process or dispose of wastewater solids, including but 
not limited to: another wastewater treatment facility, landfill, or incinerator. The permittee must 
satisfy the requirements of the receiving facility. The permittee must report the name of the 
receiving facility and the quantity of material transferred in the wastewater solids annual report 
identified in Schedule B.  

b. Out of state. If wastewater solids, including Class A and Class B biosolids, are transferred out 
of state for use or disposal, the permittee must obtain written authorization from DEQ, meet 
Oregon requirements for the use or disposal of wastewater solids, notify in writing the receiving 
state of the proposed use or disposal of wastewater solids, and satisfy the requirements of the 
receiving state.  

7. Hauled Waste Control Plan  
The permittee may accept hauled wastes at discharge points designated by the POTW after receiving 
written DEQ approval of a Hauled Waste Control Plan. Hauled wastes may include wastewater solids 
from another wastewater treatment facility, septage, grease trap wastes, portable and chemical toilet 
wastes, landfill leachate, groundwater remediation wastewaters and commercial/industrial wastewaters. 
A Hauled Waste Control Plan is not required in the event biological seed must be added to the process 
at the POTW to facilitate effective wastewater treatment.  

8. Hauled Waste Annual Report 
If the permittee has a Hauled Waste Control Plan, or otherwise accepts hauled waste, the permittee must 
submit an annual report of hauled waste received by the POTW. This report, if required, must be 
submitted as described in Table B1. This report must include the date, time, type, and amount received 
each time the POTW accepts hauled waste. Hauled waste must be described in the permittee’s Hauled 
Waste Control Plan. 

181 of 329



Expiration Date: May 31, 2027 
EPA Ref. Number: OR0043991
Permit Number: 101772 
File Number: 110020 
Page 16 of 28 Pages 

Revision 7.2021 Version 3.1 

9. Lagoon Solids 
By the date listed in Table B1, the permittee must submit to DEQ a sludge depth survey and report. The 
report must include the sludge depths throughout the lagoons and an evaluation of the impact of sludge 
on treatment efficiency and odors. If the evaluation finds that the sludge is impacting the treatment 
efficiency and causing odors, the permittee must submit a plan to reduce or remove the sludge. See 
Schedule F, conditions 5 and 6 for sludge removal requirements. 

 
10. Operator Certification

a. Definitions 

i. “Supervise” means to have full and active responsibility for the daily on site technical 
operation of a wastewater treatment system or wastewater collection system. 

ii. “Supervisor” or “designated operator”, means the operator delegated authority by the 
permittee for establishing and executing the specific practice and procedures for 
operating the wastewater treatment system or wastewater collection system in 
accordance with the policies of the owner of the system and any permit requirements.  

iii. “Shift Supervisor” means the operator delegated authority by the permittee for 
executing the specific practice and procedures for operating the wastewater treatment 
system or wastewater collection system when the system is operated on more than one 
daily shift.  

iv. “System” includes both the collection system and the treatment systems. 

b. The permittee must comply with OAR Chapter 340, Division 49, “Regulations Pertaining to 
Certification of Wastewater System Operator Personnel" and designate a supervisor whose 
certification corresponds with the classification of the collection and/or treatment system as 
specified in the DEQ Supervisory Wastewater Operator Status Report. DEQ may revise the 
permittee’s classification in writing at any time to reflect changes in the collection or treatment 
system. This reclassification is not considered a permit modification and may be made after the 
permit expiration date provided the permit has been administratively extended by DEQ. If a 
facility is re-classified, a certified letter will be mailed to the system owner from the DEQ 
Operator Certification Program. Current system classifications are publicized on the DEQ 
Supervisory Wastewater Operator Status Report found on the DEQ Wastewater Operator 
Certification Homepage.  

c. The permittee must have its system supervised full-time by one or more operators who hold a 
valid certificate for the type of wastewater treatment or wastewater collection system, and at a 
grade equal to or greater than the wastewater system’s classification.  

d. The permittee's wastewater system may be without the designated supervisor for up to 30 
consecutive days if another person supervises the system, who is certified at no more than one 
grade lower than the classification of the wastewater system. The permittee must delegate 
authority to this operator to supervise the operation of the system.  

e. If the wastewater system has more than one daily shift, the permittee must have another 
properly certified operator available to supervise operation of the system. Each shift supervisor 
must be certified at no more than one grade lower than the system classification.  

f. The permittee is not required to have a supervisor on site at all times; however, the supervisor 
must be available to the permittee and operator at all times.  
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g. The permittee must notify DEQ in writing of the name of the system supervisor by completing 
and submitting the Supervisory Wastewater System Operator Designation Form. The most 
recent version of this form may be found on the DEQ Wastewater Operator Certification 
homepage *NOTE: This form is different from the Delegated Authority form. The permittee 
may replace or re-designate the system supervisor with another properly certified operator at 
any time and must notify DEQ in writing within 30 days of replacement or re-designation of the 
operator in charge. As of this writing, the notice of replacement or re-designation must be sent 
to Water Quality Division, Operator Certification Program, 700 NE Multnomah St, Suite 600, 
Portland, OR 97232-4100. This address may be updated in writing by DEQ during the term of 
this permit.  

h. When compliance with item (d) of this section is not possible or practicable because the system 
supervisor is not available or the position is vacated unexpectedly, and another certified 
operator is not qualified to assume supervisory responsibility, the Director may grant a time 
extension for compliance with the requirements in response to a written request from the system 
owner. The Director will not grant an extension longer than 120 days unless the system owner 
documents the existence of extraordinary circumstances.  

11. Industrial User Survey

Industrial User Survey 

a.  By the date listed in Table B1, the permittee must conduct an industrial user survey as described 
in 40CFR 403.8(f)(2)(i-iii) to determine the presence of any industrial users discharging 
wastewaters subject to pretreatment and submit a report on the findings to DEQ. The purpose of 
the survey is to identify whether there are any industrial users discharging to the POTW, and 
ensure regulatory oversight of these discharges to state waters. 

 
b.  Should the DEQ determine that a pretreatment program is required, the permit must be 

reopened and modified in accordance with 40 CFR 403.8(e)(1) to incorporate a compliance 
schedule for development of a pretreatment program. The compliance schedule must be 
developed in accordance with the provisions of 40 CFR 403.12(k), and must not exceed twelve 
(12) months. 

12. Outfall Inspection
The permittee must inspect Outfall 001 including the submerged portion of the outfall line and diffuser 
to document its integrity and to determine whether it is functioning as designed. The inspection must 
determine whether diffuser ports are intact, clear and fully functional. The inspection must verify the 
latitude and longitude of the diffuser. The permittee must submit a written report to DEQ regarding the 
results of the outfall inspection by the date in Table B1. The report must include a description of the 
outfall as originally constructed, the condition of the current outfall and identify any repairs needed to 
return the outfall to satisfactory condition. 
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SCHEDULE E: PRETREATMENT ACTIVITIES 
A pretreatment program is not part of this permit. 
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SCHEDULE F: NPDES GENERAL CONDITIONS 
October 1, 2015 Version 

 
SECTION A. STANDARD CONDITIONS 
A1. Duty to Comply with Permit 

The permittee must comply with all conditions of this permit. Failure to comply with any permit condition 
is a violation of Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 468B.025 and the federal Clean Water Act and is grounds 
for an enforcement action. Failure to comply is also grounds for DEQ to terminate, modify and reissue, 
revoke, or deny renewal of a permit. 

 
A2. Penalties for Water Pollution and Permit Condition Violations 

The permit is enforceable by DEQ or EPA, and in some circumstances also by third-parties under the 
citizen suit provisions of 33 USC § 1365. DEQ enforcement is generally based on provisions of state 
statutes and Environmental Quality Commission (EQC) rules, and EPA enforcement is generally based on 
provisions of federal statutes and EPA regulations. 
 
ORS 468.140 allows DEQ to impose civil penalties up to $25,000 per day for violation of a term, 
condition, or requirement of a permit.  
 
Under ORS 468.943, unlawful water pollution in the second degree, is a Class A misdemeanor and is 
punishable by a fine of up to $25,000, imprisonment for not more than one year, or both. Each day on 
which a violation occurs or continues is a separately punishable offense. 
 
Under ORS 468.946, unlawful water pollution in the first degree is a Class B felony and is punishable by a 
fine of up to $250,000, imprisonment for not more than 10 years, or both. 
 
The Clean Water Act provides that any person who violates permit condition, or any requirement imposed 
in a pretreatment program approved under sections 402(a)(3) or 402(b)(8) of the Act, is subject to a civil 
penalty not to exceed $25,000 per day for each violation.  
 
The Clean Water Act provides that any person who negligently violates any condition, or any requirement 
imposed in a pretreatment program approved under section 402(a)(3) or 402(b)(8) of the Act, is subject to 
criminal penalties of $2,500 to $25,000 per day of violation, or imprisonment of not more than 1 year, or 
both.  
 
In the case of a second or subsequent conviction for a negligent violation, a person shall be subject to 
criminal penalties of not more than $50,000 per day of violation, or by imprisonment of not more than 2 
years, or both.  
 
Any person who knowingly violates such sections, or such conditions or limitations is subject to criminal 
penalties of $5,000 to $50,000 per day of violation, or imprisonment for not more than 3 years, or both.  
 
In the case of a second or subsequent conviction for a knowing violation, a person shall be subject to 
criminal penalties of not more than $100,000 per day of violation, or imprisonment of not more than 6 
years, or both.  
 
Any person who knowingly violates section any permit condition, and who knows at that time that he 
thereby places another person in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury, shall, upon conviction, 
be subject to a fine of not more than $250,000 or imprisonment of not more than 15 years, or both.  
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In the case of a second or subsequent conviction for a knowing endangerment violation, a person shall be 
subject to a fine of not more than $500,000 or by imprisonment of not more than 30 years, or both.  
 
An organization, as defined in section 309(c)(3)(B)(iii) of the CWA, shall, upon conviction of violating the 
imminent danger provision, be subject to a fine of not more than $1,000,000 and can be fined up to 
$2,000,000 for second or subsequent convictions. 
 
Any person may be assessed an administrative penalty by the Administrator for violating any permit 
condition or limitation implementing any of such sections in a permit issued under section 402 of this Act.  
 
Administrative penalties for Class I violations are not to exceed $10,000 per violation, with the maximum 
amount of any Class I penalty assessed not to exceed $25,000.  
 
Penalties for Class II violations are not to exceed $10,000 per day for each day during which the violation 
continues, with the maximum amount of any Class II penalty not to exceed $125,000. 
 

A3. Duty to Mitigate 
The permittee must take all reasonable steps to minimize or prevent any discharge or sludge use or disposal 
in violation of this permit. In addition, upon request of DEQ, the permittee must correct any adverse impact 
on the environment or human health resulting from noncompliance with this permit, including such 
accelerated or additional monitoring as necessary to determine the nature and impact of the noncomplying 
discharge. 

 
A4. Duty to Reapply 

If the permittee wishes to continue an activity regulated by this permit after the expiration date of this 
permit, the permittee must apply for and have the permit renewed. The application must be submitted at 
least 180 days before the expiration date of this permit. 

 
DEQ may grant permission to submit an application less than 180 days in advance but no later than the 
permit expiration date. 

 
A5. Permit Actions 

This permit may be modified, revoked and reissued, or terminated for cause including, but not limited to, 
the following: 
a. Violation of any term, condition, or requirement of this permit, a rule, or a statute. 
b. Obtaining this permit by misrepresentation or failure to disclose fully all material facts.
c. A change in any condition that requires either a temporary or permanent reduction or elimination of 

the authorized discharge. 
d. The permittee is identified as a Designated Management Agency or allocated a wasteload under a total 

maximum daily load (TMDL). 
e. New information or regulations. 
f. Modification of compliance schedules. 
g. Requirements of permit reopener conditions  
h. Correction of technical mistakes made in determining permit conditions. 
i. Determination that the permitted activity endangers human health or the environment. 
j. Other causes as specified in 40 CFR §§ 122.62, 122.64, and 124.5. 
k. For communities with combined sewer overflows (CSOs): 

(1) To comply with any state or federal law regulation for CSOs that is adopted or promulgated 
subsequent to the effective date of this permit. 
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(2) If new information that was not available at the time of permit issuance indicates that CSO 
controls imposed under this permit have failed to ensure attainment of water quality standards, 
including protection of designated uses. 

(3) Resulting from implementation of the permittee’s long-term control plan and/or permit conditions 
related to CSOs. 

 
The filing of a request by the permittee for a permit modification, revocation or reissuance, termination, or 
a notification of planned changes or anticipated noncompliance does not stay any permit condition. 

 
A6. Toxic Pollutants 

The permittee must comply with any applicable effluent standards or prohibitions established under Oregon 
Administrative Rule (OAR) 340-041-0033 and section 307(a) of the federal Clean Water Act for toxic 
pollutants, and with standards for sewage sludge use or disposal established under section 405(d) of the 
federal Clean Water Act, within the time provided in the regulations that establish those standards or 
prohibitions, even if the permit has not yet been modified to incorporate the requirement. 

 
A7. Property Rights and Other Legal Requirements 

The issuance of this permit does not convey any property rights of any sort, or any exclusive privilege, or 
authorize any injury to persons or property or invasion of any other private rights, or any infringement of 
federal, tribal, state, or local laws or regulations. 

 
A8. Permit References 

Except for effluent standards or prohibitions established under section 307(a) of the federal Clean Water 
Act and OAR 340-041-0033 for toxic pollutants, and standards for sewage sludge use or disposal 
established under section 405(d) of the federal Clean Water Act, all rules and statutes referred to in this 
permit are those in effect on the date this permit is issued.  

 
A9. Permit Fees 

The permittee must pay the fees required by OAR. 
 
SECTION B. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF POLLUTION CONTROLS 
B1. Proper Operation and Maintenance 

The permittee must at all times properly operate and maintain all facilities and systems of treatment and 
control (and related appurtenances) that are installed or used by the permittee to achieve compliance with 
the conditions of this permit. Proper operation and maintenance also includes adequate laboratory controls 
and appropriate quality assurance procedures. This provision requires the operation of back-up or auxiliary 
facilities or similar systems that are installed by a permittee only when the operation is necessary to achieve 
compliance with the conditions of the permit. 

 
B2. Need to Halt or Reduce Activity Not a Defense 

For industrial or commercial facilities, upon reduction, loss, or failure of the treatment facility, the 
permittee must, to the extent necessary to maintain compliance with its permit, control production or all 
discharges or both until the facility is restored or an alternative method of treatment is provided. This 
requirement applies, for example, when the primary source of power of the treatment facility fails or is 
reduced or lost. It is not a defense for a permittee in an enforcement action that it would have been 
necessary to halt or reduce the permitted activity in order to maintain compliance with the conditions of this 
permit. 
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B3. Bypass of Treatment Facilities 
a. Definitions 

(1) "Bypass" means intentional diversion of waste streams from any portion of the treatment facility. 
The permittee may allow any bypass to occur which does not cause effluent limitations to be 
exceeded, provided the diversion is to allow essential maintenance to assure efficient operation. 
These bypasses are not subject to the provisions of paragraphs b and c of this section.  

(2) "Severe property damage" means substantial physical damage to property, damage to the 
treatment facilities which causes them to become inoperable, or substantial and permanent loss of 
natural resources that can reasonably be expected to occur in the absence of a bypass. Severe 
property damage does not mean economic loss caused by delays in production.  

b. Prohibition of bypass.  
(1) Bypass is prohibited and DEQ may take enforcement action against a permittee for bypass unless:  

i. Bypass was unavoidable to prevent loss of life, personal injury, or severe property damage;  
ii. There were no feasible alternatives to the bypass, such as the use of auxiliary treatment 

facilities, retention of untreated wastes, or maintenance during normal periods of equipment 
downtime. This condition is not satisfied if adequate backup equipment should have been 
installed in the exercise of reasonable engineering judgment to prevent a bypass that 
occurred during normal periods of equipment downtime or preventative maintenance; and  

iii. The permittee submitted notices and requests as required under General Condition B3.c.  
(2) DEQ may approve an anticipated bypass, after considering its adverse effects and any alternatives 

to bypassing, if DEQ determines that it will meet the three conditions listed above in General 
Condition B3.b.(1).  

c. Notice and request for bypass.  
(1) Anticipated bypass. If the permittee knows in advance of the need for a bypass, a written notice 

must be submitted to DEQ at least ten days before the date of the bypass.  
(2) Unanticipated bypass. The permittee must submit notice of an unanticipated bypass as required in 

General Condition D5.  
 
B4. Upset 

a. Definition. "Upset" means an exceptional incident in which there is unintentional and temporary 
noncompliance with technology based permit effluent limitations because of factors beyond the 
reasonable control of the permittee. An upset does not include noncompliance to the extent caused by 
operation error, improperly designed treatment facilities, inadequate treatment facilities, lack of 
preventative maintenance, or careless or improper operation. 

b. Effect of an upset. An upset constitutes an affirmative defense to an action brought for noncompliance 
with such technology-based permit effluent limitations if the requirements of General Condition B4.c 
are met. No determination made during administrative review of claims that noncompliance was 
caused by upset, and before an action for noncompliance, is final administrative action subject to 
judicial review. 

c. Conditions necessary for a demonstration of upset. A permittee who wishes to establish the affirmative 
defense of upset must demonstrate, through properly signed, contemporaneous operating logs, or other 
relevant evidence that: 
(1) An upset occurred and that the permittee can identify the causes(s) of the upset; 
(2) The permitted facility was at the time being properly operated; 
(3) The permittee submitted notice of the upset as required in General Condition D5, hereof (24-hour 

notice); and 
(4) The permittee complied with any remedial measures required under General Condition A3 

hereof. 
d. Burden of proof. In any enforcement proceeding the permittee seeking to establish the occurrence of 

an upset has the burden of proof. 
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B5. Treatment of Single Operational Upset  
For purposes of this permit, a single operational upset that leads to simultaneous violations of more than 
one pollutant parameter will be treated as a single violation. A single operational upset is an exceptional 
incident that causes simultaneous, unintentional, unknowing (not the result of a knowing act or omission), 
temporary noncompliance with more than one federal Clean Water Act effluent discharge pollutant 
parameter. A single operational upset does not include federal Clean Water Act violations involving 
discharge without a NPDES permit or noncompliance to the extent caused by improperly designed or 
inadequate treatment facilities. Each day of a single operational upset is a violation. 

 
B6. Overflows from Wastewater Conveyance Systems and Associated Pump Stations 

a. Definition. "Overflow" means any spill, release or diversion of sewage including: 
(1) An overflow that results in a discharge to waters of the United States; and 
(2) An overflow of wastewater, including a wastewater backup into a building (other than a backup 

caused solely by a blockage or other malfunction in a privately owned sewer or building lateral), 
even if that overflow does not reach waters of the United States. 

b. Reporting required. All overflows must be reported orally to DEQ within 24 hours from the time the 
permittee becomes aware of the overflow. Reporting procedures are described in more detail in 
General Condition D5.  

 
B7. Public Notification of Effluent Violation or Overflow 

If effluent limitations specified in this permit are exceeded or an overflow occurs that threatens public 
health, the permittee must take such steps as are necessary to alert the public, health agencies and other 
affected entities (for example, public water systems) about the extent and nature of the discharge in 
accordance with the notification procedures developed under General Condition B8. Such steps may 
include, but are not limited to, posting of the river at access points and other places, news releases, and paid 
announcements on radio and television. 

 
B8. Emergency Response and Public Notification Plan 

The permittee must develop and implement an emergency response and public notification plan that 
identifies measures to protect public health from overflows, bypasses, or upsets that may endanger public 
health. At a minimum the plan must include mechanisms to: 
a. Ensure that the permittee is aware (to the greatest extent possible) of such events; 
b. Ensure notification of appropriate personnel and ensure that they are immediately dispatched for 

investigation and response; 
c. Ensure immediate notification to the public, health agencies, and other affected public entities 

(including public water systems). The overflow response plan must identify the public health and other 
officials who will receive immediate notification; 

d. Ensure that appropriate personnel are aware of and follow the plan and are appropriately trained; 
e. Provide emergency operations; and 
f. Ensure that DEQ is notified of the public notification steps taken.  

 
B9. Removed Substances 

Solids, sludges, filter backwash, or other pollutants removed in the course of treatment or control of 
wastewaters must be disposed of in such a manner as to prevent any pollutant from such materials from 
entering waters of the state, causing nuisance conditions, or creating a public health hazard. 

 
SECTION C. MONITORING AND RECORDS 
C1. Representative Sampling 

Sampling and measurements taken as required herein must be representative of the volume and nature of 
the monitored discharge. All samples must be taken at the monitoring points specified in this permit, and 
must be taken, unless otherwise specified, before the effluent joins or is diluted by any other waste stream, 
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body of water, or substance. Monitoring points must not be changed without notification to and the 
approval of DEQ. Samples must be collected in accordance with requirements in 40 CFR part 122.21 and 
40 CFR part 403 Appendix E. 

 
C2. Flow Measurements

Appropriate flow measurement devices and methods consistent with accepted scientific practices must be 
selected and used to ensure the accuracy and reliability of measurements of the volume of monitored 
discharges. The devices must be installed, calibrated and maintained to insure that the accuracy of the 
measurements is consistent with the accepted capability of that type of device. Devices selected must be 
capable of measuring flows with a maximum deviation of less than ± 10 percent from true discharge rates 
throughout the range of expected discharge volumes. 

 
C3. Monitoring Procedures  

Monitoring must be conducted according to test procedures approved under 40 CFR part 136 or, in the case 
of sludge (biosolids) use and disposal, approved under 40 CFR part 503 unless other test procedures have 
been specified in this permit. 

For monitoring of recycled water with no discharge to waters of the state, monitoring must be conducted 
according to test procedures approved under 40 CFR part 136 or as specified in the most recent edition of 
Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater unless other test procedures have been 
specified in this permit or approved in writing by DEQ. 

 
C4. Penalties for Tampering 

The federal Clean Water Act provides that any person who falsifies, tampers with, or knowingly renders 
inaccurate any monitoring device or method required to be maintained under this permit may, upon 
conviction, be punished by a fine of not more than $10,000 per violation, imprisonment for not more than 
two years, or both. If a conviction of a person is for a violation committed after a first conviction of such 
person, punishment is a fine not more than $20,000 per day of violation, or by imprisonment of not more 
than four years, or both. 

 
C5. Reporting of Monitoring Results 

Monitoring results must be summarized each month on a discharge monitoring report form approved by 
DEQ. The reports must be submitted monthly and are to be mailed, delivered or otherwise transmitted by 
the 15th day of the following month unless specifically approved otherwise in Schedule B of this permit. 

 
C6. Additional Monitoring by the Permittee 

If the permittee monitors any pollutant more frequently than required by this permit, using test procedures 
approved under 40 CFR part 136 or, in the case of sludge (biosolids) use and disposal, approved under 40 
CFR part 503, or as specified in this permit, the results of this monitoring must be included in the 
calculation and reporting of the data submitted in the discharge monitoring report. Such increased 
frequency must also be indicated. For a pollutant parameter that may be sampled more than once per day 
(for example, total residual chlorine), only the average daily value must be recorded unless otherwise 
specified in this permit. 

 
C7. Averaging of Measurements 

Calculations for all limitations that require averaging of measurements must utilize an arithmetic mean, 
except for bacteria which must be averaged as specified in this permit. 

 
C8. Retention of Records 

Records of monitoring information required by this permit related to the permittee’s sewage sludge use and 
disposal activities must be retained for a period of at least 5 years (or longer as required by 40 CFR part 
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503). Records of all monitoring information including all calibration and maintenance records, all original 
strip chart recordings for continuous monitoring instrumentation, copies of all reports required by this 
permit and records of all data used to complete the application for this permit must be retained for a period 
of at least 3 years from the date of the sample, measurement, report, or application. This period may be 
extended by request of DEQ at any time. 

 
C9. Records Contents 

Records of monitoring information must include: 
a. The date, exact place, time, and methods of sampling or measurements; 
b. The individual(s) who performed the sampling or measurements; 
c. The date(s) analyses were performed; 
d. The individual(s) who performed the analyses; 
e. The analytical techniques or methods used; and 
f. The results of such analyses. 

 
C10. Inspection and Entry 

The permittee must allow DEQ or EPA upon the presentation of credentials to: 
a. Enter upon the permittee's premises where a regulated facility or activity is located or conducted, or 

where records must be kept under the conditions of this permit; 
b. Have access to and copy, at reasonable times, any records that must be kept under the conditions of 

this permit; 
c. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities, equipment (including monitoring and control equipment), 

practices, or operations regulated or required under this permit; and 
d. Sample or monitor at reasonable times, for the purpose of assuring permit compliance or as otherwise 

authorized by state law, any substances or parameters at any location. 
 
C11. Confidentiality of Information 

Any information relating to this permit that is submitted to or obtained by DEQ is available to the public 
unless classified as confidential by the Director of DEQ under ORS 468.095. The permittee may request 
that information be classified as confidential if it is a trade secret as defined by that statute. The name and 
address of the permittee, permit applications, permits, effluent data, and information required by NPDES 
application forms under 40 CFR § 122.21 are not classified as confidential [40 CFR § 122.7(b)].  

 
SECTION D. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
D1. Planned Changes 

The permittee must comply with OAR 340-052, “Review of Plans and Specifications” and 40 CFR § 
122.41(l)(1). Except where exempted under OAR 340-052, no construction, installation, or modification 
involving disposal systems, treatment works, sewerage systems, or common sewers may be commenced 
until the plans and specifications are submitted to and approved by DEQ. The permittee must give notice to 
DEQ as soon as possible of any planned physical alternations or additions to the permitted facility. 

 
D2. Anticipated Noncompliance 

The permittee must give advance notice to DEQ of any planned changes in the permitted facility or activity 
that may result in noncompliance with permit requirements. 

 
D3. Transfers 

This permit may be transferred to a new permittee provided the transferee acquires a property interest in the 
permitted activity and agrees in writing to fully comply with all the terms and conditions of the permit and 
EQC rules. No permit may be transferred to a third party without prior written approval from DEQ. DEQ 
may require modification, revocation, and reissuance of the permit to change the name of the permittee and 
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incorporate such other requirements as may be necessary under 40 CFR § 122.61. The permittee must 
notify DEQ when a transfer of property interest takes place. 

 
D4. Compliance Schedule 

Reports of compliance or noncompliance with, or any progress reports on interim and final requirements 
contained in any compliance schedule of this permit must be submitted no later than 14 days following 
each schedule date. Any reports of noncompliance must include the cause of noncompliance, any remedial 
actions taken, and the probability of meeting the next scheduled requirements. 

 
D5. Twenty-Four Hour Reporting 

The permittee must report any noncompliance that may endanger health or the environment. Any 
information must be provided orally (by telephone) to the DEQ regional office or Oregon Emergency 
Response System (1-800-452-0311) as specified below within 24 hours from the time the permittee 
becomes aware of the circumstances.  
a. Overflows.  

(1) Oral Reporting within 24 hours. 
i. For overflows other than basement backups, the following information must be reported to 

the Oregon Emergency Response System (OERS) at 1-800-452-0311. For basement 
backups, this information should be reported directly to the DEQ regional office. 
(a) The location of the overflow; 
(b) The receiving water (if there is one); 
(c) An estimate of the volume of the overflow; 
(d) A description of the sewer system component from which the release occurred (for 

example, manhole, constructed overflow pipe, crack in pipe); and 
(e) The estimated date and time when the overflow began and stopped or will be stopped. 

ii. The following information must be reported to the DEQ regional office within 24 hours, or 
during normal business hours, whichever is earlier:  
(a) The OERS incident number (if applicable); and 
(b) A brief description of the event. 

(2) Written reporting postmarked within 5 days.  
i. The following information must be provided in writing to the DEQ regional office within 5 

days of the time the permittee becomes aware of the overflow: 
(a) The OERS incident number (if applicable); 
(b) The cause or suspected cause of the overflow; 
(c) Steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent reoccurrence of the overflow 

and a schedule of major milestones for those steps; 
(d) Steps taken or planned to mitigate the impact(s) of the overflow and a schedule of 

major milestones for those steps; and 
(e) For storm-related overflows, the rainfall intensity (inches/hour) and duration of the 

storm associated with the overflow.  
DEQ may waive the written report on a case-by-case basis if the oral report has been received 
within 24 hours.  

b. Other instances of noncompliance. 
(1) The following instances of noncompliance must be reported: 

i. Any unanticipated bypass that exceeds any effluent limitation in this permit;  
ii. Any upset that exceeds any effluent limitation in this permit;  
iii. Violation of maximum daily discharge limitation for any of the pollutants listed by DEQ in 

this permit; and  
iv. Any noncompliance that may endanger human health or the environment.  
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(2) During normal business hours, the DEQ regional office must be called. Outside of normal 
business hours, DEQ must be contacted at 1-800-452-0311 (Oregon Emergency Response 
System). 

(3) A written submission must be provided within 5 days of the time the permittee becomes aware of 
the circumstances. The written submission must contain:  
i. A description of the noncompliance and its cause;  
ii. The period of noncompliance, including exact dates and times;  
iii. The estimated time noncompliance is expected to continue if it has not been corrected; 
iv. Steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent reoccurrence of the noncompliance; 

and 
v. Public notification steps taken, pursuant to General Condition B7. 

(4) DEQ may waive the written report on a case-by-case basis if the oral report has been received 
within 24 hours. 

 
D6. Other Noncompliance 

The permittee must report all instances of noncompliance not reported under General Condition D4 or D5 
at the time monitoring reports are submitted. The reports must contain: 
a. A description of the noncompliance and its cause; 
b. The period of noncompliance, including exact dates and times; 
c. The estimated time noncompliance is expected to continue if it has not been corrected; and 
d. Steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent reoccurrence of the noncompliance. 

 
D7. Duty to Provide Information 

The permittee must furnish to DEQ within a reasonable time any information that DEQ may request to 
determine compliance with the permit or to determine whether cause exists for modifying, revoking and 
reissuing, or terminating this permit. The permittee must also furnish to DEQ, upon request, copies of 
records required to be kept by this permit. 

 
Other Information: When the permittee becomes aware that it has failed to submit any relevant facts or has 
submitted incorrect information in a permit application or any report to DEQ, it must promptly submit such 
facts or information. 

 
D8. Signatory Requirements 

All applications, reports or information submitted to DEQ must be signed and certified in accordance with 
40 CFR § 122.22. 

 
D9. Falsification of Information 

Under ORS 468.953, any person who knowingly makes any false statement, representation, or certification 
in any record or other document submitted or required to be maintained under this permit, including 
monitoring reports or reports of compliance or noncompliance, is subject to a Class C felony punishable by 
a fine not to exceed $125,000 per violation and up to 5 years in prison per ORS chapter 161. Additionally, 
according to 40 CFR § 122.41(k)(2), any person who knowingly makes any false statement, representation, 
or certification in any record or other document submitted or required to be maintained under this permit 
including monitoring reports or reports of compliance or non-compliance will, upon conviction, be 
punished by a federal civil penalty not to exceed $10,000 per violation, or by imprisonment for not more 
than 6 months per violation, or by both. 
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D10. Changes to Indirect Dischargers 
The permittee must provide adequate notice to DEQ of the following: 
a. Any new introduction of pollutants into the POTW from an indirect discharger which would be 

subject to section 301 or 306 of the federal Clean Water Act if it were directly discharging those 
pollutants and; 

b. Any substantial change in the volume or character of pollutants being introduced into the POTW by a 
source introducing pollutants into the POTW at the time of issuance of the permit. 

c. For the purposes of this paragraph, adequate notice must include information on (i) the quality and 
quantity of effluent introduced into the POTW, and (ii) any anticipated impact of the change on the 
quantity or quality of effluent to be discharged from the POTW. 

 
SECTION E. DEFINITIONS 
E1. BOD or BOD5 means five-day biochemical oxygen demand. 
E2. CBOD or CBOD5 means five-day carbonaceous biochemical oxygen demand. 
E3. TSS means total suspended solids. 
E4. Bacteria means but is not limited to fecal coliform bacteria, total coliform bacteria, Escherichia coli (E. 

coli) bacteria, and Enterococcus bacteria. 
E5. FC means fecal coliform bacteria. 
E6. Total residual chlorine means combined chlorine forms plus free residual chlorine 
E7. Technology based permit effluent limitations means technology-based treatment requirements as defined in 

40 CFR § 125.3, and concentration and mass load effluent limitations that are based on minimum design 
criteria specified in OAR 340-041.  

E8. mg/l means milligrams per liter. 
E9. μg/l means microgram per liter. 
E10. kg means kilograms. 
E11. m3/d means cubic meters per day. 
E12. MGD means million gallons per day. 
E13. Average monthly effluent limitation as defined at 40 CFR § 122.2 means the highest allowable average of 

daily discharges over a calendar month, calculated as the sum of all daily discharges measured during a 
calendar month divided by the number of daily discharges measured during that month.  

E14. Average weekly effluent limitation as defined at 40 CFR § 122.2 means the highest allowable average of 
daily discharges over a calendar week, calculated as the sum of all daily discharges measured during a 
calendar week divided by the number of daily discharges measured during that week. 

E15. Daily discharge as defined at 40 CFR § 122.2 means the discharge of a pollutant measured during a 
calendar day or any 24-hour period that reasonably represents the calendar day for purposes of sampling. 
For pollutants with limitations expressed in units of mass, the daily discharge must be calculated as the 
total mass of the pollutant discharged over the day. For pollutants with limitations expressed in other units 
of measurement, the daily discharge must be calculated as the average measurement of the pollutant over 
the day.  

E16. 24-hour composite sample means a sample formed by collecting and mixing discrete samples taken 
periodically and based on time or flow.  

E17. Grab sample means an individual discrete sample collected over a period of time not to exceed 15 minutes. 
E18. Quarter means January through March, April through June, July through September, or October through 

December. 
E19. Month means calendar month.  
E20. Week means a calendar week of Sunday through Saturday. 
E21. POTW means a publicly-owned treatment works. 
 

194 of 329



v10/30/2020 Page 1 of 25 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
Permit Renewal Fact Sheet 

City of Aurora
Final – June 29, 2022 

Permittee City of Aurora
21420 Main Street NE 
Aurora, OR 97002

Existing Permit Information File Number: 100020
Permit Number: 101772 
EPA Reference Number: OR0043991 
Category: Minor - Domestic
Expiration Date: July 31, 2021

Permittee Contact Mark Gunter
Public Works Superintendent 
971-930-3597 
21420 Main Street NE 
Aurora, OR 97002

Receiving Water Information Water Body Name: Pudding River
River Mile: 8.4 
Assessment Unit ID: OR_SR_1709000905_02_104088  
Sub Basin Name: Molalla-Pudding  
Basin Name: Willamette

Proposed Action Renew permit
Application Number: 950727 
Date Application Received: Nov 16, 2020

Permit Writer Evan Haas
503-229-5294 
Date Prepared: June 23, 2022

195 of 329



 

V10/30/2020 p. 1 of 25 

NPDES Permit Renewal Fact Sheet 
City of Aurora 

 
 

Table of Contents 
1. Introduction .............................................................................................................. 3 
2. Facility Description .................................................................................................. 3 

2.1 Wastewater Facility ......................................................................................................... 3 
2.2 Compliance History ......................................................................................................... 6 
2.3 Stormwater ....................................................................................................................... 6 
2.4 Industrial Pretreatment ..................................................................................................... 6 
2.5 Biosolids .......................................................................................................................... 6 
2.6 Recycled Water ................................................................................................................ 6 
2.7 Wastewater Classification ................................................................................................ 6 

3. Schedule A: Effluent Limit Development ............................................................... 6 
3.1 Existing Effluent Limits ................................................................................................... 7 
3.2 Technology-Based Effluent Limit Development ............................................................. 7 
3.3 Water Quality-Based Effluent Limit Development ....................................................... 10 
3.4 Antibacksliding .............................................................................................................. 19 
3.5 Antidegradation.............................................................................................................. 19 
3.6 Whole Effluent Toxicity ................................................................................................ 20 
3.7 Groundwater .................................................................................................................. 20 

4. Schedule A: Other Limitations.............................................................................. 20 
4.1 Mixing Zone................................................................................................................... 20 
4.2 Biosolids ........................................................................................................................ 20 
4.3 Recycled Water or Irrigation of Industrial Wastewater ................................................. 20 

5. Schedule B: Monitoring and Reporting Requirements ....................................... 20 
6. Schedule C: Compliance Schedules and Conditions ......................................... 21 
7. Schedule D: Special Conditions ........................................................................... 21 

7.1 Inflow and Infiltration .................................................................................................... 21 
7.2 Emergency Response and Public Notification Plan....................................................... 21 
7.3 Recycled Water Use Plan............................................................................................... 21 
7.4 Exempt Wastewater Reuse at the Treatment System .................................................... 21 
7.5 Wastewater Solids Annual Report ................................................................................. 21 
7.6 Wastewater Solids Transfers.......................................................................................... 22 
7.7 Hauled Waste Control Plan ............................................................................................ 22 
7.8 Hauled Waste Annual Report ........................................................................................ 22 
7.9 Lagoon Solids ................................................................................................................ 22 

196 of 329



 

V10/30/2020 p. 2 of 25 

7.10 Operator Certification .................................................................................................... 22 
7.11 Industrial User Survey ................................................................................................... 22 
7.12 Outfall Inspection........................................................................................................... 22 

8. Schedule F: NPDES General Conditions ............................................................. 22 
9. Next Steps .............................................................................................................. 23 
Appendix A: Groundwater Prioritization Worksheet ................................................ 24 
 
 

List of Tables 
Table 2-1: List of Outfalls............................................................................................................... 5 
Table 3-1: Existing Effluent Limits ................................................................................................ 7 
Table 3-1: Comparison of TBELs for Federal Secondary Treatment Standards and Oregon Basin-
Specific Design Criteria .................................................................................................................. 8 
Table 3-2: Design Flows and Concentrations ................................................................................. 9 
Table 3-3: Technology-Based Effluent Limits ............................................................................. 10 
Table 3-4: WQ-Limited and TMDL Parameters .......................................................................... 11 
Table 3-5: Applicable WLAs ........................................................................................................ 12 
Table 3-6: Domestic Toxic Pollutants of Concern ....................................................................... 12 
Table 3-7: Pollutants of Concern .................................................................................................. 13 
Table 3-8: pH Reasonable Potential Analysis .............................................................................. 15 
Table 3-9: Temperature Criteria Information ............................................................................... 16 
Table 3-10: Temperature Criterion Effluent Limits...................................................................... 16 
Table 3-11: Thermal Plume Effluent Limit .................................................................................. 17 
Table 3-12: Proposed E. coli Limits ............................................................................................. 18 
 
 

List of Figures 
Figure 2-1: Wastewater Treatment Plant Location (Google Earth) ................................................ 4 
Figure 2-2: Wastewater Treatment Diagram .................................................................................. 5 
 
 

197 of 329



 

V10/30/2020 p. 3 of 25 

NPDES Permit Renewal Fact Sheet 
City of Aurora 

 

1. Introduction 
As required by Oregon Administrative Rule 340-045-0035, this fact sheet describes the basis and 
methodology used in developing the permit. The permit is divided into several sections: 
 

Schedule A – Waste discharge limitations 
Schedule B – Minimum monitoring and report requirements 
Schedule C – Compliance conditions and schedules 
Schedule D – Special conditions 
Schedule E – Pretreatment activities 
Schedule F – General conditions 

 
A summary of the major changes to the permit are listed below: 
 

 The monthly average concentration limit for total residual chlorine decreased; the new 
limit is 0.03 mg/L. 

 The daily maximum concentration limit for total residual chlorine decreased; the new 
limit is 0.08 mg/L. 

 A requirement to collect effluent total iron samples quarterly, for eight quarters, is 
included in the permit. 

2. Facility Description 
2.1 Wastewater Facility 
The City of Aurora operates a wastewater treatment plant, located at 21494 Mill Race Road, 
Aurora, OR, in Marion County (Figure 2-1). The City initated plant operations in 2001. The 
treatment plant collects domestic sewage from the City of Aurora, and treats it before 
discharging to the Pudding River. The treatment plant is an aerated lagoon system and utilizes an 
activated sludge process for treatment (Figure 2-2). 

Influent is pumped to the headworks, which includes a flow meter, screen, and a grit removal 
system. After screening, the influent enters a six cell, 500,000 gallon aerated lagoon system 
where treatment occurs. The treated influent is then discharged to an approximately 7,000,000 
gallon storage lagoon. The City is permitted to discharge effluent to the Pudding River from 
November 1 through April 30; during this time period, wastewater in the storage lagoon is 
chlorinated and dechlorinated prior to discharge. Treated effluent is pumped and discharged 
through a single-port submerged diffuser into the Pudding River at River Mile 8.4. Between May 
1 and October 31, the City land applies wastewater on approximately 7 acres of City owned 
property adjacent to the treatment facility. The City’s outfalls are listed in Table 2-1.  
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Figure 2-1: Wastewater Treatment Plant Location (Google Earth) 

  

WWTP 
Outfall 001 

199 of 329



 

V10/30/2020 p. 5 of 25 

 
Figure 2-3: Wastewater Treatment Diagram 

 
 

Table 2-1: List of Outfalls 

Outfall Number Type of Waste Lat/Long Design Flow1 

(mgd) 
Existing Flow2 

(mgd) 
001 Treated 

Wastewater 
45.22944/-
122.75278 

0.087 0.061 

002 Recycled Water Specified in 
Recycled Water 
Use Plan 

N/A N/A 

1. Design Flow = average dry weather design flow 
2. Existing Flow = approximate annual average flow (2019-2020) 
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2.2 Compliance History 
During the current permit cycle, the City was issued a warning letter with opportunity to correct 
on November 2, 2018 for exceeding the permit limit for total residual chlorine and for failing to 
submit complete reports. The City met with DEQ to discuss the violations and implemented 
corrective actions. The facility was last inspected on February 12, 2020. During the inspection, 
DEQ identified minor issues, and issued the City a warning letter with opportunity to correct, 
requiring the City to address the issues.  

2.3 Stormwater 
Stormwater is not addressed in this permit. General NPDES permits for stormwater are not 
required for facilities with a design flow of less than 1 MGD. 

2.4 Industrial Pretreatment 
The permittee does not have a DEQ-approved industrial pretreatment program. Based on current 
information, no industrial pretreatment program is needed.  

2.5 Biosolids  
The permit holder does not currently land apply biosolids or produce biosolids for sale or 
distribution, and does not intend to do so during the term of this permit.  

2.6 Recycled Water 
The permit holder currently operates a recycled water program to produce a Class (A, B, C, D, or 
Non-disinfected) recycled water for (irrigation, industrial, other) uses and anticipates continuing 
to do so. A recycled water use plan was submitted to DEQ for review and is available for public 
comment with the permit. Once approved after public comment, conditions in the recycled water 
use plan become permit conditions. 

2.7 Wastewater Classification 
OAR 340-049 requires all permitted municipal wastewater collection and treatment facilities 
receive a classification based on the size and complexity of the systems. DEQ evaluated the 
classifications for the treatment and collection system, which are publicly available at: 
https://www.deq.state.or.us/wq/opcert/Docs/OpcertReport.pdf. 

3. Schedule A: Effluent Limit Development 
Effluent limits serve as the primary mechanism in NPDES permits for controlling discharges of 
pollutants to receiving waters. Effluent limitations can be based on either the technology 
available to control the pollutants or limits that are protective of the water quality standards for 
the receiving water. DEQ refers to these two types of permit limits as technology-based effluent 
limitations (TBELs) and water quality-based effluent limits (WQBELs) respectively. When a 
TBEL is not restrictive enough to protect the receiving stream, DEQ must include a WQBEL in 
the permit. 
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3.1 Existing Effluent Limits 
The table below shows the limits contained in the existing permit. 
 

Table 3-1: Existing Effluent Limits 

Parameter Units Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly 

Daily 
Maximum 

Effluent Flow  
(May 1 – October 31)  

 
MGD 

 
No discharge (Daily max limit = 0 MGD) 

BOD5 (November 1 – April 
30)  

mg/L 30 45 - 
lb/day 30 60 140 
% removal 85 - - 

TSS (November 1 – April 30)  
 

mg/L 50 80 - 
lb/day 47 90 220 
% removal 65 - - 

pH  SU Must be within the range of 6.0 to 9.0 S.U. 
E. coli  
 

#/100 mL Monthly geometric mean must not exceed 126 
organisms per 100 mL Any single sample must 
not exceed 406 organisms per 100 mL 

Total Residual Chlorine mg/L Monthly average concentration must not 
exceed 0.07. 
Daily maximum concentration must not exceed 
0.19. 

3.2 Technology-Based Effluent Limit Development 
40 CFR 122.44(a)(1) requires publically owned treatment works (POTW) to meet technology-
based effluent limits, for five-day biochemical oxygen demand (BOD5), total suspended solids 
(TSS) and pH (i.e., federal secondary treatment standards). Substitution of 5-day carbonaceous 
oxygen demand (CBOD5) for BOD5 is allowed. The numeric standards for these pollutants are 
contained in 40 CFR 133.102. In addition, DEQ has developed minimum design criteria for 
BOD5 and TSS that apply to specific watershed basins in Oregon. These are listed in the basin-
specific criteria sections under OAR 340-041-0101 to 0350. During the summer low flow 
months as defined by OAR, these design criteria are more stringent than the federal secondary 
treatment standards. The basin-specific criteria are not effluent limits, but are implemented as 
design criteria for new or expanded wastewater treatment plants. The table below shows a 
comparison of the federal secondary treatment standards and the basin-specific design criteria for 
the Willamette Basin.  
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Table 3-2: Comparison of TBELs for Federal Secondary Treatment Standards and 
Oregon Basin-Specific Design Criteria 

Parameter Federal Secondary Treatment 
Standards 

Willamette Basin-Specific 
Design Criteria 

(OAR 340-041-0345) 
 30-Day Average 7-Day Average Monthly Average 
BOD5 (mg/L) 30 45 10 mg/L from May 1 – 

October 31; 30 mg/L from 
November 1 – April 30 

TSS (mg/L) 30 45 10 mg/L from May 1 – 
October 31; 30 mg/L from 
November 1 – April 30 

pH (S.U.) 6.0 – 9.0. (instantaneous) Not applicable because pH in 
basin is water quality-based 

BOD5 and TSS 
% Removal 

85% Not applicable 

 
In addition to the standards in 40 CFR 133.102, 40 CFR 133.105 allows less stringent effluent 
limits for POTWs, such as this facility, using waste stabilization ponds or trickling filters as their 
method of treatment. These facilities are required to achieve a monthly average BOD5 and TSS 
concentrations of 45 mg/L, a weekly average limits of 65 mg/L and a removal efficiency of 65%.  
 
To be eligible for discharge limitations based on equivalent to secondary standards, a POTW 
must meet all three of the following criteria: 
 

1. The effluent must consistently exceed secondary treatment standards; 
2. The principal treatment process must be a trickling filter or a waste stabilization pond; 

and 
3. The POTW must provide significant biological treatment of the wastewater. 

 
DEQ has evaluated these criteria and has determined that the facility meets all three. 
 
Additional special considerations for TSS limits from waste stabilization ponds are described in 
(40 CFR 133.103(c)). These allow less stringent TSS limits for waste stabilization ponds. In the 
early 1980s, DEQ determined that waste stabilization ponds west of the Cascade Mountains are 
capable of achieving a monthly average concentration of 50 mg/L and east of the Cascade 
Mountains a monthly average of 85 mg/L. EPA published these approved alternate TSS 
requirements in 49 Federal Register (FR) 37005, September 20, 1984. DEQ used the criteria 
applicable to this facility to determine the effluent concentration limits for BOD5 and TSS 
included in the facility’s initial (2000) permit. These limits have been maintained in subsequent 
permits. 
 
For BOD5, DEQ is proposing to maintain the monthly average limit of 30 mg/L, the weekly limit 
of 45 mg/L, and a removal efficiency of 85%. 
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For TSS, DEQ is proposing to maintain the monthly average limit of 50 mg/L, the weekly limit 
of 80mg/L, and a removal efficiency of 65%. 
 
The limits for BOD5 and TSS shown in the table above are concentration-based limits. Mass-
based limits are also required per OAR 340-041-0061(9).  For treatment facilities (such as this 
facility) that were upgraded after June 30, 1992, this rule requires that the mass load limits must 
be calculated based on the treatment facility capabilities. DEQ previously calculated winter mass 
load limits for this facility.. These limits were included in the 2000 permit and have been 
maintained in subsequent permits.  
 
DEQ calculated winter mass load limits based on the maximum flows at the plant with a two 
year recurrence, and the capability of the plant at those flows. The estimated maximum daily 
discharge from the plant is 0.432 MGD, the highest weekly average discharge flow with a two 
year recurrence is 0.180 MGD, and the highest monthly average winter discharge flow with a 
two year recurrence is 0.142 MGD. BST, Inc., on behalf of the permittee determined at those 
flows the facility can reasonably achieve 40 mg/L BOD5 and 60 mg/L TSS for a daily maximum, 
40 mg/L BOD5 and 60 mg/L TSS as a weekly average, and 25 mg/L BOD5 and 40 mg/L TSS as a 
monthly average. The flows and concentrations used to develop the mass-based limits are included 
in the table below. 
 
The following equations are used to calculate the mass-based limits for BOD5 and TSS:  
 

Monthly Average Mass Load = Wet Weather Monthly Design Flow x Monthly Concentration 
Design Value x Unit Conversion factor  

 
Weekly Average Mass Load = Wet Weather Weekly Design Flow x Weekly Concentration 
Design Value x Unit Conversion factor  

 
Daily Maximum Mass Load = Wet Weather Daily Design Flow x Daily Concentration 
Design Value x Unit Conversion factor 

 
The following table lists the effluent flows and concentration limits used for the calculations. 
 

Table 3-3: Design Flows and Concentrations 

Season Design Flow 
(mgd) 

TSS Concentration 
Design Value 

(mg/L) 

BOD5 
Concentration 
Design Value  

(mg/L) 
Wet Weather (Monthly) 0.142 40 25 
Wet Weather (Weekly) 0.180 60 40 
Wet Weather (Daily) 0.432 60 40 
Design flow comments: Flows are based on expected treatment plant capabilities. Permittee 
only discharges during the wet weather period. 

 
BOD5 calculations: 
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Monthly Average: 0.142 mgd x 25 mg/L x 8.34 = 30 lbs/day (Two significant figures)  
 
Weekly Average: 0.180 mgd x 40 mg/L x 8.34 = 60 lbs/day 
 
Daily Maximum: 0.432 mgd x 40 mg/L x 8.34 = 140 lbs/day 

 
TSS calculations: 
  

Monthly Average: 0.142 mgd x 40 mg/L x 8.34 = 47 lbs/day (Two significant figures)  
 
Weekly Average: 0.180 mgd x 60 mg/L x 8.34 = 90 lbs/day 
 
Daily Maximum: 0.432 mgd x 60 mg/L x 8.34 = 220 lbs/day 

 
The proposed BOD5 and TSS limits are listed in the following table. 
 

Table 3-4: Technology-Based Effluent Limits 

Parameter Units Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly Daily Maximum 

BOD5 
(November 1 – 
April 30) 

mg/L 30 45 NA 

lbs/day 30 60 140 

% removal 85 NA NA 

TSS (November 
1 – April 30) 

mg/L 50 80 NA 
lbs/day 47 90 220 
% removal 65 NA NA 

3.3 Water Quality-Based Effluent Limit Development 
40 CFR 122.44(d) requires that permits include limitations more stringent than technology-based 
requirements where necessary to meet water quality standards. Water quality-based effluent 
limits may be in the form of a wasteload allocation required as part of a Total Maximum Daily 
Load (TMDL). They may also be required if a site specific analysis indicates the discharge has 
the reasonable potential to cause or contribute to an exceedance of a water quality criterion. DEQ 
establishes effluent limits for pollutants that have a reasonable potential to exceed a criterion. 
The analyses are discussed below. 
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3.3.1 Designated Beneficial Uses 
NPDES permits issued by DEQ must protect the following designated beneficial uses of the 
Pudding River. These uses are listed in OAR-340-041-0340 for the Willamette basin: 

 Public and private domestic water 
supply 

 Industrial water supply 
 Irrigation and livestock watering 
 Fish and aquatic life (including 

salmonid rearing, migration and 
spawning) 

 Wildlife and hunting 

 Fishing 
 Boating 
 Water contact recreation 
 Aesthetic quality 
 Hydro power 
 Commercial navigation and 

transportation

3.3.2 Water Quality-Limited Parameters and Total Maximum Daily Loads 
The following table lists the parameters in the 2018 303(d) list for which the receiving stream is 
water quality-limited (Category 5) within the discharge’s stream reach. The table also lists any 
parameters covered by a TMDL.  
 

Table 3-5: WQ-Limited and TMDL Parameters 
Water Quality Limited Parameters 

AU ID: OR_SR_1709000905_02_104088 
AU Name: Pudding River 
AU Description: Rock Creek to confluence with Molalla River 
Year Last Assessed: 2018 
AU Status:  
Impaired Uses: Fish and Aquatic Life; Fishing; Private Domestic Water Supply; Public Domestic Water 
Supply 
Year Listed: 2010 
Category 5: Guthion- Aquatic Life; Dieldrin- Human Health; Temperature- Year Round 
Category 4(B,C): , 
Active TMDLs: WILLAMETTE BASIN TMDL; MOLALLA-PUDDING SUBBASIN TMDL ; PUDDING RIVER, 
MOLALLA-PUDDING 
Category 4A: DDT 4,4'- Aquatic Life; Iron (total)- Aquatic Life; DDT 4,4'- Human Health; Dissolved 
Oxygen- Spawning 

TMDL Parameters 
Bacteria, Temperature, Pesticides, Iron 
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3.3.3 TMDL Wasteload Allocations 
DEQ issued a TMDL for the Molalla-Pudding Subbasin in 2008. WLAs from this TMDL that 
are applicable to the permittee are listed in the following table.  

Table 3-6: Applicable WLAs 
Parameter WLA Time Period 

E. coli 1.76 x 109  November 1 – April 30 
DDT/Dieldrin Current conditions November 1 – April 30 

The TMDL based the E. coli wasteload allocation on an average wet weather flow and the 
numeric bacteria criteria the permittee is required to meet at the end of the discharge pipe. The 
value shown in the table above is expressed as the number of organisms/day the permittee could 
discharge to the Pudding River. The permit limit for E. coli is discussed in Section 3.3.8. 
Because the permittee treats domestic wastewater that could contain legacy pesticides, the 
TMDL assigned the permittee a wasteload allocation for DDT and dieldrin meeting the current 
conditions of its discharge.  
 
The TMDL did not assign explicit wasteload allocations to Aurora for temperature or iron. 
Temperature is further discussed in Section 3.3.7. Though the TMDL did not assign a wasteload 
allocation for iron, it did require the permittee to sample its effluent for iron. The renewal permit 
includes a requirement for the permittee to monitor for total iron, quarterly, for a total of eight 
quarters. Once this is completed, the monitoring may be discontinued unless otherwise notified 
in writing by DEQ. 

3.3.4 Pollutants of Concern 
To ensure that a permit is protective of water quality, DEQ must identify pollutants of concern. 
These are pollutants that are expected to be present in the effluent at concentrations that could 
adversely impact water quality. DEQ uses the following information to identify pollutants of 
concern:  

 Effluent monitoring data. 
 Knowledge about the permittee’s processes. 
 Knowledge about the receiving stream water quality. 
 Pollutants identified by applicable federal effluent limitation guidelines. 

 
Based on EPA’s NPDES permit application requirements, toxic pollutants of concern for 
domestic facilities are listed in the following table. 
 

Table 3-7: Domestic Toxic Pollutants of Concern 
Flow Rate Pollutants 

< 0.1 mgd Total Residual Chlorine 
  

207 of 329



 

V10/30/2020 p. 13 of 25 

DEQ identified the following pollutants of concern for this facility listed in the following table. 
 

Table 3-8: Pollutants of Concern 
Pollutant How was pollutant identified? 

pH Effluent Monitoring 
Temperature Effluent Monitoring 
E. coli Effluent Monitoring 
Total Residual Chlorine Effluent Monitoring 

 
The sections below discuss the analyses that were conducted for the pollutants of concern to 
determine if water quality based effluent limits are needed to meet water quality standards. 

3.3.5 Regulatory Mixing Zone 
The proposed permit contains a mixing zone as allowed per OAR 340-041-0053. The proposed 
mixing zone remains unchanged from the existing permit and is described as follows:  

The allowable mixing zone for the Aurora facility is that portion of the 
Pudding River, extending from a point 10 feet upstream of the outfall, to a 
point 25 feet from the east bank of the river, and to a point 108 feet 
downstream from the outfall. The zone of immediate dilution (ZID) is 
defined as that portion of the allowable mixing zone that is within 10 feet of 
the outfall discharge port. 

The dilutions at the edge of the zone of initial dilution and mixing zone are shown in the table 
below. These dilutions are based on a 2021 mixing zone analysis conducted by DEQ. The 
analysis is summarized in a July 2021 internal memo. DEQ used field study data collected by 
DEQ and mixing zone modeling software to estimate dilution values under worst-case low flow 
conditions that occur during the discharge period. 
 

Dilution Summary - Wet Weather  
Water 

Quality 
Standard 

Stream Flow  
(cfs) 

Effluent Flow (mgd) Dilution Location 

Statistic Flow  Statistic Flow    
Aquatic Life, 
Acute  

1Q10 84  ADWDF x PF 
 Max Daily Avg 
 Other 

0.266 4 ZID 

Aquatic Life, 
Chronic  

7Q10 108  ADWDF 
 Max Monthly 

Avg  
 Other 

0.135 77 MZ 
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Dilution Summary - Wet Weather  
Human Health, 
Non-
Carcinogen 

30Q5 357  ADWDF 
 Max Monthly 

Avg 
 Other 

0.135 233 MZ 

ADWDF = Average dry weather design flow 
PF = Peaking factor  
Comments: Effluent flow is based on 2019-2020 data. Streamflow statistics are based on 
USGS flow gage Pudding R at Aurora(14202000) 
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3.3.6 pH 
The pH criterion for this basin is 6.5 – 8.5 per OAR 340-041-0345. DEQ determined there is no 
reasonable potential for the discharge to exceed the pH criterion at the edge of the mixing zone. 
The proposed pH limit is 6.0 – 9.0 and is considered to be a TBEL. The following provides a 
summary of the data used for the analysis.  
 

Table 3-9: pH Reasonable Potential Analysis 

INPUT Lower pH 
Criteria 

Upper pH 
Criteria 

1. Dilution at mixing zone boundary 77 77 
2. Upstream characteristics   

a. Temperature (deg C) 7.2 21.8 
b. pH 7.1 7.7 
c. Alkalinity (mg CaCO3/L) 17.0 78.0 

3. Effluent characteristics   
a. Temperature (° C) 12.4 14.7 
b. pH (S.U.) 6.0 9.0 
c. Alkalinity (mg CaCO3/L) 64.0 134.6 

4. Applicable pH criteria 6.5 8.5 
pH at mixing zone boundary 6.9 7.7 
Is there reasonable potential? No No 
Proposed effluent limits 6.0 9.0 

Effluent data source: 
DMR data; alkalinity defaults 
Ambient data source: 
Stations 10640 and 10917 

3.3.7 Temperature 

3.3.7.1 Temperature Criteria OAR 340-041-0028 

The following table summarizes the temperature criteria that apply at the discharge location 
along with whether the receiving stream is water quality-limited for temperature and whether a 
TMDL wasteload allocation has been assigned. Using this information, DEQ performed several 
analyses to determine if effluent limits were needed to comply with the temperature criteria.  
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Table 3-10: Temperature Criteria Information 
Applicable Temperature Criterion Rearing/Migration 18 C (OAR 340-041-

0028(4)(c) 
Applicable dates: Nov 1 – April 30 
Salmon/Steelhead Spawning 13°C? 
OAR 340-041-0028(4)(a) 

Yes No 

Applicable dates: 
WQ-limited? Yes No 
TMDL wasteload allocation assigned? Yes No 
Applicable dates: N/A 
TMDL based on natural conditions criterion? Yes No 
Cold water summer protection criterion 
applies? 

Yes No 

Cold water spawning protection applies? Yes No
Comments: The permittee does not discharge during the critical period evaluated in the TMDL 
(June 1 – September 30), and was not assigned a wasteload allocation. 

 
DEQ issued a TMDL for the Molalla-Pudding Subbasin in 2008. TMDL analyses based on the 
natural conditions criteria (NCC) portion of Oregon’s temperature standard have been 
invalidated by a court order. Though a portion of the Molalla-Pudding TMDL was based on the 
NCC, the discharge period during which the permittee discharges was based on Oregon’s 
biologically based numeric criteria. The data analyzed during TMDL development indicated 
there was no reasonable potential for temperature criteria to be exceeded outside of the critical 
discharge period evaluated in the TMDL (June 1 – September 30). Because the permittee 
discharges outside of the critical period, the permittee was not assigned a wasteload allocation, 
and was instead given an implicit heat load allocation sufficient to cover their discharge. Because 
the discharge period was based on biologically based numeric criteria, and analysis indicated the 
permittee did not require a wasteload allocation, no further temperature analysis is necessary, 
and the permittee does not require a temperature effluent limit. 
 

Table 3-11: Temperature Criterion Effluent Limits 

Effluent limit needed?  Yes No 
TMDL WLA Limit: N/A 
Applicable time period: Dates  NA 
Temperature Criterion Limit: N/A 
Applicable time period: Dates  NA 
Comments: TMDL showed no reasonable potential that temperature criteria would be 
exceeded during the permittee’s discharge period. 
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3.3.7.2 Thermal Plume OAR 340-041-0053(2)(d) 

In addition to compliance with the temperature criteria, OAR 340-041-0053(2)(d) contains 
thermal plume limitation provisions designed to prevent or minimize adverse effects to 
salmonids that may result from thermal plumes. The discharge was evaluated for compliance 
with these provisions as follows: 
 

 OAR 340-041-0053(2)(d)(A): Impairment of an active salmonid spawning area where 
spawning redds are located or likely to be located. 

 
Because the Pudding River downstream of the permittee’s outfall is not designated as 
salmonid spawning habitat, there is no reasonable potential of impairment of an active 
spawning area. 

 
 OAR 340-041-0053(2)(d)(B): Acute impairment or instantaneous lethality is prevented or 

minimized by limiting potential fish exposure to temperatures of 32 ºC or more to less 
than 2 seconds. 

 
The maximum effluent temperature during the period analyzed was 15 ºC. There is no 
reasonable potential of acute impairment or instantaneous lethality.  

 
 OAR 340-041-0053(2)(d)(C): Thermal shock caused by a sudden increase in water 

temperature is prevented or minimized by limiting potential fish exposure to temperatures 
of 25 ºC or more to less than 5% of the cross-section of 100% of the 7Q10 flow of the 
water body. 

 
The maximum temperature of effluent discharges during the period analyzed was 15 ºC. 
There is no reasonable potential of thermal shock to salmonids. 

 
3. OAR 340-041-0053(2)(d)(D): Unless ambient temperature is 21 ºC or greater, migration 

blockage is prevented or minimized by limiting potential fish exposure to temperatures of 
21 ºC or more to less than 25% of the cross-section of 100% of the 7Q10 flow of the 
water body.  

 
The maximum temperature of effluent discharges during the period analyzed was 15 ºC. 
There is no reasonable potential of migration blockage to salmonids. 

 
Effluent limits needed to comply with the thermal plume requirements are shown in the 
following table. 
 

Table 3-12: Thermal Plume Effluent Limit 

Effluent limit needed?  Yes No 
Calculated limit: N/A 
Applicable timeframe: N/A 
Comments: 

212 of 329



 

V10/30/2020 p. 18 of 25 

3.3.8 Bacteria 
OAR 340-041-0009(6)(b) requires discharges of bacteria into freshwaters meet a monthly 
geometric mean of 126 E. coli per 100 mL, with no single sample exceeding 406 E. coli per 100 
mL. If a single sample exceeds 406 E. coli per 100 mL, then the permittee may take five 
consecutive re-samples. If the log mean of the five re-samples is less than or equal to 126, a 
violation is not triggered. The re-sampling must be taken at four-hour intervals beginning within 
28 hours after the original sample was taken. The following table includes the proposed permit 
limits and apply year round. 
 

Table 3-13: Proposed E. coli Limits 
E. coli 

(#/100 ml) Geomean Maximum 

Existing Limit 126 406 
Proposed Limit 126 406 

 

3.3.9 Toxic Pollutants 
DEQ typically performs the reasonable potential analysis for toxics according to EPA guidance 
provided in the Technical Support Document for Water Quality-Based Toxics Control (TSD) 
(Office of Water Enforcement and Permits, U.S. EPA, March 1991). The factors incorporated 
into this analysis include:  
 

4. Effluent concentrations and variability 
5. Water quality criteria for aquatic life and human health 
6. Receiving water concentrations 
7. Receiving water dilution (if applicable) 

 
DEQ performs these analyses using spreadsheets that incorporate EPA’s statistical methodology. 
The following sections describe the analyses for various toxic pollutants below. 

3.3.9.1 Total Residual Chlorine 

The existing permit contains chlorine limits. New chlorine limits were calculated based on 
updated information. The newly calculated limits are more stringent than the existing limits so 
the new limits are being proposed. Proposed limits are listed in the following table. 
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Table 3-13: Proposed Chlorine Limits 
 Chronic (ug/L) Acute (ug/L) 
Chlorine Criteria 11.0 19.0 
 AML MDL 
Existing Limit 0.07 mg/L  NA 0.19 mg/L  NA 

Calculated Limit 0.03 mg/L 0.08 mg/L 

Proposed Limit 0.03 mg/L 0.08 mg/L 

Effluent data source: DMR data (Nov 2019 – April 2021) 
Receiving water data source: Assumed to be zero 

3.3.9.2 Priority Pollutant Toxics 

This section is not applicable to the Aurora renewal permit. DEQ conducted a reasonable 
potential analysis for the group of toxics listed in the following table. A complete list of the 
pollutants is located in the reasonable potential spreadsheet located in the appendix.  

3.3.9.3 Mercury – Human Health Criterion 

Oregon’s water quality criterion for mercury is expressed in terms of a fish tissue concentration 
rather than a water column concentration. The Willamette River Basin is currently impaired for 
mercury and listed on the 303(d) list. EPA issued a final TMDL for mercury in the Willamette 
Basin on December 30, 2019. According to the EPA TMDL and the State of Oregon Water 
Quality Management Plan, minor sewage treatment plants are not expected to cause or contribute 
to the total mercury load in the Willamette Basin. Therefore, no additional controls or monitoring 
for mercury will be required in the proposed permit.  

3.4 Antibacksliding 
The proposed permit complies with the antibacksliding provisions of CWA sections 402(o) and 
303(d)(4) and 40 CFR 122.44(l). The proposed limits are the same or more stringent than the 
existing permit so the antibacksliding provision is satisfied.  

3.5 Antidegradation 
DEQ must ensure the permit complies with Oregon’s antidegradation policy found in OAR 340-
041-0004. This policy is designed to protect water quality by limiting unnecessary degradation 
from new or increased sources of pollution.  
 
DEQ has performed an antidegradation review for this discharge. The proposed permit contains 
the same, or lower, discharge loadings as the existing permit. Permit renewals with the same 
discharge loadings as the previous permit are not considered to lower water quality from the 
existing condition. DEQ is not aware of any information that existing limits are not protective of 
the receiving stream’s designated beneficial uses. DEQ is also not aware of any existing uses 
present within the water body that are not currently protected by standards developed to protect 
the designated uses. Therefore, DEQ has determined that the proposed discharge complies with 
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DEQ’s antidegradation policy. DEQ’s antidegradation worksheet for this permit renewal is 
available upon request. 

3.6 Whole Effluent Toxicity 
DEQ does not require whole effluent toxicity testing (WET) for minor domestic facilities 
because concentrations of toxics are typically very low and WET testing is not warranted. 

3.7 Groundwater 
The facility is not located within a designated groundwater management area and no potential 
impacts to groundwater have been identified. The facility’s lagoon cells are lined with HDPE 
liners. DEQ completed a groundwater prioritization worksheet for the facility, documenting the 
facility has no potential to adversely affect groundwater resources (Appendix A: Groundwater 
Prioritization Worksheet).  

4. Schedule A: Other Limitations 
4.1 Mixing Zone 
Schedule A describes the regulatory mixing zone as discussed above in section 3. 

4.2 Biosolids 
This section is not applicable to the Aurora renewal permit. 

4.3 Recycled Water or Irrigation of Industrial 
Wastewater 

Schedule A of the permit requires the permittee to apply recycled water according to their 
recycled water use plan. Schedule A also restricts the application of recycled water to prevent the 
following:  
 

 Irrigating above agronomic rates,  
 Adverse impact to groundwater,  
 Offsite surface runoff or subsurface drainage through drainage tile,  
 Creation of odors, fly and mosquito breeding, or other nuisance conditions 

5. Schedule B: Monitoring and Reporting 
Requirements 

Schedule B of the permit describes the minimum monitoring and reporting necessary to 
demonstrate compliance with the proposed effluent limits. In addition, monitoring for other 
parameters is required to better characterize the effluent quality and the receiving stream. This 
data will be used during the next permit renewal. Detailed monitoring frequency and reporting 
requirements are in Schedule B of the proposed permit. The required monitoring, reporting and 
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frequency for many of the parameters are based on DEQ’s monitoring and reporting matrix 
guidelines, permit writer judgment, and to ensure the needed data is available for the next permit 
renewal.  

6. Schedule C: Compliance Schedules and 
Conditions 

The permittee is expected to meet all effluent limits and therefore a compliance schedule is not 
needed. 

7. Schedule D: Special Conditions 
The proposed permit contains the following special conditions. The conditions include the 
following:  

7.1 Inflow and Infiltration 
A requirement to submit an updated inflow and infiltration plan in order to reduce groundwater 
and stormwater from entering the collection system. 

7.2 Emergency Response and Public Notification Plan 
A requirement to develop and submit an emergency and spill response plan or ensure the current 
one is current per General Condition B.8 in Schedule F.  

7.3 Recycled Water Use Plan 
A condition requiring the permit holder to develop and maintain a recycled water use plan that 
meet the requirements in OAR 340-055-0025. The plan must also include location-specific 
information describing where and how recycled water is managed to protect public health and 
the environment. 

7.4 Exempt Wastewater Reuse at the Treatment 
System 

A condition that exempts the permit holder from the recycled water requirements in OAR 340-
055, when recycled water is used for landscape irrigation at the treatment facility or for in-plant 
processes, such as in plant maintenance activities. 

7.5 Wastewater Solids Annual Report 
This condition requires the permittee to submit a Wastewater Solids Annual Report each year 
documenting removal of wastewater solids from the facility during the previous calendar year. 
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7.6 Wastewater Solids Transfers 
A condition that allows the facility to transfer treated or untreated wastewater solids to other in-
state or out-of-state facilities that are permitted to accept the wastewater solids.  

7.7 Hauled Waste Control Plan 
A condition that allows the acceptance of hauled waste according to a DEQ-approved hauled 
waste plan. The hauled waste plan ensures waste is not accepted that could negatively impact the 
treatment capabilities of the facility. 

7.8 Hauled Waste Annual Report 
A condition requiring submittal of an annual hauled waste report that summarizes hauled waste 
accepted at the facility during the previous year. 

7.9 Lagoon Solids 
A condition requiring the permittee to submit a sludge depth survey report to ensure lagoon 
solids are maintained within design standards and accumulations do not negatively affect 
treatment capabilities. 

7.10 Operator Certification 
The permit holder is required to have a certified operator consistent with the size and type of 
treatment plant covered by the permit per OAR 340-049-0005. This special condition describes 
the requirements relating to operator certification.  

7.11 Industrial User Survey 
This condition requires the permittee to conduct or update an industrial user survey. The purpose 
of the survey is to identify whether there are any categorical industrial users discharging to the 
POTW, and ensure regulatory oversight of these discharges.  

7.12 Outfall Inspection 
A condition that requires the permittee to inspect the outfall and submit a report regarding its 
condition. 

8. Schedule F: NPDES General Conditions 
Schedule F contains the following general conditions that apply to all NPDES permittees. These 
conditions are reviewed by EPA on a regular basis. 

 Section A. Standard Conditions 
 Section B. Operation and 

Maintenance of Pollution Controls 

 Section C. Monitoring and Records 
 Section D. Reporting Requirements 
 Section E. Definitions
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9. Next Steps 
The proposed NPDES permit will be made available for public comment for a minimum of 35 
days as required by OAR 340-045-0027. Public notice and links to the proposed permit will be 
posted on DEQ’s website and sent to subscribers of DEQ’s pertinent public notice e-mail lists. 
DEQ will schedule a public hearing scheduled if requested by 10 or more people, or by an 
authorized person representing an organization of at least 10 people. DEQ will provide a 
minimum of 30 days’ notice for a hearing if one is scheduled.  
 
DEQ will respond to comments received during the comment period. All those providing 
comment will receive a copy of DEQ’s response. Interested parties may also request a copy of 
DEQ’s response. Once comments are received and evaluated, DEQ will decide whether to issue 
the permit as proposed, to make changes to the permit, or to deny the permit. DEQ will notify the 
permittee of DEQ’s decision. If substantive changes are made to the permit, then an additional 
public notice period may occur. DEQ may also revise this fact sheet or update the fact sheet 
through memorandum.  
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Appendix A: Groundwater Prioritization 
Worksheet
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CITY OF AURORA RECYCLED
WATER USE PLAN

October 2021

I. City of Aurora Facility Information

File Number #110020

Permit Number #101772

EPA Reference No. OR0043991

Contact: Mark Gunter, Public Works Superintendent

21420 Main Street NE

Aurora, Oregon 97002

Aerated Lagoon STP

21494 Mill Race Rd.

Aurora, Oregon

Marion County

Treatment System Class: Level II

Collection System Class: Level I

Class C & Class D Recycled Water

Basin: Willamette

Subbasin: Molalla-Pudding

Receiving Stream: Pudding

LLID: 12271611452842-9.2-D
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Introduction 

City of Aurora prepared this plan in accordance with Oregon Administrative Rules pertaining to the use of 
Recycled Water (treated effluent) from sewage treatment plants (OAR Chapter 340, Division 55). This Recycled 
Water Use plan supersedes any previous plans written by or for the City of Aurora, Oregon. 

The Wastewater Treatment Plant was built in 2001and is an Aerated Lagoon system with a storage polishing 
lagoon, followed by filtration and chlorine disinfection. 

The City of Aurora treats its wastewater on-site to Class C Standards and land applies the effluent from May 1st 
through October 31st. The treated effluent will be pumped to an onsite sprinkler system where it will be applied 
to native Willamette Valley grasses. Treated effluent will be applied at such a rate that it soaks into the soil 
where it can be used by the crop grown during the growing season. The Wastewater Treatment Plant was built in 
2001 and is an Aerated Lagoon system with a storage polishing lagoon followed by filtration and chlorine 
disinfection. 

The recycled water's macronutrients (Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Potassium) are land applied and taken up by the 
crop during the normal irrigation process. Supplemental sources of macronutrients are not expected to be needed 
to meet the crops' nutrient requirements. 

To meet the criteria as outlined in (OAR) 340-55-012 (5), (b) and (c), the City of Aurora will treat the effluent to 
a Class C quality. The following table describes the beneficial purpose, Class of water, quantity, and irrigation 
frequency. 

Beneficial Purpose Class of Water Quantity Frequency 
Pasture Grass C 10-15 MG/YR May 1 – October 31 

II. Facility Wastewater Processing 
A. Liquids Flow Stream 

1. Collection System – The influent sewage is transported via gravity and pressurized mains to an 
Influent Pump Station where it collects until a pre-set level is reached. The lead Influent Pump 
Station pump turns on and lifts the wastewater into the associated pressure main and transports the 
collection system influent to the screening process. 

2. Screening – The City of Aurora uses a CleanFlo, spiral screen to remove rags, plastics, grit and 
debris, upstream of the aeration lagoon. The bar screen is automated with a ¼-inch screen and 35-
degree inclination. Maximum flow is 0.2 MGD. 

3. Biological Treatment – The Aurora facility uses and aerated lagoon, where the wastewater moves 
through a series of aerated and quiescent ‘cells”. Polypropylene baffle curtains separate each cell. 
The flow is conveyed through small square “windows” located in each of the baffles. Aerators are 
installed in the first four cells to mix and provide oxygen for aerobic treatment of the wastewater. In 
the final two cells of the aerated lagoon the solids previously in suspension in the aerated cells are 
settled before the treated wastewater moves on to the effluent storage lagoon. 

The capacity of the biological treatment is approximately 500,000 gallons, and the system dry 
weather influent design flow is 0.079 MGD. The system is designed to oxidize and meet removal 
efficiency not less than 85% for BOD monthly, and at least 65% for TSS. 

4. Effluent Storage Lagoon – The effluent storage lagoon system consists of polypropylene-lined, 
earth-bermed open lagoon with a capacity of 7.2 Million Gallons. The storage lagoon stores treated 
effluent when the irrigation system is not being used, and the effluent is not being discharged to the 
Pudding River. The storage lagoon provides a treated effluent hydraulic balance between effluent 
production and effluent discharge or irrigation. 
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The lagoon is also available for emergency storage if the treatment or discharge system temporarily 
fails. It will fill and draw at various times during the year, depending on the availability of the 
Pudding River for discharge, and the ability of the crop to uptake treated effluent. 

5. Disinfection - The chlorination system consists of a metered pump which injects a sodium 
hypochlorite solution into the treated effluent stream coming from the Storage Lagoon. The mixed 
hypochlorite and storage lagoon effluent enters the chlorine contact chamber, where it is given 
adequate time and contact mixing to provide disinfection before discharge. 

The chlorine contact chamber has a volume of approximately 9,300 gallons, with a serpentine flow. 
The chamber has an average of approximately 1.0 hours detention time, based on a flow of 150 
gallons per minute. 

6. Recycled Water Reuse System - The sprinkler irrigation system is the primary discharge for treated 
effluent from the wastewater treatment facility during the irrigation season from May 1st through 
October 31st. It is to be maintained and available for treated wastewater disposal at all times when 
the irrigation fields are capable of up-taking effluent. 

The disinfected effluent is pumped through an irrigation filter which consists of a single auto-
backwash, 90-180 GPM, 80-micron, 3 inch in-line, Amiad 3- 305 filter. Filter backwash flows by 
gravity to the solids return pump located adjacent to the river discharge pump station. The solids 
return pump then discharges the backwash flow prior to the influent headwork’s screen. 

Once disinfected and filtered, a 10 hp pump, producing approximately 100 gal/min, discharges the 
effluent from the effluent wet well. The effluent flows through an instantaneous flow meter that 
records the flow in gpm and totalizes the daily flow in MGD. The land application sites consist of 
approximately 9 acres of irrigation field. One field is approximately 6 acres, and the other is 3 acres. 
The irrigation main is 4" schedule 40 pvc pipe that has 6 connection points, 5 on the 6-acre field, 
and 1 on the 3-acre field. The system uses flex pipe to adjust coverage on the irrigation fields. The 
system has 3 portable sprinkler stands; one is equipped with a 1/2" orifice, and the other two with 5/ 
8” orifices. 

B. Solids Accumulation 

1. Aerated Lagoon - Because of the size of the aerated lagoon, and the low hydraulic and biological 
loading, wasting of solids will not need to be dealt with for several years. It is important that 
operators track the solids inventory in the aeration system, so that anticipated solids removal can be 
planned for at least two years in advance. 

2. Solids Removals – The City of Aurora currently does not intend to apply biosolids or invest in the 
equipment necessary to process solids into an approved biosolids product. Therefore, solids and 
debris will be removed from the aeration lagoon, based on the operator’s best professional 
judgment. A contractor will remove and dewater the solids and disposed to a landfill or centralized 
waste treatment facility. 

III. RECYCLED WATER REUSE SYSTEM 
The City of Aurora owns and operates an effluent recycled water use system, located on a 22.55-acre property 
located West of Hwy. 99E and North of Ottaway Rd, as shown in Appendix A. The physical address is 21494 
Mill Race Rd., Aurora, Oregon. There are currently two fields in use. The larger site is approximately 6 acres, 
referred to as the Southwest Irrigation area, and the smaller site is 3 acres, noted as the Northeast Irrigation area 
B. 
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Before the City built the Wastewater Treatment facility, the site was used for agricultural purposes. The site was 
cut, excavated and a small amount of native soils were used to level the site, with a slight grade of 3 to 10 
percent, running east to west in the area of the land application site. The recycled water use site consists of 
grasses, a spray irrigation system, and monitoring and control instrumentation to provide information and tools 
to support proper operation. 

A. Effluent Quality 

The City of Aurora’s effluent is relatively clean. The treatment facility is designed to oxidize and 
remove a minimum of 85% of BOD and 65% of the TSS. The treatment facility over the past five years 
has easily accomplished these minimum requirements for BOD and TSS removal. 

Although the facility’s permit does not require nutrient removal of nitrogen compounds such as 
ammonia, nitrate and nitrogen, this type of aerated lagoon system is capable of removing small amounts 
of these nutrients during the summer months. The pH, salinity and nutrient levels are consistent with 
other treatment facilities of this type in the area. The Aurora treatment facility should not create a 
problem concerning water quality issues during crop irrigation. 

B. Effluent Nutrient Levels 

Facility personnel have actively monitored the nutrient levels and average daily discharge of effluent to 
the poplar plantation for the past seven years. Table 1 represents the nutrient concentrations for the 
years 2006-2008, and Table 2 defines the average monthly and daily discharge of recycled water to the 
irrigation field. 

Table 1 
Macro-Nutrients 

DATE TKN 
mg/L 

Phosphorous 
mg/L 

Nitrate/Nitrite 
mg/L 

Ammonia 
mg/L 

5/2019 38.1 ND 2.65 34.2 

5/2020 7.6 6.1 0.699 4.1 
9/2020 13.4 4.88 ND 7.6 
Average 19.7 5.49 1.67 15.3 
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Table 2 

Monthly and Daily Recycled Water Irrigation Volumes

Month 2019 Net 
Irrigation 
Application (MG)

2020 Net 
Irrigation 
Application (MG)

2021 Net 
Irrigation 
Application (MG)

Average 
Irrigation 
Volume (MG)

May 1.70 3.20 2.30 2.40

June 2.30 0.00 0.52 1.41

July 2.70 4.00 2.80 3.17

August 0.00 0.80 0.48 0.64

September 2.90 2.10 1.89 2.30

October 1.30 3.10 3.00 2.47

Total Irrigation 
Volume

10.9 13.2 10.99 12.39 

Using the TKN nutrient concentration as the available nitrogen would lead to an excessive estimate for nitrogen 
as a fertilizer source. The ammonia and nitrate/nitrite fractions of the TKN value are diminished through 
recovery fractions and mineralization rates in the application process. The true organic nitrogen available for 
plant growth as a fertilizer is a portion of the TKN value. To determine the total available nitrogen, the 
following calculation was used to accommodate for mineralization rates and recovery fractions for nutrients in 
the surface application of biosolids for soils in the Northwest. 

Example: 
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Using the data as provided above for total available nitrogen, the treatment facility will apply approximately 
54.5 lbs/acre/year of Nitrogen and 94.5 lbs/acre/year of Phosphorous. The City's former NPDES permit does not 
require potassium sampling, a macronutrient typically accounted for optimum crop yields. However, the pasture 
grass of the irrigation field does not get harvested; only mowed and mulched. 
 

C. Grass Nutrient Requirements 

To obtain proper growth, health and optimum crop yield, nutrients such as available nitrogen, 
phosphorous, and potassium are required. Nitrogen uptake for grass is considered maximum estimates 
of net nitrogen uptake in the grass in one growing season. Nitrogen uptake is peaked during grass 
vegetative growth typically in April, and slows down during plant flowering and seeding; while 
phosphorus uptake peaks after grass vegetative growth typically in June. 

Table 3 and 4 summarize the fertilizer requirements used for pasture grass typically grown in the 
Willamette Valley. The estimated annual amount of nitrogen uptake was determined from literature 
established in the Managing Nitrogen from Biosolids Washington State Department of Ecology April 
1999. The fertilizer rates as established for pasture grasses, was derived from the Oregon State 
University Fertilizer Guides and information supplied by the City of Woodburn Water Reuse Plan 1999. 
 

Table 3 
Nitrogen Rates for Pasture Grass (lb/acre) 

Year Pasture Grass 
N Required 

(lb/acre) 

Net N Requirement 
(lb/acre) 

1 100 100 

2 100 100 

3 100 100 

4 100 100 

5-10 100 100 

Note: 
For simplicity, the following assumptions were made: 

 The plant-available N from recycled water application was the same throughout the five years. 
 All available soil N based on OSU fertilizer guide is used during the year (no residual N03-N). 

 

Table 4 

Nutrient Rates for Pasture Grass 
(lb/acre) 

Nutrient Pasture Grass 
Phosphorus 50-75 
Potassium 240-290 
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When potential loading rates for nutrients are examined at the Aurora site, the effluent is capable of providing 
the necessary nutrient requirements without the addition of commercial fertilizers. Current loading from the 
effluent is 54.5 lbs/acre for nitrogen and 94.5 lbs/acre for phosphorous, as described on page 5 in the available 
nitrogen example. 

Comparing Willamette Valley grass nutrient requirements with effluent irrigation nutrient content shows that 
current application loading does not exceed grass nutrient uptake. Nitrogen loading onto the field from irrigation 
shows to be less than optimum for typical Willamette valley grass, and therefore, should not cause any nitrogen 
overload or overabundance of salts allowing for healthy soil activity.  

The City will sample the irrigation effluent quarterly for nutrients and use the results to adjust the nutrient 
loading rates during the growing season. 

D. Description of Class C and D Effluent Requirements 

Currently, City of Aurora meets and discharges Class C & D effluent requirements. The City of 
Aurora's wastewater facility removes debris such as rags, sticks, rocks and grit in the screening process. 
The sewage then flows into the aerated lagoon where the BOD and TSS and some nutrients are oxidized 
and removed to a minimum of 85% for BOD and 65% for TSS. Next the treated effluent gravity flows 
to the 7.2-million-gallon storage lagoon. When the permit allows, treated effluent is then pumped into 
the chlorine contact chamber where it is injected with sodium hypochlorite. The city will declare the 
level of disinfection (Class C or D) at the beginning of the irrigation season prior to irrigation. 

Disinfection occurs during the 1.0 hours of contact time as the water flows through the serpentine 
chambers. For Class C recycled water, the sampling frequency is once per week; where no two 
consecutive samples exceed 240 total coliform organisms per 100 mL; and the 7-day median is less than 
23 organisms per 100 mL. After the disinfection process, the treated effluent is pumped through an 80-
micron filter before being discharged through the sprinkler irrigation system. For a more detailed 
description please refer to Section II. 
 
Setback distances are based on the class of recycled water being applied through a sprinkler system. 
 

Table 5 
Class C Recycled Water Use 

Restriction 
Spray 
Irrigation 
system 

Sprinkler 
system 

Cannon 
irrigation 
system 

Property Line 70 feet 70 feet 300 feet 

Private road 100 feet 100 feet 300 feet 
Public road 100 feet 100 feet 300 feet 
Food preparation 
area 

70 feet 70 feet 300 feet 

Drinking water 
fountain 

70 feet 70 feet 300 feet 
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Disinfection occurs during the 1.0 hours of contact time as the water flows through the serpentine 
chambers. For Class D recycled water, the sampling frequency is once per week; must not exceed a log 
mean of 126 E. coli organisms per 100 mL; and no sample to exceed 406 E. coli organisms per 100 mL 
before being discharged through the irrigation system. For a more detailed description please refer to 
Section II. 
 

Table 6 
Class D Recycled Water Use 

Restriction 
Spray 
Irrigation 
system 

Sprinkler 
system 

Cannon 
irrigation 
system 

Property Line 70 feet 70 feet 300 feet 

Private road 100 feet 100 feet 300 feet 
Public road 100 feet 100 feet 300 feet 
Food preparation 
area 

70 feet 70 feet 300 feet 

Drinking water 
fountain 

70 feet 70 feet 300 feet 

The City of Aurora maintains a minimum buffer from the irrigation site to the property line, and there 
are no areas of food preparation or drinking fountains near the land application area. Please refer to 
Appendix A, for setback distances at the City of Aurora's irrigation filed. 

IV. MONITORING AND ANALYTICAL METHODS 
A. Class C Recycled Water 

Facility personnel sample the treated effluent for Total Coliform once per week, during times of land 
application. The sampled effluent must not exceed a median of 23 total coliform organisms per 100 
milliliters, based on results of the last seven days that analyses have been completed, and 240 total 
coliform organisms per 100 milliliters in any two consecutive samples. 
 

B. Class D Recycled Water 

Facility personnel sample the treated effluent for E. coli once per week, during times of Land 
application. The sampled effluent must not exceed a 30-day log mean of 126 E. coli organisms per 100 
milliliters and 406 E. coli organisms per 100 milliliters in any single sample. 

C. Total Coliform and E. coli 

Facility personnel will conduct bacteria monitoring, according to one of the approved tests methods, as 
specified in Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Edition, or 
according to any test procedure that DEQ has authorized and approved in writing. 
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Method Reference Method Number 

Most Probably Number (MPN) Standard Method, 20th edition 92 

Coliform using Colitag water test system, Corning coliform test containers, and Idexx Quantitrays. 
After 24 hours, Quantitray results either show coliform with golden yellow, or E. coli results with 
black light luminescence. MPN results are compared with an Idexx result comparator. The sampling 
and analytical analysis will follow the methods as outlined in 40 CFR Part 136. 
 

D. Nutrients 

Aurora's permit requires sampling for nutrients (TKN, N02, N03-N, NH3, and Phosphorous) quarterly 
during months that the City land applies. The City will also include potassium in the quarterly sampling 
for nutrients. Additionally, the City will sample before the irrigation season and quarterly as required in 
the NPDES permit. Facility personnel will use the nutrient sampling results to adjust agronomic loading 
rates for the crop growth throughout the irrigation season. The following is a list of analysis methods 
and procedures for nutrients. 

Method Reference Method Number 

Ammonia Standard Methods EPA 350.3 

Nitrate Standard Methods SM4500-N03 D 
Nitrite Standard Methods SM4500-N02 B 
Total Phosphorous Standard Methods EPA 365.3 
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen Standard Methods EPA 351.3 
Potassium Standard Methods EPA 200 Series 

The City of Aurora contracts the laboratory analysis for nutrients with Water Lab in Salem, Oregon. The 
sample containers and protocols are followed as referred to in the above Section, IV (B). 
 

E. Sampling Location 

Effluent nutrient sampling is performed as 24-hour composite samples using a model 3700FR ISCO 
sampler machine located between the sodium hypochlorite building, and the sodium bisulphite building. 
Total Coliform and E. coli testing are pulled as grab samples from the effluent wet well and are 
performed in house using MPN test guidelines following standard methods 9221. 

V. IRRIGATION CONVEYANCE & DISTRIBUTION 
A. Effluent Distribution System 

The wastewater facility has two developed land application sites, the larger being 6 acres and the 
smaller site are approximately 3 acres. The irrigation system irrigation system consisting of piping, 
control valves and control wiring to irrigate specific areas of the land application site at different times, 
or to provide overall irrigation simultaneously. 
 
Once disinfected and filtered, a 10 hp pump, producing approximately 100 gal/min, discharges the 
effluent from the effluent wet well. The effluent flows through an instantaneous flow meter that records 
the flow in gpm and totalizes the daily flow in MGD. The land application sites consist of 
approximately 9 acres of irrigation field. One field is approximately 6 acres, and the other is 3 acres. 
The irrigation main is 4" schedule 40 pvc pipe that has 4 connection points, 3 on the 6-acre field, and 1 

228 of 329



on the 3-acre field. The system uses flex pipe to adjust coverage on the irrigation fields. The system has 
2 portable sprinkler stands, equipped with a 1/2" orifice, and the other with a 5/8" orifice. 
 
The main irrigation piping header consists of 4" schedule 40 PVC, and each irrigation sub-area is fed by 
a 2" PVC pipe controlled by a 2" Rainbird PEBS Series electric control valve. A two inch Rainbird 
LSP-MC Series manual isolation valve has been installed between each control valve and the main 
header to provide for service of the electrical control valve and branching system. 
 
The main pumping station for the irrigation system is a single 100 gpm, 50 psi, 10 hp pump located in 
the River Discharge Pump Station housing. This pump station is operated and controlled by the same 
control system as the irrigation system. Valve adjustments isolate the systems from each other, and the 
pump will either discharge for land application or the receiving stream. 
 
Complete automatic control of the irrigation system is available within the treatment plant control 
building. Manual operation can be controlled by opening or closing the isolation valves at each branch, 
and by energizing/de-energizing the irrigation pump system. 

B. Sprinkler System 

Before the initial start-up of recycled water irrigation sites at the Aurora facility, the staff will use catch 
cans or pressure readings to evaluate the sprinkler system for even water distribution. Varying orifice 
sizes for the sprinkler heads will be used to adjust the sprinkler volume from the top to the toe of the 
site. Staff will also record the volume delivered per minute at the site, and use the empirical data 
whenever possible to adjust the irrigation loading at the site. 

C. Filtration 

The filtration system is located near the existing control building and reuse pump station. The 
disinfected effluent is pumped through an irrigation filter which consists of a single auto-backwash, 90-
180 gpm, 80-micron, 3 inch in-line, Amiad 3-305 filter. 
Filter backwash flows by gravity to the solids return pump located next to the River Discharge pump 
station. The solids return pump then discharges the backwash before the influent headwork’s. Facility 
personnel collect samples for nutrients, chlorine and bacteria after filtration, as described in Section IV 
(D). 

D. Irrigation Scheduling 

The current NPDES permit only allows irrigation system use during the months of May through 
October. The scheduling of the irrigation days is based on an operator evaluation of the soil; using 
USDA’s Estimating Soil Moisture by Feel and Appearance [(1998) Appendix B]. Before each irrigation 
application, operators shall take a hand-feel sample of the land to be irrigated and make determination 
based on touch. Soil which aggregates easily and leaves no dirt staining or moisture droplets on the hand 
is determined to have a low enough percent-available moisture. If, during hand sampling, dirt drips 
water; leaves staining on fingers; can be squeezed through a fist like a ribbon; or fingerprints imprint in 
dirt without pressure; then sprinkler irrigation will be moved up to the next available irrigation port. All 
determinations of soil moisture estimations must be recorded on log. 
 
Because the treatment facility has a large storage lagoon, the operator has the ability to irrigate when 
conditions are favorable. During times of heavy rainfall, where infiltration and soil water capacity is 
limited, the operator will schedule the irrigation cycles to take into account periods of heavy rainfall, so 
as not to exceed the available water capacity of the soil and limit infiltration outside of the root zone. 
 
The operator will adjust the irrigation cycles to coincide with the Gross Irrigation Requirements (GIR) 
referred to in Section VII (B). Daily and weekly scheduling will be consistent with the system design 

229 of 329



calculations as mentioned in the following section. At the beginning of each irrigation month, and 
during periodic precipitation events, the operator will need to adjust the irrigation zone timing to 
accommodate for the monthly and daily GIR. 
 
The City of Aurora has the ability to adjust the hydraulic loading rates, based on climatic variances 
throughout the growing season. The operator will adjust the monthly GIR, based on recorded empirical 
data, such as precipitation, temperature, evaporation rates or soil moisture content. The operator should 
periodically take soil core samples to determine % moisture during irrigation, and verify the site is 
receiving the correct amount of hydraulic loading throughout the growing season. 

E. System Design Calculations 

At the time of design, the City of Aurora used the criteria from the City of Woodburn's Water Reuse 
Plan. Both sites are now in grass and have similar soils based on the Woodburn Series, with variations 
in sprinkler systems, elevations, and nutrient loading. 
 
During initial start-up of any new irrigation site, facility staff will assure that in a sloped area the 
irrigation volume is evenly distributed from the top to the toe of the slope. Facility staff will use catch 
can sampling data to determine appropriate hydraulic loading in the calculations established below. 
 
The system is capable of irrigating more or less, depending on the monthly site irrigation needs. The 
operator will adjust the irrigation system to meet the GIR on a monthly basis, as described in Section V 
(D). The following calculation is an example of the highest GIR, and the appropriate irrigation schedule 
for the month 

Example: 

August (GIR) = 12.0 in/acre/month 

12in/acre x 27,154 gallon/acre/inch x 6 acres = 1,955,088 gallons 

1,955,088 gallons = 2,958 min   2,958 min = 49.3 hours/month 
661 gal/min      60 min/hour 

The irrigation settings per zone will based on an average of 5 working days per week for a 4 week 
month. 

49.3 hours/mo =12.3hrs/wk 12.3hrs/wk = 2.5 hrs/day 
4 wks/mo 5 days/wk 

The timing of the zones can be automatically set to accommodate the 2.5 hours per zone per day. At the 
beginning of each irrigation month, the operator will need to adjust the irrigation zone timing to 
accommodate for the monthly GIR. 

VI. WATER REUSE SITE CHARACTERISTICS 
A. Soils and Land Characteristics 

The land is located in Marion County, Aurora Oregon. The site's prior use was for agricultural purposes, 
mainly Christmas trees and nursery stock. Before treatment facility construction, the site had varying 
slopes, ranging from 3% to 15%. During site construction the land was leveled, a large storage pond was 
constructed, and native soils from the excavation process were used to level the site to some degree. 
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There was no confirmation in the engineering records to determine the amount of soil disturbed in the 
irrigation site. However, the Public Works Director said there was a very small amount of native soil 
distributed over the Southeast section of the poplar plantation. The City believes that the soils in the 
irrigation area would be considered native and representative of the information supplied by the USDA 
Natural Resources Conservative Services. For more information concerning these soils, please refer to 
Section (C) below. 

B. USDA Soil Survey Map 

Please refer to Appendix C, for soil survey maps and soil classifications. 

C. Soils Description 

Woodburn Series soils consist of moderately well drained soils that have formed in silty alluvium and 
loess of mixed mineralogy. These soils are on broad valley terraces. They have slopes of 0 to 20 
percent. Elevations range from 150 to 350 feet. The average precipitation is 40 to 45 inches, the average 
annual air temperature is 52° to 54°F, and the length of the frost-free season is 200 to 210 days. In areas 
that are not cultivated, the vegetation is mainly grass and Douglas-fir. 
 
In a typical profile the surface layer is about 17 inches thick and is very dark brown silt loam in the 
upper part and dark-brown silt loam in the lower part. The sub soil is about 37 inches thick. It is dark 
yellowish-brown silty clay loam in the upper part; mottled dark-brown silty clay loam in the middle 
part; and mottled, dark-brown silt loam in the lower part. The substratum is dark-brown silt loam that 
extends to a depth of 68 inches or more. 
 
During the growing season the depth to ground water for these Woodburn series soils is normally >200 
centimeters. The pH of this type of soil is generally in the range of 5.6 to 6.5. 

 WuC- Woodburn silt loam, 3 to 12 percent slopes 

This soil has slopes of 3 to 5 percent in about 60 percent of the acreage. Runoff is slow to 
medium, and the hazard of erosion is slight to moderate. Included with these soils are small 
areas that have a thin surface layer and that have distinct mottling within 12 inches of the 
surface. This Woodburn soil is used for many of the same crops as the Woodburn silt loam, 0 to 
3 percent slopes, which include small grains, field com, orchards, pasture, hay caneberries, and 
vegetables. Areas with good drainage are used for all the crops commonly grown in the survey 
area. 

 WuD-Woodburn silt loam, 12 to 20 percent slopes 

Where this soil occurs along creeks, intermittent drainage ways, and terrace fronts, its slopes are 
short and abrupt. Runoff is rapid, and the hazard of erosion is moderate. 
Included with this soil in mapping areas, were small areas that have a thin surface layer and that 
have distinct mottling within 12 inches of the surface. This Woodburn soil is used mainly for 
pasture, hay, and small grains, although some small areas are used for row crops and orchards. 

D. Soil Infiltration, Permeability and Water Holding Rates 

The City of Aurora has no data or testing of the site for infiltration, permeability or water holding rates. 
Information regarding these parameters was derived from the (USDA Natural Resources Conservation 
Services Web Soil Survey for Woodburn Series Soils). Please refer to Appendix C for a detailed 
assessment of the physical properties for the Woodburn soils. 
 
The Bulk density as published by the (USDA NRCS Web Soil Survey) for the Woodburn Series soils 
has a range of 1.20 to a high of 1.5 depending on the depth of soil, and the available water capacity for 
these silt loam soils is 0.19 to 0.21 in/in. Also defined by the USDA, the Woodburn silt loam soils at 

231 of 329



this location have a saturated hydraulic conductivity of 4.0-14.00 micro rn/sec. 
 
The field capacity, as published in the (EPA Process Design Manual for Land Treatment of Municipal 
Wastewater Effluents), estimates silt loams to have a field capacity of 0.7 to 1.6 in/ft at a moisture 
content of 12-18 percent. 
 
In conclusion, the soils at the Aurora site appear to be suitable for land application of treated wastewater 
from the City of Aurora wastewater treatment facility. In the location of the land application sites there 
are only two types of soils, of which both Woodburn Series soils have physical and chemical properties 
that would be considered excellent for the health and growth of crops. 

E. Climatic Information 

Marion County has a modified marine climate influenced by the Pacific Ocean, the Coast Range and the 
Cascade Mountains. The Coast Range acts as a buffer that protects Marion County from severe storms 
originating in the ocean. The air mass normally moves from west to east crossing the Willamette Valley. 
The air mass warms because of heat from the land mass, and then cools as it rises against the Cascade 
Mountains. This cooling causes the air to become over saturated and it sheds its moisture as rain or 
snow. More than 70 percent of the annual precipitation in Marion County falls as rain in November 
through March. The months of June, July, August, and September are relatively dry with approximately 
10 percent of the total annual precipitation falling during this time. 
 
Irrigation is required for most crops growing during the months of June, July, August and September 
during the dryer summer months. Rainfall occurs on an average of 150 to 175 days each year with the 
greater amount falling at higher elevations. Winters are cool and wet, with frequent rains in the late fall 
and winter. Snow and freezing temperatures are rare. 
 
Prevailing winds typically blow from the north or northwest in summer and from the south over the rest 
of the year. During the growing season from April to September the daily wind speed increases 
gradually from a low of about 4 to 6 mph at daybreak, to a high of about 10 to 11 mph between the 
hours of 4 and 6 in the afternoon. Stronger winds in the afternoon are caused mainly by convection. The 
following table summarizes the historical climatic data for the City of Aurora. 

Table 7 

Historical Climate Data for Salem, Oregon 1971-2000 
Nation Weather Service, Portland 

Month Average Maximum 
Temp. (F) 

Average Maximum 
Temp (F) 

Average Temp 
(F) 

Mean 
Precipitation 
(Inches) 

January 47.0 33.4 40.2 5.83 

February 51.2 34.7 43.0 5.09 

March 56.2 36.6 46.4 4.17 

April 61.1 38.8 50.0 2.76 

May 67.5 43.6 55.5 2.13 

232 of 329



Historical Climate Data for Salem, Oregon 1971-2000 
Nation Weather Service, Portland 

June 74.0 48.4 61.2 1.45 

July 81.5 52.0 66.8 0.57 

August 81.9 52.1 67.0 0.68 

September 76.6 47.7 62.2 1.43 

October 64.5 41.3 52.9 3.03 

November 52.4 37.9 45.1 6.39 

December 46.4 33.9 40.1 6.46 

Total 39.99 

Information for local climate concerning Marion County was supplied by the National Weather Services 
web site, and the USDA September 1972 Soil Survey of Marion County Area, Oregon. 

VII. ANNUAL WATER REUSE APPLICATION RATES 
A. Consumptive use of Crop 

For consumptive water use of the grass, the City of Aurora will use data from the City of Woodburn 
Water Reuse Plan. Variations of the system design will be based on sprinkler system efficiency ratings 
that differed between the Woodburn and Aurora sites. The GIR is the total crop water demand, adjusted 
for effective precipitation and irrigation efficiency. Aurora's system would be closest represented by the 
efficiency values, as compared to a solid set sprinkler system. For that reason the City chose the 
conservative assumption of 75%, based on the high wind design for solid set sprinkler efficiency. 

The City of Aurora will use 75 percent efficiency to determine the gross irrigation amount used, by 
dividing the net irrigation by 75% as a decimal. The Oregon State University (OSU) report, "Oregon 
Crop Water Use and Irrigation Requirements, October 1992", Reprinted March 1999, provided the net 
irrigation requirement for grass. 

B. Net and Gross Acreage Available 

The total acreage at the facility is 22.55 acres, 9 of which the facility can irrigate on, and out of those 6 
are currently used for the grass. 

VIII. IRRIGATION SITE BUFFERS 
A. Buffers and Site Restrictions 

The City of Aurora is irrigating under the Class C requirements, as outlined in Division 55, OAR 340-
055-0012. The setback distances are based on an irrigation system that applies recycled water directly to 
soil. The City of Aurora maintains a minimum of ten (-10) feet from all property lines, 100 feet from 
any water supply used for human consumption, and there is no food preparation or drinking water 
fountains located near the site. 
 
For a more detailed assessment of buffer areas and setbacks, please refer to Appendix A. 
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B. Public Notification and Restrictions 

The City of Aurora follows the requirements, as outlined in the Class C or Class D Recycled Water Use 
rules, under Division 55. Five-foot-high field fencing, encompassing the entire property line, restricts 
public access to the site. A ten-foot-high cyclone fence, blocking the main access road, and surrounding 
the treatment facility's storage and aerated lagoons, provides further access restrictions. 
 
The City of Aurora 's irrigation has no connection to any type of potable water. This eliminates any 
chance for cross connection. The treated effluent from the facility will provide 100% of the water 
requirements for crops grown on site. 
 
The City will mark all visible piping valves and connections where recycled water is being used, to 
protect the workers and public from cross connection. The markings will read "NON-POTABLE 
WATER ", either stenciled on the piping, or with a plastic wrap. The color of the markings will either 
be in red or yellow lettering. 
 
Control signs are posted every 150 ft on the perimeter of the recycled water reuse site, and any other 
locations where recycled water is used. The signs read as follows: 
 
ATTENTION: RECYCLED WATER USED FOR IRRIGATION-AVOID CONTACT-DO NOT 
DRINK. 

ATENCION: RECLAMADO DEPERDICIO DE AGUA USADO PARA LA IRRIGACION-EVITE 
EL CONTACTO-NO BEBA EL AGUA. 

IX. MANAGEMENT, OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 
Site management and operations are critical to the success of operating a water reuse site. Information 
gathered through proper monitoring will be needed to evaluate the performance of the system over time 
and assist in developing improved operating protocols. The following section describes the management 
and operations that facility staff will follow, to implement the Aurora Recycled Water Use Plan. 

A. Hydraulic and Nutrient Management 

 Water Monitoring: The City of Aurora will monitor the effluent being discharged to the reuse 
site, as outlined in the City NPDES permit, and as required by the OAR Division 55 rules for 
Recycled Water Use. Sample location, methodology and protocols are referred to in Section IV 
(Monitoring and Analytical Methods). 
In addition to the required monitoring, the City will now sample for potassium in the quarterly 
nutrient sampling regime. Facility staff will use nutrient sample results to adjust the loading 
rates on a quarterly basis during the irrigation season. Although not a permit requirement, DEQ 
advises the City routinely to monitor for BOD and TSS during the irrigation season to track the 
efficiency of the lagoon system, and to assure that the treatment facility is oxidizing organic 
loads to an acceptable level. 

 Flow Measurements: The City will monitor and record flow measurements, according to the 
NPDES permit for daily and monthly flows to the irrigation site. Routine maintenance and 
annual calibration of the flow devices will be adhered to, according to the NPDES permit. The 
City will also develop records and track the ambient daily temperature, precipitation and water 
levels of the storage lagoon. 

 Soil Monitoring: The permit does not require soil nutrient evaluation. DEQ recommends that 
facility staff collect soil samples before planting, and after harvest, to evaluate the nutrient 
requirements and crop uptake. However, the City will begin to sample soils at least twice during 
each irrigation season. It is recommended that soil samples be collected before irrigation and 
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following irrigation to evaluate the nutrient requirements of Willamette Valley grass compared 
to mass load of nutrients applied. 

 Soil Monitoring Annual: It is recommended, and the City agrees that it will sample soils for 
nitrate at each irrigation site prior to the application season. Nitrate levels will be used to 
determine if there is residual nitrate in the soil and if so, will adjust the loading rate 
appropriately. 

 Ground Water Monitoring: Although it is recommended, the City is not required by the NPDES 
permit to monitor ground water. The costs associated with the establishment of a groundwater 
program are considered prohibitive for this size of treatment facility. If at such time the DEQ 
requires the City to install monitoring wells, then the City will develop a monitoring program 
and begin to record and gather data as established in the NPDES permit. 

At a minimum the City will sample for pH, EC, Organic Matter, TKN, N03- N, NH3-N, P04, 
Na, Ca, Mg, HC03, Available K, Available P, and S04. 
Due to the cost associated with supplemental fertilizers, and the fact that the City effluent is 
high in macronutrients, the City does not plan to apply supplemental fertilizers. 
Facility staff will develop appropriate reporting forms to track the above-mentioned activities. 

 Crop Management and Biomass Removal: The facility staff will routinely monitor and record 
the dates of cropping activities. Such monitoring activities must include the date of planting, 
date of harvest, dates of primary tillage, soil aeration, fertilizer application (if needed), mowing 
frequencies, and any observations of crop health. 

Facility staff will develop appropriate reporting forms to track the above-mentioned activities. 

B. Operation and Maintenance 

Components of the irrigation system are described in Sections II (A), and Section V (A), (B), and (C) of 
this document. For a topographical layout of the treatment facility and reuse application sites, refer to 
Appendix A. Treatment plant staff will follow the maintenance and operation procedures, as described 
in the City Wastewater Collection and Treatment System O&M Manual, Chapter 9. In addition to the 
Start-up and Shut-down procedures, outlined in Chapter 9, facility staff will also implement the 
following maintenance procedures, record keeping and observation techniques to assure the irrigation 
system is functioning properly. 

 Annual Start-Up Procedure 

Before turning on the pump system, staff will walk the individual irrigation zones to make sure 
the area is void of debris and grass that could block the sprinkler flow patterns. Facility staff 
should remove weeds and grass before the irrigation season. During this initial walk through, 
staff will evaluate the system, checking for any equipment damage. Staff will record the 
inspection results on the daily irrigation check list form, noting that it is the annual Start- up 
walk through. Facility staff will repair or replace any recorded equipment damage before 
pressurizing the irrigation system. 

Upon energizing any zone during the initial Start-up, staff will again walk the individual 
irrigation zones to assure there are no leaks, broken piping, plugged sprinkler heads or excessive 
differences in distribution. If staff determines the irrigation system is functioning properly, then 
staff will check the computerized timer and the individual automated valves on and off cycles to 
assure the individual zones are operating correctly. 

In the initial Start-up of any new irrigation site, facility staff will use catch cans or pressure 
readings to quantify that the volume and pattern of the sprinkler system has an even distribution. 
Staff will assure that in a sloped area the irrigation volume is evenly distributed from the top to 
the toe of the slope. Facility staff can use recorded catch can data to determine appropriate 
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hydraulic loading in the calculations established in Section V (E). 

 Annual Shut-Down Procedures 

In addition to the Shut-down procedures outlined in Chapter 9 of the City's O&M Manual, staff 
will also drain the system properly to reduce the likelihood of damage due to freezing, algae 
build up or debris in the distribution system. 

After the system pump has been turned off for the dry season, staff will open the main line 
drains located at the distal end of each irrigation site. 

Because the irrigation sites are designed on a slope with the end of the sprinkler systems located 
at the toe of the slope, the sprinkler piping will naturally drain to the lowest sprinkler. The 
irrigation system main lines will either drain through the drain valves located at the far end of 
each header, or the water in the mains will naturally drain downhill to the irrigation pump and 
drain through the pump volute into the pump wet well. 

 Chemical Treatment to Prevent Plugging 

Chemical water treatment is a common practice that should be considered during the annual 
Start-up procedure or before the annual Shut-down procedure. Chemical treatment is used to 
prevent and dissolve organic matter (algae and bacterial slime), and mineral deposits which can 
form in lateral lines and emission devices. Chlorine and acids are most commonly used for 
chemical treatment. Hydrogen peroxide can be substituted for chlorine when high 
concentrations of oxidants are needed to restore system capacity. 

For primary or secondary effluent, the most effective strategy is to inject sufficient chlorine to 
bring the concentration of free chlorine at the ends of 

the laterals to 10 mg/ L during the last 20 minutes of the irrigation cycle, or to at least 2 mg/L 
during the last hour of an irrigation cycle. Liquid sodium hypochlorite is generally the preferred 
form of chlorine because of safety and handling considerations. 

 Daily Log and Record Keeping 

Facility staff will develop a daily irrigation log and document all irrigation management 
changes on their daily log, along with daily flow (inch/acre) or (gal/acre). At the end of each 
day that recycled water is used, the operator will sign and date the daily log. Facility staff must 
monitor all recycled water use approved irrigation sites on a daily basis to assure that no surface 
runoff comes from the sprinkler system. If facility staff observes surface runoff, facility staff 
must discontinue effluent application, and determine the cause of the problem. 

In addition to the maintenance activities outlined in the City O&M manual, facility staff will 
develop and maintain a daily inspection check list for the land application site. DEQ will 
consider the daily irrigation site check list the daily log for regulatory purposes. 
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To comply with the DEQ IMD for Recycled Water Use plans, facility staff must maintain 
records, and have on site during inspections, the following records: 

o Effluent Quality Monitoring 
o Maintenance Records 
o Daily Inspection Reports 
o Quantity of Recycled Water Generated 
o Final Use of Recycled Water Generated 
o Site and Crop Monitoring Records 
o Irrigation Records 
o Annual DEQ Recycled Water Use Report 
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Appendix B: USDA Estimating Soil Moisture by Feel and Appearance (1998) 
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Appendix C – Soil Survey Maps and Soil Classifications

Marion County Area, Oregon (OR643) 
Map Unit Symbol Map Unit Name Acres in AOI Percent of AOI
WuC Woodburn silt loam, 

3 to 12 percent slopes 
1.2 16.9%

WuD Woodburn silt loam, 
12 to 20 percent slopes 

5.9 83.1%

Total 7.2 100.0%

Marion County Area, Oregon 
WuC – Woodburn silt loam, 3-12 percent slopes Map Unit Setting

National map unit symbol: 24s4
Elevation: 150 to 350 feet 
Mean annual precipitation: 40 to 45 inches 
Mean annual air temperature: 52 to 54 degrees F 
Frost-free period: 200 to 210 days 
Farmland classification: Farmland of statewide importance

Map Unit Composition

Woodburn and similar soils: 95 percent 
Minor components: 5 percent 
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the map unit. 
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Description of Woodburn Setting 

 Landform: Terraces 
 Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread, riser 
 Down-slope shape: Linear 
 Across-slope shape: Linear 
 Parent material: Silty alluvium and mixed mineralogy loess 

Typical Profile 

 Hl - 0 to 17 inches: silt loam 
 H2 - 17 to 32 inches: silty clay loam 
 H3 - 32 to 68 inches: silt loam 

Properties and Qualities 

 Slope: 3 to 12 percent 
 Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches 
 Natural drainage class: Moderately well drained 
 Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately low to moderately high (0.06 to 

0.20 in/hr) 
 Depth to water table: About 25 to 32 inches 
 Frequency of flooding: None 
 Frequency of ponding: None 
 Available water storage in profile: High (about 12.0 inches) 

Interpretive Groups 

 Land capability classification (irrigated): 2e 
 Land capability classification (non-irrigated): 2e 
 Hydrologic Soil Group: C 
 Other vegetative classification: Moderately Well Drained < 15% Slopes (G002XY0040R) 

Minor Components Aquolls Poorly Drained 

 Percent of map unit: 5 percent 
 Landform: Terraces 

Marion County Area, Oregon 
WuD – Woodburn silt loam, 12 to 20 percent slopes Map Unit Setting 

 National map unit symbol: 24s5 
 Elevation: 150 to 350 feet 
 Mean annual precipitation: 40 to 45 inches 
 Mean annual air temperature: 52 to 54 degrees F 
 Frost-free period: 200 to 210 days 
 Farmland classification: Farmland of statewide importance 

Map Unit Composition 

 Woodburn and similar soils: 95 percent 
 Minor components: 5 percent 
 Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the map unit. 
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Description of Woodburn Setting 

 Landform: Terraces 
 Landform position (three-dimensional): Riser 
 Down-slope shape: Linear 
 Across-slope shape: Linear 
 Parent material: Silty alluvium and mixed mineralogy loess 

Typical Profile 

 Hl - 0 to 17 inches: silt loam 
 H2 - 17 to 32 inches: silty clay loam 
 H3 - 32 to 68 inches: silt loam 

Properties and Qualities 

 Slope: 12 to 20 percent 
 Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches 
 Natural drainage class: Moderately well drained 
 Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately low to moderately high (0.06 to 

0.20 in/hr) 
 Depth to water table: About 25 to 32 inches 
 Frequency of flooding: None 
 Frequency of ponding: None 
 Available water storage in profile: High (about 12.0 inches) 

Interpretive Groups 

 Land capability classification (irrigated): 3e 
 Land capability classification (non-irrigated): 3e 
 Hydrologic Soil Group: C 
 Other vegetative classification: Moderately Well Drained > 15% Slopes (G002XY0030R) 

Minor Components Aquolls, Poorly Drained 

 Percent of map unit: 5 percent 
 Landform: Terraces 
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Summary by Map Unit – Marion County Area, Oregon (OR643) 
Map Unit 
Symbol

Map Unit 
Name

Rating Component 
Name (percent)

Rating Reasons 
(numeric values)

Acres in 
AOI

Percent 
of AOI

Slow water 
movement (1.00)

WuC Woodburn 
silt loam,
3 to 12 
percent 
slopes 

Very 
limited

Woodburn (95%) Too steep for 
surface application 
(1.00) 

1.2 16.9%

Dept to saturated 
zone (0.99)

Too acid (0.14)

Too steep for 
sprinkler application 
(0.10) 

Too steep for 
surface application 
(1.00) 

Slow water

Movement (1.00)
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Map Unit 
Symbol 

Map Unit 
Name 

Rating Component 
Name (percent) 

Rating Reasons 
(numeric values) 

Acres in 
AOI 

Percent 
of AOI 

WuD Woodburn 
silt loam, 
12 to 20 
percent 
slopes 

Very limited Woodburn 
(95%) 

Too steep for 
sprinkler application 
(1.00) 

5.9 83.1% 

 Dept to saturated 
zone (0.99) 

 

Too acid (0.14) 

Total for Area of Interest  7.2 100.0% 
 
Table 

Disposal of Wastewater by Irrigation 
Summary by Rating Value 

Rating Acres in AOI Percent of AOI 
Very limited 7.2 100.0% 

Total for Area of Interest 7.2 100.0% 
 
Description – Disposal of Wastewater by Irrigation 
Wastewater includes municipal and food-processing wastewater and effluent from lagoons or storage ponds. 
Municipal wastewater is the waste stream from a municipality. It contains domestic waste and may contain 
industrial waste. It may have received primary or secondary treatment. It is rarely untreated sewage. Food-
processing wastewater results from the preparation of fruits, vegetables, milk, cheese, and meats for public 
consumption. 
 
In places it is high in content of sodium and chloride. The effluent in lagoons and storage ponds is from facilities 
used to treat or store food-processing wastewater or domestic or animal waste. Domestic and food-processing 
wastewater is very dilute, and the effluent from the facilities that treat or store it commonly is very low in 
content of carbonaceous and nitrogenous material; the content of nitrogen commonly ranges from 10 to 30 
milligrams per liter. The wastewater from animal waste treatment lagoons or storage ponds, however, has much 
higher concentrations of these materials, mainly because the manure has not been diluted as much as the 
domestic waste. The content of nitrogen in this wastewater generally ranges from 50 to 2,000 milligrams per 
liter. When wastewater is applied, checks should be made to ensure that nitrogen, heavy metals, and salts are not 
added in excessive amounts. 
 

249 of 329



Disposal of wastewater by irrigation not only disposes of municipal wastewater and wastewater from food-
processing plants, lagoons, and storage ponds but also can improve crop production by increasing the amount of 
water available to crops. The ratings are based on the soil properties that affect the design, construction, 
management, and performance of the irrigation system. The properties that affect design and management 
include the sodium adsorption ratio, depth to a water table, ponding, available water capacity, saturated 
hydraulic conductivity (Ksat), slope, and flooding. The properties that affect construction include stones, 
cobbles, depth to bedrock or a cemented pan, depth to a water table, and ponding. The properties that affect 
performance include depth to bedrock or a cemented pan, bulk density, the sodium adsorption ratio, salinity, 
reaction, and the cation-exchange capacity, which is used to estimate the capacity of a soil to adsorb heavy 
metals. Permanently frozen soils are not suitable for disposal of wastewater by irrigation. 
 
The ratings are both verbal and numerical. Rating class terms indicate the extent to which the soils are limited 
by all of the soil features that affect agricultural waste management. "Not limited" indicates that the soil has 
features that are very favorable for the specified use. Good performance and very low maintenance can be 
expected. "Somewhat limited" indicates that the soil has features that are moderately favorable for the specified 
use. The limitations can be overcome or minimized by special planning, design, or installation. Fair performance 
and moderate maintenance can be expected. "Very limited" indicates that the soil has one or more features that 
are unfavorable for the specified use. The limitations generally cannot be overcome without major soil 
reclamation, special design, or expensive installation procedures. Poor performance and high maintenance can 
be expected. 
 
Numerical ratings indicate the severity of individual limitations. The ratings are shown as decimal fractions 
ranging from 0.01 to 1.00. They indicate gradations between the point at which a soil feature has the greatest 
negative impact on the use (1.00) and the point at which the soil feature is not a limitation (0.00). 
 
The map unit components listed for each map unit in the accompanying Summary by Map Unit table in Web 
Soil Survey or the Aggregation Report in Soil Data Viewer is determined by the aggregation method chosen. An 
aggregated rating class is shown for each map unit. The components listed for each map unit are only those that 
have the same rating class as listed for the map unit. The percent composition of each component in a particular 
map unit is presented to help the user better understand the percentage of each map unit that has the rating 
presented. 
 
Other components with different ratings may be present in each map unit. The ratings for all components, 
regardless of the map unit aggregated rating, can be viewed by generating the equivalent report from the Soil 
Reports tab in Web Soil Survey or from the Soil Data Mart site. Onsite investigation may be needed to validate 
these interpretations and to confirm the identity of the soil on a given site. 
 
Rating Options – Disposal of Wastewater by Irrigation 
 Aggregation Method: Dominant Condition 
 Component Percent Cutoff: None Specified 
 Tie-break Rule: Higher 

250 of 329



251 of 329



CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

252 of 329



CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
CITY OFFICIALS 
JUNE 30, 2021 
 

       Name    MAYOR       Term   
  
  Brian Asher         January 2023 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

  Tara Weidman         January 2023 
 
 
  John Berard         January 2023 
 
 
  Mercedes Rhoden-Feely        January 2025 
 
 
  Wendy Veliz         January 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY ADMINISTRATION 
           

Mary Lambert, Finance Officer 
 

Stuart A. Rodgers, City Recorder 
 

 
Officials and City Staff can be contacted at: 

 
 

21420 Main Street NE 
Aurora, Oregon 97002 

253 of 329



CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

Page 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
Independent Auditor’s Report 1-2 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 3-7 
Basic Financial Statements 
 Government-wide Financial Statements 
  Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) 8 
  Statement of Activities (Modified Cash Basis) 9 
 Fund Financial Statements 
  Balance Sheet (Modified Cash Basis) - Governmental Funds 10 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (Modified Cash Basis) -  
    Governmental Funds 11 
  Statement of Fund Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) - Enterprise Funds 12 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) -  
    Enterprise Funds   13 
  Statement of Cash Flows (Modified Cash Basis) - Enterprise Funds 14 
 Notes to Basic Financial Statements 15-26 
Supplemental Information 
 Governmental Funds - Statements and Schedules 
  Combining Balance Sheet (Budgetary Basis) - Nonmajor Funds 27 
  Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances  
   (Budgetary Basis) - Nonmajor Funds 28 
  Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Budgetary Basis) -  
    Budget and Actual 
   General Fund    29 
   Street/Storm Operating Fund 30 
   City Hall Building Fund 31 
   Aurora Colony Days 32 
   Park SDC Fund   33 
   Park Reserve Fund 34 
   Street/Storm SDC Fund 35 
   Street/Storm Reserve Fund 36 
 Enterprise Funds - Statements and Schedules 
  Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (Budgetary Basis) –  
    Water Operations Funds 37 
  Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (Budgetary Basis) -  
    Budget and Actual 
   Water Operating Fund 38 
   Water Reserve Fund 39 
   Water SDC Fund  40 
  Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (Budgetary Basis) –  
    Sewer Operations Funds 41 
  Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (Budgetary Basis) -  
    Budget and Actual 
   Sewer Operating Fund 42 
   Sewer Reserve Fund 43 
   Sewer SDC Fund  44 
   G.O. Waste Water Bond Fund 45 
 
COMPLIANCE SECTION 
 Independent Auditor’s Report Required by Oregon State Regulations 46-47 

 

254 of 329



- 1 - 

 
 

 
Honorable Mayor and Council Members 
City of Aurora 
21420 Main Street NE 
Aurora, Oregon 97002 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying modified cash basis financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Aurora, as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the modified cash basis of accounting described in the notes to the financial statements. This includes 
determining that the modified cash basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the financial 
statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance 
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these modified cash basis financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 
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Opinions

In our opinion, the modified cash basis financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective modified cash basis financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Aurora, as of June 30, 2021, and the 
respective changes in modified cash basis financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year 
then ended in accordance with the basis of accounting described in the notes to the financial statements.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to the notes of the financial statements that describes the basis of accounting.  The financial 
statements are prepared on the modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Our opinions are not modified with 
respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Report on Supplemental and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City's basic financial statements. Management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information and 
combining nonmajor fund financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not 
required parts of the basic financial statements.

The supplemental information as listed in the table of contents is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from, and relates directly to, the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to 
the basic financial statements as a whole on the basis of accounting described in notes to the financial statements.

Management’s discussion and analysis has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, we have issued our report
dated November 10, 2021, on our consideration of the City's compliance with certain provisions of laws and 
regulations, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules.   The 
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and the results of that testing and not to 
provide an opinion on compliance.

GROVE, MUELLER & SWANK, P.C.
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

By:
Devan W. Esch, A Shareholder
November 10, 2021
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2021 

 
As management of the City of Aurora, we offer readers of the financial statements this narrative overview and 
analysis of the financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

2021 2020 change

Net position 2,634,601$         2,704,526$         (69,925)$            

Change in net position (69,925)             337,523             (407,448)            

Governmental net position 1,430,230          1,421,353          8,877                

Proprietary net position 1,204,371          1,283,173          (78,802)             

Change in governmental net position 8,877                109,196             (100,319)            

Change in proprietary net position (78,802)             228,327             (307,129)            

June 30,

 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Aurora’s basic financial 
statements.  The City’s basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.  This report also contains 
supplementary and other information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Government-wide financial statements.  The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide 
readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.  These 
statements include: 
 
The Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis).  This presents information on the assets and liabilities of the 
City as of the date on the statement.  Net position is what remains after the liabilities have been paid or otherwise 
satisfied.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The Statement of Activities (Modified Cash Basis).  The statement of activities presents information showing how 
the net position of the City changed over the most recent fiscal year by tracking revenues, expenditures and other 
transactions that increase or reduce net position. 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, the City’s activities are shown as governmental and business-type 
activities.  Governmental activities include all basic city government functions, such as general government, public 
safety, highway and streets, and community development.  These activities are primarily financed through property 
taxes and other intergovernmental activities.  Business-type activities are those which are primarily financed 
through charges to customers and include water and sewer operations. 
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Fund financial statements.  The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City’s 
funds, focusing on its most significant or “major” funds – not the City as a whole.  A fund is a grouping of related 
accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or 
objectives.  The City, like state and other local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City can be divided into two categories: 
governmental funds and proprietary (business-type) funds. 
 
Governmental funds.  The governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  Because the focus of governmental funds is 
narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful in obtaining an understanding of each 
fund’s activity. 
 
Proprietary funds.  Proprietary funds are used to account for funds which are intended to recover all or a 
significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities).  Proprietary funds whose 
primary user is the public are known as enterprise funds.  
 
Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.   
 
Other information.  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
certain supplemental information, including the budgetary comparison schedules and the combining non-major 
fund financial statements. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 

Governmental Business-type Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total

Cash and cash equivalents 1,430,230$   1,204,371$   2,634,601$   1,421,353$   1,283,173$   2,704,526$   

Liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Net Position:
Restricted 483,269        145,023        628,292        491,057        279,277        770,334$      
Unrestricted 946,961        1,059,348     2,006,309     930,296        1,003,896     1,934,192$   

Total Net Position 1,430,230$   1,204,371$   2,634,601$   1,421,353$   1,283,173$   2,704,526$   

2021 2020

Statements of Net Position (modified cash basis)
June 30,

 
Statement of Net Position (modified cash basis).  The statement of net position (modified cash basis) is provided 
on a comparative basis.  As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s 
financial position.  In the case of the City of Aurora, assets exceeded liabilities by $2,634,601 as of June 30, 2021. 
 
Restricted net position represents sources that are subject to external restrictions on their use, such as debt service 
or capital projects. 
 
Unrestricted net position is available for general operations of the City. 
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 Business- Business-
Governmental  type Governmental type

Activities  Activities Total Activities Activities Total
Revenues

Program revenues
Charges for service 175,141$        748,647$      923,788$      142,395$        721,663$      864,058$      
Operating grants 128,314          -                   128,314        70,765            -                   70,765          
Capital grants 22,785            30,300          53,085          61,404            18,847          80,251          

General revenues
Taxes and assessments 324,537          363,189        687,726        312,594          350,674        663,268        
Franchise taxes 71,364            -                   71,364          71,433            -                   71,433          
Intergovernmental 40,543            -                   40,543          35,274            -                   35,274          
Miscellaneous 55,683            16,619          72,302          91,634            29,224          120,858        

Total revenues 818,367          1,158,755     1,977,122     785,499          1,120,408     1,905,907     

Expenses
General government 199,952          -                            199,952 171,836          -                   171,836        
Public safety 203,097          -                            203,097 198,404          -                   198,404        
Highways and streets 141,295          -                            141,295 132,829          -                   132,829        
Community development 265,146          -                            265,146 173,234          -                   173,234        
Water -                      560,779                 560,779 -                      286,032        286,032        
Sewer -                      676,778                 676,778 -                      606,049        606,049        

Total expenses 809,490          1,237,557     2,047,047     676,303          892,081        1,568,384     

Change in net position                8,877          (78,802)          (69,925)            109,196         228,327 337,523        

Net position, beginning of year         1,421,353      1,283,173       2,704,526         1,312,157      1,054,846 2,367,003     

Net position, end of year  $     1,430,230  $  1,204,371  $   2,634,601  $     1,421,353  $  1,283,173 2,704,526$   

2021 2020

Year ended June 30,
Statements of Activities (modified cash basis)

 
Statement of Activities (modified cash basis).  During the current fiscal year, the City’s total net position decreased 
by $69,925 to $2,634,601 from $2,704,526 at the beginning of the year.  The key elements of the change in the 
City’s net position for the year ended June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 
Governmental activities - The City's net position increased by $8,877 from governmental activities.  The increase 
was primarily due to the increase in charges for services and miscellaneous revenue within the current year. 
 
Business type activities - The City's net position decreased by $78,802 from business type activities.  Revenues 
increased by approximately $40,000 compared to the prior year, and expenses increased by approximately 
$345,000 compared to the prior year. 
 
Financial Analysis of the City of Aurora’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.   
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Governmental funds.  The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on relatively short-
term cash flow and funding for future basic services.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing 
requirements.  In particular, fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available 
for spending at the end of a fiscal year. As of June 30, 2021, the City’s governmental funds reported combined 
ending fund balances of $1,430,230, an increase of $8,877 over the prior year. 
 
Business-type funds.  The business-type funds account for the City’s water and sewer operations. Expenses 
exceeded revenues by $78,802 for the year ended June 30, 2021. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
The governing body made one change to the General Fund budget for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. 
Revenues, ending fund balance, and Community Development expenditures increased by $50,000 due to an 
unanticipated Coronavirus Relief Funds Grant. 
 
Significant Fund Transactions 
 
Major Governmental Funds: 
 
General Fund. The General Funds is the primary operating funds of the City. The fund balance was $547,774 as of 
June 30, 2021. The fund balance decreased $95,635 during the current fiscal year. As a measure of the liquidity, it 
may be useful to compare total fund balances to total fund expenditures. Fund balance represents 83% of total 
expenditures. 
 
Street/Storm Operating Fund. The Street/Storm Operating Fund accounts for street maintenance and improvements. 
The fund balance decreased by $49,685. This decrease was due to increases in both materials and services and 
capital outlay in the current year. 
 
City Hall Building Fund – The fund balance increased by $112,290 due primarily to transfers in of $105,000 and no 
expenditures. 
 
Major Proprietary Operations: 
 
Water Operations – Water operations revenues are from charges for services and expenses are for personal 
services, materials and services, capital acquisition, and debt payments. Net position decreased $157,509 during the 
year due to capital acquisitions. 
 
Sewer Operations –Sewer operations revenues are from charges for services and expenses are for personal services, 
materials and services, capital acquisition, and debt payments. Net position increased by $78,707 during the year 
mainly due to a decrease in materials and services expenditures within the current year. Net nonoperating revenue 
and expenses were $3,449. 
 
Debt Administration 
 
The City had total debt outstanding of $1,158,305 at the end of the current fiscal year. 
 
During the current fiscal year, the City’s total debt decreased by $324,653 (28%). 
 
State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 3 percent of its total 
assessed valuation.  The City had no general obligation debt subject to the limitation at June 30, 2021. 
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2021 2020

General obligation bonds 965,000$      1,275,000$    
Loans 193,305        207,958        

Total 1,158,305$    1,482,958$    

City of Aurora
Outstanding Debt

Business-type Activities

 
 
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in the notes to the basic financial statements of 
this report. 
 
Economic Factors and the Next Year’s Budget 
 
The City’s Budget Committee considered all the following factors while preparing the City budget for the 2021-22 
fiscal year: 
 

a. Prior history of revenues and expenditures 
b. Capital projects in the water and sewer funds 
c. Expected property tax revenues 

 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to present the user (citizens, taxpayers, investors and creditors) with a general 
overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability.  Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to: 
   
  City Recorder 
  City of Aurora 
  21420 Main Street NE 
  Aurora, Oregon 97002
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION (MODIFIED CASH BASIS)
JUNE 30, 2021

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,430,230$          1,204,371$          2,634,601$         

LIABILITIES -                           -                           -                          

NET POSITION
Restricted for:

Debt service -                           16,544                 16,544                
Capital acquisitions 209,304               128,479               337,783              
Community development 12,412                 -                           12,412                
Streets 261,553               -                           261,553              

Unrestricted 946,961               1,059,348            2,006,309           

Total Net Position 1,430,230$          1,204,371$          2,634,601$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
- 8 -
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2021

Water
Operations

Sewer
Operations Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 536,580$             667,791$             1,204,371$          

LIABILITIES -                           -                           -                           

FUND NET POSITION
Restricted for:

Debt service -                           16,544                 16,544                 
Capital acquisions 51,898                 76,581                 128,479               

Unrestricted 484,682               574,666               1,059,348            

Total Fund Net Position 536,580$             667,791$             1,204,371$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
- 12 -
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITON 
(MODIFIED CASH BASIS) - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Water
Operations

Sewer
Operations Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 372,177$                   376,470$                   748,647$              
Miscellaneous 3,575                         1,741                         5,316                   

Total Operating Revenues 375,752                     378,211                     753,963               

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal services 112,878                     125,936                     238,814               
Materials and services 144,666                     178,247                     322,913               

Total Operating Expenses 257,544                     304,183                     561,727               

OPERATING INCOME 118,208                     74,028                       192,236               

NONOPERATING REVENUES/EXPENSES
Taxes and assessments -                                363,189                     363,189               

 Interest revenue 5,346                         5,957                         11,303                 
Capital acquisitions (282,343)                   (5,220)                       (287,563)              
Debt payments

Principal (14,653)                     (310,000)                   (324,653)              
Interest (6,239)                       (57,375)                     (63,614)                

Total Nonoperating Revenues/Expenses (297,889)                   (3,449)                       (301,338)              

NET INCOME BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS
AND TRANSFERS (179,681)                   70,579                       (109,102)              

CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS
Capital contributions 22,172                       8,128                         30,300                 

CHANGE IN FUND NET POSITION (157,509)                   78,707                       (78,802)                

FUND NET POSITION, beginning of year 694,089                     589,084                     1,283,173             

FUND NET POSITION, end of year 536,580$                   667,791$                   1,204,371$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
- 13 -
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Water
Operations

Sewer
Operations Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers 375,752$              378,211$                   753,963$              
Cash paid to employees and others for salaries and benefits (112,878)              (125,936)                    (238,814)              
Cash paid to suppliers and others (144,666)              (178,247)                    (322,913)              

   Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 118,208                74,028                       192,236                

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING
   ACTIVITIES

Taxes and assessments -                            363,189                     363,189                

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
   FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of capital assets (282,343)              (5,220)                        (287,563)              
Principal paid on debt (14,653)                (310,000)                    (324,653)              
Interest paid on debt (6,239)                  (57,375)                      (63,614)                
Capital contributions 22,172                  8,128                         30,300                  

Net Cash Used for Capital and Related 
Financing Activities (281,063)              (364,467)                    (645,530)              

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 5,346                  5,957                        11,303                  

  Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (157,509)             78,707                      (78,802)               

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Beginning of year 694,089                589,084                     1,283,173             ,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of year 536,580$              667,791$                   1,204,371$           

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 118,208$            74,028$                    192,236$              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
- 14 -
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The City of Aurora, Oregon is governed by an elected mayor and four council members who comprise the City 
Council.  The City Council exercises supervisory responsibilities over City operations, but day-to-day management 
control is the responsibility of a city recorder.  All significant activities and organizations for which the City is 
financially accountable are included in the basic financial statements. 
 
There are certain governmental agencies and various service districts which provide services within the City.  These 
agencies have independently elected governing boards and the City is not financially accountable for these 
organizations.  Therefore, financial information for these agencies is not included in the accompanying basic 
financial statements. 
 
As discussed further under Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting, these financial statements are presented 
on a modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB). These modified cash basis financial statements generally meet the presentation and disclosure 
requirements applicable to GAAP, in substance, but are limited to the elements presented in the financial statements 
and the constraints of the measurement and recognition criteria of the modified cash basis of accounting. 
 

Basic Financial Statements 
 
Basic financial statements are presented at both the government-wide and fund financial level.  Both levels of 
statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type.  Governmental activities, which 
are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
 
Government-wide financial statements display information about the City as a whole.  For the most part, the 
effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  These statements focus on the sustainability 
of the City as an entity and the change in aggregate financial position resulting from the activities of the fiscal 
period.  These aggregated statements consist of the Statement of Net Position (modified cash basis) and the 
Statement of Activities (modified cash basis). 
 
The Statement of Net Position (modified cash basis) presents the assets and liabilities of the City. Net position, 
representing assets less liabilities, is shown in two components: restricted for special purposes, amounts which 
must be spent in accordance with legal restrictions; and unrestricted, the amount available for ongoing City 
activities. 
 
The Statement of Activities (modified cash basis) demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment.  Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, 
use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and (2) grants 
and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or 
segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general 
revenues. 
 
Fund financial statements display information at the individual fund level.  Each fund is considered to be a 
separate accounting entity.  Funds are classified and summarized as governmental, proprietary or fiduciary.  
Currently, the City has governmental funds (general, special revenue, and capital projects) and proprietary type 
funds (enterprise).  Major individual governmental funds and proprietary operations are reported as separate 
columns in the fund financial statements.    
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The financial transactions of the City are recorded in individual funds.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a 
separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures 
/ expenses.  The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America set forth minimum criteria (percentage 
of the assets, liabilities, revenues or expenditures / expenses of either fund category or the government and 
enterprise combined) for the determination of major funds.   

 
The City reports the following governmental funds as major funds: 

 
General Fund 
 
This fund accounts for the basic governmental financial operations of the City.  Principal sources of revenues 
are property taxes, licenses and permits, fines and forfeitures and State shared revenues.  Primary expenditures 
are for administration, park service, community development, public facilities and municipal court. 
 
Street/Storm Operating Fund 
 
Gas tax apportionments received from the State are recorded in this fund.  Expenditures are for road 
construction and maintenance. 
 
City Hall Building Fund 
 
This fund accounts for monies set aside by the City for the replacement of the City Hall building. 

 
The City reports each of its proprietary operations.  They are used to account for the acquisition, operation, and 
maintenance of the sewer and water systems.  These operations are entirely or predominantly self-supported 
through user charges to customers.  The City reports the following major proprietary activities: 

 
Sewer Operations 
 
Accounts for the operations, maintenance, and capital construction projects for wastewater system, which is 
funded through utility fees, systems development charges, and property taxes. 

 
Water Operations 
 
Accounts for the operations, maintenance, debt service, and capital construction projects for water system, 
which is funded through utility fees and systems development charges. 
 

Fund Balance 
 
Fund balance is reported as non-spendable when the resources cannot be spent because they are either in a legally 
or contractually required to be maintained intact or non-spendable form.  Resources in non-spendable form 
include inventories, prepaids and deposits, and assets held for resale. 
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Fund Balance (Continued) 
 
Fund balance is reported as restricted when the constraints placed on the use of resources are either: (a) externally 
imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
Fund balance is reported as committed when the City Council takes formal action that places specific constraints 
on how the resources may be used.  The City Council can modify or rescind the commitment at any time through 
taking a similar formal action. 
 
Resources that are constrained by the City’s intent to use them for a specific purpose, but are neither restricted 
nor committed, are reported as assigned fund balance.  Intent is expressed when the City Council approves which 
resources should be “reserved” during the adoption of the annual budget.  The City’s Finance Officer uses that 
information to determine whether those resources should be classified as assigned or unassigned for presentation 
in the City’s Annual Financial Report. 
 
Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund.  This classification represents fund 
balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned within the General Fund.  This classification is also 
used to report any negative fund balance amounts in other governmental funds.  
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
Definitions of Governmental Fund Types 
 
The General Fund is used to account for the basic operations of the City, which include general government, 
public safety, highways and streets, and community development. 
 
Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 
restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects.  The term 
“proceeds of specific revenues sources” means that the revenue sources for the fund must be from restricted or 
committed sources, specifically that a substantial portion of the revenue must be from these sources and be 
expended in accordance with those requirements. 
 
Capital Projects Funds are utilized to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction 
of capital equipment and facilities. 

 
 Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

 
Measurement focus is a term used to describe what transactions or events are recorded within the various 
financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to when and how transactions or events are recorded, regardless 
of the measurement focus applied.  
 
In the government-wide Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) and Statement of Activities (Modified 
Cash Basis), both governmental and business-type activities are presented using the economic resource 
measurement focus, within the limitations of the modified cash basis of accounting, as defined below. 
 

272 of 329



 
- 18 - 

CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
In the fund financial statements, the current financial resources measurement focus or the economic resources 
measurement focus is applied to the modified cash basis of accounting, is used as appropriate: 
 

a. All governmental funds utilize a current financial resources measurement focus within the limitations of the 
modified cash basis of accounting. Only current financial assets and liabilities are generally included on 
their balance sheets. Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial 
resources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of available spendable 
financial resources at the end of the period. 

b. The proprietary funds utilize an economic resource measurement focus within the limitations of the 
modified cash basis of accounting. The accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the 
determination of operating income, change in net position (or cost recovery), net financial position, and 
cash flows. All assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows (whether current or noncurrent or 
financial or nonfinancial) associated with their activities are generally reported within the limitations of the 
modified cash basis of accounting. 

 
The financial statements are presented on a modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting 
other than GAAP as established by GASB. This basis of accounting involves modifications to the cash basis of 
accounting to report in the statements of net position or balance sheets cash transactions or events that provide a 
benefit or result in an obligation that covers a period greater than the period in which the cash transaction or event 
occurred. Such reported balances include: 
 

1. Interfund receivables and payables that are temporary borrowing and result from transactions involving 
cash or cash equivalents are recognized. 

2. Assets that normally convert to cash or cash equivalents (e.g., certificates of deposit, external cash pools, 
and marketable investments) that arise from transactions and events involving cash or cash equivalents are 
recognized. 

3. Liabilities for cash (or cash equivalents) held on behalf of others or held in escrow are recognized. 
 

The modified cash basis of accounting differs from GAAP primarily because certain assets and their related 
revenues (such as accounts receivable and revenue for billed or provided services not yet collected and other 
accrued revenue and receivables) and certain liabilities and their related expenses or expenditures (such as 
accounts payable and expenses for goods and services received but not yet paid and other accrued expenses and 
liabilities) are not recorded in these financial statements. In addition, other economic assets, deferred outflows, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows that do not arise from a cash transaction or event are not reported, and the 
measurement of reported assets and liabilities does not involve adjustment to fair value.  Additionally, long-term 
liabilities such as debt are only reported in the notes to the financial statements. 

 
If the City utilized the basis of accounting recognized as generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
fund financial statements for the governmental funds would use the modified accrual basis of accounting, and the 
fund financial statements for the enterprise funds would use the accrual basis of accounting. All government-wide 
financial statements would be presented on the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
The City’s policy, although not in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America, is acceptable under Oregon Law (ORS 294.333), which leaves the selection of the method of 
accounting to the discretion of the municipal corporation.   
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 

 
Enterprise funds distinguish between operating and non-operating revenues and expenses.  Operating revenues 
and expenses result from providing services to customers in connection with ongoing utility operations.  The 
principal operating revenues are charges to customers for service.  Operating expenses include payroll and related 
costs, materials and supplies, and capital outlay.  All revenues not considered operating are reported as non-
operating revenues. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The City maintains cash and cash equivalents in a common pool that is available for use by all funds.  Each fund 
type’s portion of this pool is displayed as cash and cash equivalents. The City considers cash on hand, demand 
deposits and savings accounts, and short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less from 
the date of acquisition to be cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Oregon Revised Statutes authorize the City to invest in certificates of deposit, savings accounts, bank repurchase 
agreements, bankers’ acceptances, general obligations of U.S. Government and its agencies, certain bonded 
obligations of Oregon municipalities, and the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool, among 
others.   

 
Investments in the Local Government Investment Pool are stated at cost, which approximates fair value. 
 
Property Taxes 
 
Property taxes are levied by the County Assessor and collected by the County Tax Collector.  The taxes are levied 
and become a lien as of July 1.  They may be paid in three installments payable in equal payments due November 
15, February 15 and May 15.  The City’s property tax collection records show that most of the property taxes due 
are collected during the year of levy and delinquent taxes are collected in the next few years. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The City does not maintain historical cost or depreciation records for capital assets. Therefore, capital assets are 
not reported on the government-wide Statement of Net Position or the proprietary funds statements of Fund Net 
Position or in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 
Long-term debt is presented only in the notes to the financial statements.  Payments of principal and interest are 
recorded as expenditures / expenses when paid. 
 
Accrued Compensated Absences 
 
Accumulated unpaid vacation pay is not accrued.  Earned but unpaid sick pay is recorded as an expenditure / 
expense when paid.   
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
Budget and Budgetary Accounting 
 
The City adopts the budget on an object basis; therefore, expenditures of a specific object within a fund may not 
legally exceed that object’s appropriations.  The City Council may amend the budget to expend unforeseen 
revenues by supplemental appropriations.  All supplemental appropriations are included in the budget comparison 
statements.  Appropriations lapse at year end and may not be carried over.  The City does not use encumbrance 
accounting. 

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with the modified cash basis of accounting requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and reported amounts of 
revenues and expenditures during the reporting period.  Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following at June 30, 2021: 
 

Cash
Cash on hand $ 400              
Deposits with financial institutions 108,284        

Investments
Local Government Investment Pool 2,525,917     

$ 2,634,601     
 

 Deposits 
 
The City's deposits with various financial institutions had a book value of $108,284 and a bank balance of 
$156,269 as of June 30, 2021.  The difference is due to transactions in process.  Bank deposits are secured to 
legal limits by federal deposit insurance.  The remaining amount is secured in accordance with ORS 295 under a 
collateral program administered by the Oregon State Treasurer. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits 
 
This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City's deposits may not be returned.  The Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) provides insurance for the City's deposits with financial institutions for 
up to $250,000 for the aggregate of all demand deposits and the aggregate of all time deposit and savings 
accounts at each institution.  Deposits in excess of FDIC coverage are with institutions participating in the 
Oregon Public Funds Collateralization Program (PFCP).  The PFCP is a shared liability structure for participating 
bank depositories, better protecting public funds though still not guaranteeing that all funds are 100% protected. 
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 

 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits (Continued) 
 
Barring any exceptions, a bank depository is required to pledge collateral valued at least 10% of their quarter-end 
public fund deposits if they are well capitalized, 25% of their quarter-end public fund deposits if they are 
adequately capitalized, or 110% of their quarter-end public fund deposits if they are undercapitalized or assigned 
to pledge 110% by the Office of the State Treasurer.  In the event of a bank failure, the entire pool of collateral 
pledged by all qualified Oregon public funds bank depositories is available to repay deposits of public funds of 
government entities.  As of June 30, 2021, all of the City’s bank balances were covered by FDIC insurance. 

 
Local Government Investment Pool 

 
The State Treasurer of the State of Oregon maintains the Oregon Short Term Fund, of which the Local 
Government Investment Pool is part.  Participation by local governments is voluntary.  The State of Oregon 
investment policies are governed by statute and the Oregon Investment Council.  In accordance with Oregon 
Statutes, the investment funds are invested as a prudent investor would do, exercising reasonable care, skill and 
caution.  The Oregon Short Term Fund is the LGIP for local governments and was established by the State 
Treasurer.  It was created to meet the financial and administrative responsibilities of federal arbitrage regulations. 
The investments are regulated by the Oregon Short Term Fund Board and approved by the Oregon Investment 
Council (ORS 294.805 to 294.895).  At June 30, 2021, the fair value of the position in the Oregon State 
Treasurer’s Short Term Investment Pool was approximately equal to the value of the pool shares.  The investment 
in the Oregon Short Term Fund is not subject to risk evaluation. The LGIP is not rated for credit quality. Separate 
financial statements for the Oregon Short Term Fund are available from the Oregon State Treasurer. 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines in fair value of its investments 
by limiting its investments to the LGIP. 

 
Custodial Credit Risk - Investments 
 
For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able to 
recover the value of its investments or collateralized securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The 
City's investment policy limits the types of investments that may be held and does not allow securities to be held 
by the counterparty. 
 
The LGIP is administered by the Oregon State Treasury with the advice of other state agencies and is not 
registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.  The LGIP is an open-ended no-load diversified 
portfolio offered to any agency, political subdivision, or public corporation of the state that by law is made the 
custodian of or has control of any fund.  The LGIP is commingled with the State's short-term funds.  In seeking to 
best serve local governments of Oregon, the Oregon Legislature established the Oregon Short Term Fund Board, 
which has established diversification percentages and specifies the types and maturities of the investments.  
 
The purpose of the Board is to advise the Oregon State Treasury in the management and investment of the LGIP.  
These investments within the LGIP must be invested and managed as a prudent investor would, exercising 
reasonable care, skill and caution.  Professional standards indicate that the investments in external investment 
pools are not subject to custodial risk because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book 
entry form.  Nevertheless, management does not believe that there is any substantial custodial risk related to 
investments in the LGIP. 
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
As a result of the use of the modified cash basis of accounting in this report, obligations related to long-term debt 
and other obligations are not reported as liabilities in the financial statements. Long-term debt transactions for the 
year were as follows: 
 

Business-type activities - direct borrowings
2009 General Obligation Bonds $ 1,275,000 $ -                $ (310,000)    $ 965,000    $ 335,000 

Safe Drinking Water Loan 207,958    -                (14,653)      193,305    15,093   

$ 1,482,958 $ -                $ (324,653)    $ 1,158,305 $ 350,093 

One Year2021During YearIssued

Outstanding Outstanding Due 
July 1, WithinJune 30,

Matured/
Redeemed

2020

 
Debt payments on the general obligation bonds are made from the G.O. Waste Water Bond Fund. 
 
Direct Borrowings – Business-type Activities 
 
2009 G. O. Bonds: On May 28, 2009 the City issued $3,530,000 of general obligation bonds for sewer system 
capital improvements. The bonds call for annual payments ranging from $287,374 to $383,350 including interest at 
rates ranging from 2.5% to 4,5%. The bonds mature on June 1, 2024. The loan is secured by tax increment 
revenues, and, in the event of default, the bonds are not subject to acceleration. 
 
Safe Drinking Water Loan: On July 31, 2009 the City entered into a loan agreement with the Oregon Economic and 
Community Development Division (subsequently renamed Oregon Business Development Division) in the amount 
of $330,812 with annual payments of $20,892 which include interest at 3% through December 1, 2030. The 
purpose of the loan was for water system capital improvements. In the event of default, the lender may declare all 
amounts immediately due and payable and may exercise any remedy available at law or in equity. 
 
Future debt service requirements are as follows:   
 

2022 $ 350,093        $ 49,224          $ 399,317        
2023 370,546        33,696          404,242        
2024 291,012        17,254          308,266        
2025 16,492          4,400           20,892          
2026 16,987          3,905           20,892          

2027-2031 92,892          11,567          104,459        
2032 20,283          607              20,890          

$ 1,158,305     $ 120,653        $ 1,278,958     

Total
Fiscal Year

Ending June 30, Principal Interest
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
PENSION PLAN  
 
Plan Description - City employees are provided pension benefits through the Oregon Public Employees Retirement 
System (PERS). PERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan for units of state and local 
government in Oregon, containing multiple actuarial pools. Benefits are established and amended by the Oregon 
State Legislature pursuant to ORS Chapters 238 and 238A. The legislature has delegated the authority to administer 
and manage PERS to the Public Employees Retirement Board. PERS issues a publicly available financial report 
that can be found at: https://www.oregon.gov/pers/Pages/Financials/Actuarial-Financial-Information.aspx  
 
Benefits Provided - PERS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits which vary based on a qualified 
employee’s hiring date and employment class (general service or police/fire). All City employees are eligible to 
participate after six months of covered employment. Details applicable to police/fire employees are noted in [square 
brackets] where different. 
 
The Tier One/Tier Two Retirement Plan applies to qualifying employees hired before August 29, 2003 and is 
closed to new members.  
 
Monthly retirement benefits are based on final 3-year average salary multiplied by years of service and a  factor of 
1.67% [2.00%]. Benefits may also be based on a money match computation, or formula plus annuity (for members 
contributing before August 21, 1981), if a greater benefit results. Employees are fully vested after making 
contributions in each of five calendar years, and are eligible to retire at age 55 [50]. Tier One benefits are reduced if 
retirement occurs prior to age 58 [55] with less than 30 [25] years of service; Tier Two benefits are reduced for 
retirement prior to age 60. 
 
Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits regardless of length of service; 10 years of service is 
required for nonservice-related benefits. Disability benefits are determined in the same manner as retirement 
benefits with service time computed to age 58 [55]. 
 
Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a lump-sum refund of the member’s account 
balance. The beneficiary may also receive a matching lump-sum payment from employer funds if the member was 
in covered employment at the time of death, or if the member died less than 120 days after termination, while on 
official leave of absence, or as a result of a job-related injury. 
 
Monthly benefits are subject to annual cost-of-living adjustments (COLA). For benefits earned after the relevant 
effective dates, the COLA is subject to a cap of 1.25% on the first $60,000 of annual benefits and  0.15% thereafter 
(ORS 238.360).  
 
The Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP) applies to qualifying employees hired on or after August 29, 
2003.  
 
Monthly retirement benefits are based on final 3-year average salary multiplied by years of service and a  factor of 
1.50% [1.80%]. Employees are fully vested after completing 600 hours of service in each of five calendar years and 
are eligible to retire at age 58 [53] with 30 [25] years of service, or at age 65 [60]  otherwise.  
 
Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits regardless of length of service; 10 years of service is 
required for nonservice-related benefits. The benefit is 45% of the employee’s salary during the last full month of 
employment before the disability occurred.  
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a monthly benefit equal to 50% of the retirement 
benefit that would have been paid to the member.  
 
Monthly benefits are subject to annual cost-of-living adjustments (COLA). For benefits earned after the relevant 
effective dates, the COLA is subject to a cap of 1.25% on the first $60,000 of annual benefits and  0.15% thereafter 
(ORS 238A.210).  
 
Contribution Requirements – As a participating employer, the City is required to make monthly contributions to 
PERS based on actuarially determined percentages of covered payroll. Rates in effect for fiscal year 2021 were 
10.35% for Tier One/Tier Two employees, 2.86% for OPSRP general service employees, and 7.49% for OPSRP 
police/fire employees. The City’s total contributions to PERS were $8,134 for fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. 
 
Contribution requirements are established by Oregon statute and may be amended by an act of the Oregon State 
Legislature. Employer contribution rates for fiscal year 2021 were based on the December 31, 2017 actuarial 
valuation using the entry age normal actuarial cost method. It is important to note that the actuarial valuations used 
for rate setting are based on different methods and assumptions than those used for financial reporting which are 
described later in this note.  
 
Employee contributions are set by statute at 6% of salary and are remitted by participating employers, who may 
agree to make employee contributions on the employee’s behalf. Prior to January 1, 2004, employee contributions 
were credited to the defined benefit pension plan. Beginning January 1, 2004, all employee contributions were 
placed in the OPSRP Individual Account Program (IAP), a defined contribution pension plan described further at 
the end of this note.  
 
Pension Assets/Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Pension-Related Deferrals – At June 30, 2021, the City reported a 
net pension liability of $401,492 as its proportionate share of the collective net pension liability for PERS, 
measured as of June 30, 2020. The total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was based on a 
December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation, rolled forward to the measurement date.  
 
The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of 
contributions to PERS relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, as actuarially 
determined. The City’s proportion was 0.00184% as of the June 30, 2020 measurement date, compared to 
0.00098% as of June 30, 2019. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was 
determined using the entry age normal method and the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement: inflation rate of 2.50%, projected salary increases of 3.50%, investment rate of return 
of 7.20%, and mortality rates based on the Pub-2010 Healthy Retiree, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social 
Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs. These assumptions were based on the results of 
the December 31, 2018 actuarial experience study. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was developed by combining estimated rates of 
return for each major asset class weighted by target asset allocation percentages and adjusting for inflation.  
 
Target allocations and estimated geometric rates of return for each major asset class are available in the PERS 
publicly available financial report previously mentioned.  
 
  

279 of 329



 
- 25 - 

CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.20%. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and those of the contributing employers 
are made at the contractually required rates, as actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension 
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  
 
The following chart shows the sensitivity of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in the discount rate, based 
on calculations using the discount rates of 6.20%, 7.20%, and 8.20%. 
 

 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about PERS’ net position is available in its separately 
issued financial report.  
 

 
 
TRANSFERS (BUDGETARY BASIS) 
 

Fund Transfers In Transfers Out

General -$                       112,000$             
City Hall Building 105,000               -                         
Aurora Colony Days 7,000                  -                         

112,000$             112,000$             
 

 
Transfers are used to (1) move resources from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund 
that statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) move revenues restricted to debt service from the funds 
collecting the revenues to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted 
revenues collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with 
budgetary authorizations. 
 
 
 
  

1% Decrease 
(6.20%)

Discount Rate 
(7.20%)

1% Increase 
(8.20%)

Proportionate share of the 
net pension liability  $         596,183  $         401,492  $         238,235 
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
CONTINGENCIES 
 
The City purchases commercial insurance to cover all commonly insurable risks, which includes property damage, 
liability and employee bonds.  Most policies carry a small deductible amount.  No insurance claims settled in each 
of the prior three years have exceeded policy coverage. 
 
 
RISKS OF UNCERTAINTIES  
 
As a result of the recent coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19), numerous sectors of the economy are suffering 
damage and long-term economic and business consequences of this remain unknown. The extent to which this will 
impact the District is uncertain. 
 
 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through November 10, 2021, the date on which the financial 
statements were available to be issued. Management is not aware of any subsequent events that require recognition 
or disclosure in the financial statements.  
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments 316,536$         316,536$         324,537$         8,001$             
Fines and forfeitures 23,200             23,200             53,810             30,610             
Licenses and permits 120,000           120,000           155,582           35,582             
Intergovernmental 60,000             110,000           81,811             (28,189)            
Miscellaneous 83,100             83,100             59,917             (23,183)            
Interest earnings 8,000               8,000               4,369               (3,631)              

Total Revenues 610,836           660,836           680,026           19,190             

EXPENDITURES
Administration 420,629 420,629 199,952 220,677           
Community development 195,280 245,280           158,791           86,489             
Municipal court 12,100 12,100             203,097           (190,997)          
Public facilities 59,900 59,900             39,548 20,352             
Parks 88,115 88,115             62,273 25,842             
Contigency 349,312 349,312           -                      349,312           

Total Expenditures 1,125,336        1,175,336        663,661           511,675           

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (514,500)          (514,500)          16,365             530,865           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out (112,000)          (112,000)          (112,000)          -                      

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (626,500)          (626,500)          (95,635)            530,865           

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 626,500           626,500           643,409           16,909             

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                    -$                    547,774$         547,774$         

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - STREET/STORM OPERATING FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Charges for services 17,280$           17,280$           18,574$           1,294$             
Intergovernmental 170,000           170,000           70,865             (99,135)            
Miscellaneous 100                  100                  651                  551                  
Interest earnings 2,500               2,500               1,519               (981)                 

Total Revenues 189,880           189,880           91,609             (98,271)            

EXPENDITURES
Street/Storm
  Personal services 31,899             31,899             27,490             4,409               
  Materials and services 74,000             74,000             61,304             12,696             
  Capital outlay 162,500           162,500           52,500             110,000           
Contingency 128,481           128,481           -                      128,481           

Total Expenditures 396,880           396,880           141,294           255,586           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (207,000)          (207,000)          (49,685)            157,315           

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 207,000           207,000           215,803           8,803               

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                    -$                    166,118$         166,118$         

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - CITY HALL BUILDING FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 4,000$              4,000$              4,242$              242$                 
Miscellaneous 100                   100                   -                        (100)                 
Interest earnings 300                   300                   3,048                2,748                

Total Revenues 4,400                4,400                7,290                2,890                

EXPENDITURES
Public Facilities
   Capital outlay 394,950            394,950            -                        394,950            

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (390,550)          (390,550)          7,290                397,840            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 105,000            105,000            105,000            -                        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (285,550)          (285,550)          112,290            397,840            

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 285,550            285,550            285,650            100                   

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                     -$                     397,940$         397,940$         

Budget Amounts
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287 of 329



CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - AURORA COLONY DAYS FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 2,825$             2,825$             -$                     (2,825)$            
Miscellaneous 8,175               8,175               -                       (8,175)              
Interest earnings 125                  125                  116                  (9)                     

Total Revenues 11,125             11,125             116                  (11,009)            

EXPENDITURES
Aurora Colony Days
   Personal services 3,443               3,443               2,805               638                  
   Materials and services 16,700             16,700             1,730               14,970             
Contingency 7,782               7,782               -                       7,782               

Total Expenditures 27,925             27,925             4,535               23,390             

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (16,800)            (16,800)            (4,419)              12,381             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
(USES)

Transfers in 7,000               7,000               7,000               -                       

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (9,800)              (9,800)              2,581               12,381             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 9,800               9,800               9,831               31                    

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                     -$                     12,412$           12,412$           

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - PARK SDC FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 22,050$           22,050$           11,025$           (11,025)$          
Interest earnings 800                  800                  545                  (255)                 

Total Revenues 22,850             22,850             11,570             (11,280)            

EXPENDITURES
Parks
   Capital outlay 84,832             84,832             -                       84,832             

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (61,982)            (61,982)            11,570             73,552             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 61,982             61,982             62,051             69                    

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                     -$                     73,621$           73,621$           

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - PARK RESERVE FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Interest earnings 13$                  13$                  10$                  (3)$                  

EXPENDITURES
Parks
   Capital outlay 1,249               1,249               -                      1,249               

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (1,236)             (1,236)             10                    1,246               

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 1,236               1,236               1,237               1                     

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                    -$                    1,247$             1,247$             

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - STREET/STORM SDC FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 37,700$           37,700$           11,760$           (25,940)$          
Interest earnings 1,300               1,300               705                  (595)                 

Total Revenues 39,000             39,000             12,465             (26,535)            

EXPENDITURES
Street/Storm
   Capital outlay 121,874           121,874           -                       121,874           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (82,874)            (82,874)            12,465             95,339             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 82,874             82,874             82,970             96                    

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                     -$                     95,435$           95,435$           

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - STREET/STORM RESERVE FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Charges for services 14,400$           14,400$           14,298$           (102)$               
Interest earnings 1,200               1,200               983                  (217)                 

Total Revenues 15,600             15,600             15,281             (319)                 

EXPENDITURES
Streets/Storm
   Capital outlay 135,945           135,945           -                      135,945           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (120,345)          (120,345)          15,281             135,626           

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 120,345           120,345           120,402           57                    

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                    -$                    135,683$         135,683$         

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - WATER OPERATIONS FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Water Water Reserve Water SDC Total
REVENUES

Licenses and permits -$                     -$                     22,172$           22,172$           
Charges for services 372,177           -                       -                       372,177           
Miscellaneous 3,575               -                       -                       3,575               
Interest earnings 3,123               776                  1,447               5,346               

Total Revenues 378,875           776                  23,619             403,270           

EXPENDITURES
Personal services 112,878           -                       -                       112,878           
Materials and services 144,666           -                       -                       144,666           
Debt service

Principal 14,653             -                       -                       14,653             
Interest 6,239               -                       -                       6,239               

Capital outlay 55,357             72,286             154,700           282,343           

Total Expenditures 333,793           72,286             154,700           560,779           

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 45,082             (71,510)            (131,081)          (157,509)          

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 406,783           104,327           182,979           694,089           

FUND BALANCE, end of year 451,865$         32,817$           51,898$           536,580$         
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - WATER OPERATING FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Charges for services 382,000$         382,000$         372,177$         (9,823)$            
Miscellaneous 1,875               1,875               3,575               1,700               
Interest earnings 4,000               4,000               3,123               (877)                 

Total Revenues 387,875           387,875           378,875           (9,000)              

EXPENDITURES
Water Operating
   Personal services 137,029           137,029           112,878           24,151             
   Materials and services 187,475           187,475           144,666           42,809             
   Capital outlay 80,000             80,000             55,357             24,643             
Debt service

Principal 14,653             14,653             14,653             -                       
Interest 6,239               6,239               6,239               -                       

Contingency 163,979           163,979           -                       163,979           

Total Expenditures 589,375           589,375           333,793           255,582           

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (201,500)          (201,500)          45,082             246,582           

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 401,500           401,500           406,783           5,283               

FUND BALANCE, end of year 200,000$         200,000$         451,865$         251,865$         

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - WATER RESERVE FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Interest earnings 1,200$             1,200$             776$                (424)$               

EXPENDITURES
Water

   Capital outlay 105,500 105,500           72,286             33,214             

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (104,300)          (104,300)          (71,510)            32,790             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 104,300           104,300           104,327           27                    

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                     -$                     32,817$           32,817$           

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - WATER SDC FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 72,059$           72,059$           22,172$           (49,887)$          
Interest earnings 500                  500                  1,447               947                  

Total Revenues 72,559             72,559             23,619             (48,940)            

EXPENDITURES
Water

    Capital outlay 255,446           255,446           154,700           100,746           

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (182,887)          (182,887)          (131,081)          51,806             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 182,887           182,887           182,979           92                    

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                     -$                     51,898$           51,898$           

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - SEWER OPERATIONS FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

General
Obligation

Sewer Sewer Reserve Sewer SDC Wastewater Bond Total
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments -$                     -$                     -$                     363,189$             363,189$         
Licenses and permits -                       -                       8,128               -                           8,128               
Charges for services 376,470           -                       -                       -                           376,470           
Miscellaneous 1,741               -                       -                       -                           1,741               
Interest earnings 3,760               267                  568                  1,362                   5,957               

Total Revenues 381,971           267                  8,696               364,551               755,485           

EXPENDITURES
Personal services 125,936           -                       -                       -                           125,936           
Materials and services 178,247           -                       -                       -                           178,247           
Debt service

Principal -                       -                       -                       310,000               310,000           
Interest -                       -                       -                       57,375                 57,375             

Capital outlay 5,220               -                       -                       -                           5,220               

Total Expenditures 309,403           -                       -                       367,375               676,778           

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 72,568             267                  8,696               (2,824)                  78,707             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 467,353           34,478             67,885             19,368                 589,084           

FUND BALANCE, end of year 539,921$         34,745$           76,581$           16,544$               667,791$         
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - SEWER OPERATING FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Charges for services 361,000$          361,000$          376,470$          15,470$            
Miscellaneous 250                   250                   1,741                1,491                
Interest earnings 3,000                3,000                3,760                760                   

Total Revenues 364,250            364,250            381,971            17,721              

EXPENDITURES
Sewer Operations

    Personal services 152,237            152,237            125,936            26,301              
    Materials and services 205,750            205,750            178,247            27,503              
    Capital outlay 240,000            240,000            5,220                234,780            
Contingency 229,263            229,263            -                        229,263            

Total Expenditures 827,250            827,250            309,403            517,847            

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (463,000)           (463,000)           72,568              535,568            

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 463,000            463,000            467,353            4,353                

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                      -$                      539,921$          539,921$          

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - SEWER RESERVE FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Interest earnings 350$                350$                267$                (83)$                 

EXPENDITURES
Sewer

   Capital outlay 34,802             34,802             -                      34,802             

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (34,452)            (34,452)            267                  34,719             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 34,452             34,452             34,478             26                    

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                    -$                    34,745$           34,745$           

Budget Amounts

- 43 -

299 of 329



CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - SEWER SDC FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 26,416$           26,416$           8,128$             (18,288)$         
Interest earnings 1,100               1,100               568                  (532)                

Total Revenues 27,516             27,516             8,696               (18,820)           

EXPENDITURES
Sewer

   Capital outlay 95,506             95,506             -                      95,506             

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (67,990)           (67,990)           8,696               76,686             

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 67,990             67,990             67,885             (105)                

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                    -$                    76,581$           76,581$           

Budget Amounts
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CITY OF AURORA, OREGON
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
(BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - G.O. WASTE WATER BOND FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments 355,375$          355,375$          363,189$          7,814$              
Interest earnings 2,000                2,000                1,362                (638)                 

Total Revenues 357,375            357,375            364,551            7,176                

EXPENDITURES
Debt service

Principal 310,000            310,000            310,000            -                       
Interest 57,375              57,375              57,375              -                       

Total Expenditures 367,375            367,375            367,375            -                       

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (10,000)            (10,000)            (2,824)              7,176                

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 20,000              20,000              19,368              (632)                 

FUND BALANCE, end of year 10,000$            10,000$            16,544$            6,544$              

Budget Amounts

- 45 -

301 of 329



 

COMPLIANCE SECTION 
 

302 of 329



- 46 - 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
REQUIRED BY OREGON STATE REGULATIONS 

 
 
 

City of Aurora 
21420 Main Street NE 
Aurora, Oregon 97002 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
basic financial statements of the City of Aurora, Oregon as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and have 
issued our report thereon dated November 20, 2021.  
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules 162-10-
000 through 162-10-320 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, noncompliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statements amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion.   
 
We performed procedures to the extent we considered necessary to address the required comments and disclosures 
which included, but were not limited to the following: 
 
 Deposit of public funds with financial institutions (ORS Chapter 295). 
 Indebtedness limitations, restrictions and repayment. 
 Budgets legally required (ORS Chapter 294). 
 Insurance and fidelity bonds in force or required by law. 
 Programs funded from outside sources. 
 Highway revenues used for public highways, roads, and streets. 
 Authorized investment of surplus funds (ORS Chapter 294). 
 Public contracts and purchasing (ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, 279C). 
 Accountability for collecting or receiving money by elected officials - no money was collected or 

received by elected officials. 
 
In connection with our testing nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe the City was not in substantial 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, including the provisions of Oregon 
Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules 162-10-000 through 162-10-320 of the Minimum 
Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations.  
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Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control over 
financial reporting to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City's internal control.  
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of the City of 
Aurora, Oregon and the Oregon Secretary of State and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other 
than these parties. 
 
 
   GROVE, MUELLER & SWANK, P.C. 
   CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 
 
 
   By:   
    Devan W. Esch, A Shareholder 
    November 10, 2021 
 
 

304 of 329



305 of 329



General Line Item Cost (2022)

306 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

307 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

308 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

309 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

310 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

311 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

312 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

313 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

314 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

315 of 329



Item Cost (2022)

316 of 329



General Line Item Cost (2022)
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Report from the Finance Officer 
for December 12, 2023 

 
 

• The Finance report as of November 2023, the fifth month of fiscal year 2023-2024 is 
included.  I have also included the Revenue vs Expenses Summary for November 2023.  This 
report shows amounts received and spent in each fund during the month.   
 

• The ending bank balances on November 30, 2023 are: 
o Checking  -  $     104,251.60 
o LGIP - $  4,643,693.10 

 
• I continue to monitor and report as required on the following grant projects – 

 
 Well #3 Replacement – CSFRF Grant Agreement # 8009  
 Water Storage Tank / Pump Station – Contract # SR2227  
 ODOT Pedestrian Crossings – Contract # 7300000004941  
 Wastewater Treatment Facility – Contract # SR2301  
 Water Lines – Grant Agreement # BO-4566-22 with Marion County  
 House Bill 5202 (2022 Regular Session) General Fund Grant Agreement Number 107-

2022-5202-65, Subrecipient Agreement with the Aurora Rural Fire Protection District 
No. 63  

 
• Keeping current with payables and receivables. 

 

   

 

Respectfully, 

 

  Mary C. Lambert 

321 of 329



Year to Date
Gains / (Losses)

10 GENERAL 1,230,586.00 601,600.80 389,333.03 61.90% 933,395.00 247,177.76 26.48% 743,756.07  $       142,155.27 

15 CITY HALL BUILDING 162,900.00 153,948.00 3,208.84 35.84% 162,900.00 4,658.15 2.86% 152,498.69  $         (1,449.31)

20 AURORA COLONY DAYS 35,070.00 24,591.08 11,614.35 110.84% 28,467.00 19,664.05 69.08% 16,541.38  $         (8,049.70)

29 PARK SDCs 91,705.00 80,720.59 1,556.74 14.17% 91,705.00 0.00 0.00% 82,277.33  $           1,556.74 

30 STREET/STORM 1,401,146.00 732,789.29 56,193.25 8.41% 1,234,320.00 115,321.57 9.34% 673,660.97  $       (59,128.32)

35 ST/STORM RESERVE 187,060.00 169,784.10 8,179.41 47.35% 187,060.00 0.00 0.00% 177,963.51  $           8,179.41 

39 ST/STORM SDCs 121,111.00 107,558.42 2,074.29 15.31% 121,111.00 0.00 0.00% 109,632.71  $           2,074.29 

40 WATER OPERATING 1,042,100.00 658,843.77 207,040.61 54.02% 915,830.00 117,565.63 12.84% 748,318.75  $         89,474.98 

45 WATER RESERVE 1,725,000.00 700,890.42 13,359.38 1.30% 1,725,000.00 10,836.50 0.63% 703,413.30  $           2,522.88 

46 WATER GRANT SR2227 2,863,431.00 7,752.50 3,291.00 0.12% 2,863,431.00 18,606.20 0.65% -7,562.70  $       (15,315.20)

49 WATER SDCs 94,210.00 70,811.14 1,365.63 5.84% 94,210.00 0.00 0.00% 72,176.77  $           1,365.63 

50 SEWER OPERATING 1,097,200.00 664,697.66 197,106.48 45.57% 822,091.00 241,616.04 29.39% 620,188.10  $       (44,509.56)

55 SEWER RESERVE 3,187,400.00 85,879.96 103,584.78 3.34% 3,187,400.00 0.00 0.00% 189,464.74  $       103,584.78 

56 WWTF GRANT SR2301 3,662,000.00 10,560.00 2,270.00 0.06% 3,662,000.00 13,430.00 0.37% -600.00  $       (11,160.00)

57 G. O. DEBT SERVICE 287,375.00 27,921.03 201,602.80 77.70% 287,375.00 6,187.50 2.15% 223,336.33  $       195,415.30 

59 SEWER SDCs 95,335.00 85,532.33 1,649.52 16.83% 95,335.00 0.00 0.00% 87,181.85  $           1,649.52 

60 SPECIAL PROJECTS BOND 7,151,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 2,000,000.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00  $                      -   

TOTALS 24,434,629.00 4,183,881.09 1,203,430.11 5.94% 18,411,630.00 795,063.40 4.32% 4,592,247.80

* Balance per 2023 audit 4,592,247.80  $       408,366.71 Per 13 2023 adjustments reversed

% TO DATE
END BALANCE    

November 30, 2023

Contingencies = 6,022,999

CITY OF AURORA -FINANCE REPORT Ending November 30, 2023

FUND BUDGET
 *BALANCE @          
June 30, 2023

TOTAL 
REVENUES %  TO DATE

BUDGET less  
contingency

TOTAL 
EXPENSES
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General Ledger

Revenue vs Expenses Summary

User:

Printed:

MaryL

12/5/2023 - 12:42 PM

Fiscal Year:

Fiscal Period:

2024

5

DescriptionFund YTD Balance Before Period Revenues for Period Expenses for Period Year to Date Amount

10  142,155.27 52,001.21 307,809.02-113,652.54GENERAL FUND

15 -1,449.31 0.00 620.94-2,070.25CITY HALL BUILDING FUND

20 -8,049.70 256.47 64.10-7,857.33Aurora Colony Days Fund

29  1,556.74 0.00 318.83 1,237.91Park SDCs

30 -59,128.32 26,190.24 9,563.32-42,501.40STREETS/STORM FUND

35  8,179.41 0.00 691.20 7,488.21Streets/Storm Reserves

39  2,074.29 0.00 424.83 1,649.46Streets/Storm SDCs

40  89,474.98 24,199.16 4,031.83 109,642.31Water

45  2,522.88 0.00 2,725.77-202.89WATER RESERVE FUND

46 -15,315.20 0.00 0.00-15,315.20Water Storage Grant Project

49  1,365.63 0.00 279.69 1,085.94Water SDCs

50 -44,509.56 42,913.40 2,403.77-3,999.93Sewer

55  103,584.78 0.00 734.19 102,850.59SEWER RESERVE FUND

56 -11,160.00 12,700.00 0.00 1,540.00WWTF Grant Project

57  195,415.30 6,187.50 196,289.14 5,313.66SEWER DEBT SERVICE

59  1,649.52 0.00 337.83 1,311.69SEWER SDC FUND

60  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00Special Projects - Bond

Report Totals:  46,520.23  526,294.46  164,447.98  408,366.71

GL-Revenue vs Expenses Summary (12/5/2023 - 12:42 PM) Page 1
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City Council 
Public Works Activity Report

Nov 2023 

Wastewater: Routine operation and maintenance 24/7 365.  
-Wastewater Treated 1.8 MG
-Review plans for development
-Completed DMR form to report DEQ, EPA

Water: Routine operation and maintenance 24/7 365.  
-Wells are running 8.0 hours daily producing an average of 73,000 gal per day.
- Total water production 2,200,000 Gal.
- Wells 4 in production

Streets: Routine operation and maintenance. 
-Monitoring streetlights
-Catch basins cleaning
-Street sweeping
- Pothole remediation.
-Working with ODOT Hwy 99 Crossings
-ADA ramps on Hwy 99
-SCA grant Application submitted

Park: 
-Monitor trees for safety issues
-Pressure wash hard surfaces
-Rodent removal
-Tree planting in park

Meetings and/or Training Attended 
-NW Section of American Water Works Association
-Meeting to discuss Well 3 replacement options
-Respectfully: Mark Gunter PWS

Public works project list  
New Water storage tank 
Replace well #3  
Wastewater treatment Plant 
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Nov-21 2.4 Monthly Water use In Million Gallons 
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City of Aurora – City Attorney’s Report to City Council for December 12, 2023 

1. Verizon cell tower matter: Ongoing negotiations, document review, waiting final
appraisal. Once the appraisal comes in then Steel in the Air will meet with council in
executive session to discuss the city’s options.
Note: T-Mobile also has an installation on the tower.

Verizon submitted a new offer. See attached document “144452 - VZW R - Term 
Sheet 2023.” The due date listed for December 4, 2023, has been waived. 

2. Assisted staff with code enforcement matters.
3. Assisted staff with code interpretation and potential code updates.
4. Finalized EOA contract

326 of 329



November 20, 2023 

ATTN:  David Robinson 
21420 Main Street NE 
Aurora, OR 97002 

Site Name: 273765    Site ID: 144452 

Dear Landlord, 

 I am following up with you regarding our recent telephone conversation setting forth Verizon 
Wireless’s Lease Optimization Program. As discussed during our conversation, Verizon Wireless is 
interested in making certain modifications to the cell site lease regarding the Verizon Wireless 
communications facility on your property.  These lease modifications will allow the cell site on your property 
to better meet Verizon Wireless’s current operational needs and enhance its long-term value to the overall 
network. 

Criteria for Cell Site Retention 

 As we discussed, Verizon Wireless would like to include this site in its long-term portfolio under the 
following terms: 

● New Rent Amount:  $1,230.00 per month, commencing on (August 1, 2025)
● New Rent Escalator:  Twelve Percent (12%) every 5 years (next increase on August 1,

2030)
● Additional Renewal Terms:  Four (4) additional five (5) year renewal terms

The foregoing proposal does not constitute a binding offer to amend the lease.  No legal obligation 
is created by this letter or any other written or oral communications until a written amendment to the lease 
has been signed by both Landlord and Verizon Wireless.  Verizon Wireless will continue to abide by the 
terms of the current lease until an amendment has been executed or the existing lease has been terminated 
or expires. Verizon Wireless values its affiliation with you and hopes that you choose to secure your site(s) 
to continue a long and mutually profitable relationship in the years to come.  After having reviewed this 
proposal, please contact me prior to December 4th, 2023. 

Sincerely, 

Whitney Hamilton 
Lease Consultant 
Lease Optimization - CENREV 

O 469.421.9257 

180 Washington Valley Road, Bedminster, NJ 07921 
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December 2023 City Recorder Report 

Here are some highlights from the previous month: 

-Resolution of a code enforcement matter involving a property operating without a
business license and in breach of Aurora Municipal Code.

-Prepared for and helped facilitate a quarterly Safety Meeting along with a staff
potluck to celebrate the (almost) wrap of another year!

-Assisted Public Works with preparing a public notice to solicit bids for demolition
and asbestos mitigation of structures on the property (21440 Main Street) next to
Aurora City Hall.

-Filled out a 2023 NIMS compliance survey relative to remaining in good standing
and ability to secure funding in the event of an emergency and request for federal
funding.

-Chipping away at code amendments with the addition of removing barbed wire
out of the gateway district while keeping the allowance in industrially zoned areas.

-Signed up for Citycounty Insurance Services’ Annual Conference February 28 –
March 1, 2024.

-Plans to attend a monthly December administrator’s lunch at the Mid-Willamette
Valley Council of Governments with city administrators and managers.

-Looking forward to the best Christmas season yet this year!

Respectfully submitted, 

Stuart A. Rodgers 
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Type Num Date Name Account Amount

Deposit 11/02/2023 Business License ... 150.00

Payment 8702 11/02/2023 PACIFIC EXTERIO... Undeposited Funds -50.00
Payment 319930 11/02/2023 COCHRAN, INC. Undeposited Funds -100.00

TOTAL -150.00

9:41 AM  Aurora Business License
12/04/23 Deposit Detail

November 1 through December 1, 2023

Page 1
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